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INTRODUCTION.

I. PLAN AND SCOPE OF THE WORK.

A sworT spell of residence in Bombay (starting in 1903) was enough
to bring out the urgent need of a standard history of the Church in India.
There exists a corsiderable amount of literature on the subject scattered
about, consisting of histories of particular missions, some well docu-
mented, some mere sketches ; also a bulk of writings on the Padroado vs.
Propaganda conflict, mostly of a partizan charucter on either side;
and finally a number of biographies, and summary surveys of periods
or partial aspects. It soon became obvious that no general history of
the Church in India, of a standard character, was possible until the parti-
cular histories of all the different parts had been written—and  written
solidly and well.

As example was betlter than preoopt, the idea suggested itself of
setting to work on the mission to which I belonged ; not as a master of
the bub]ect bus as a learner in the very process of writing it. 1t was to
be a pioneer work, to consist of eathering together in sequence all the
easdily accessible material that came in my way, as a starting point for
something better later on. The plunge was made in a series of 13
articles published in THr Exavuxer between 1908 and 1910 5 followed by
another series of 15 articles containing the particular history of single
places and institutions, published hetween 1910 and 1915, Subsequent
study and observation soon brought further material to light ; and
the task (undertaken in 1920) of pulling to picees the Diocesan Archives
of Bombay and Poona and rearrangire them, made it possible to go over
the whole”ground again in a more thorough manner- of which the
present history is the outcome.

The original plan was of a domestic nature to deal with the
Vicariate of Bombay from its beginnings to the present day. But it
became at once apparent that a very large portion of the history involved
a detailed study of the conflict between Padroado and Propaganda;
and this not as a mere local question, but one which extended over the
whole of India, and even the entire East.  As a consequence the present
history has a twofold aspect, the one local and particular, the other
universal. 1In choosing the title of the book 1 hesitated a long time
whether to call it a study of the Padroado question with special relation
to Bombay”, or “Bombay Mission Iistory with a special study of the
Padroado question”--the latter alternative prevailing in the end.

The commonly accessible literature on the Padroado question
divides into two parts. One takes an exclusively Padroado  standpoint,
the other an exclusively Propaganda standpoint. The thing wanted was
a synthesis which would combine them both ; presenting the principles
and outlook of the two contending partics in their own terms and accord-
ing to their own mind, and letting them speak for themselves ; — or at
most adding such interpretations as the documents require and Ju.stlfy.
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In passing judgment on the case an exact distinction has to be
drawn between the concrete and the abstract. By the concrete I mean
the local situation in which the two parties are the living agents ; and here,
(besides the material facts) the standpoint, the assumptions, the principles
taken for granted, and the subjective or psychological element have
to be taken into account. By the abstract [ mean the fundamental
principles of theology and canon law which govern the case. These lie
indeed within the competeney of the historian to state ; but the ultimate
and final judgment as to whether Rome or Portugal was vight, as regards
the various issues at stake, would rest with theological experts, and on
the authoritative decisions of the Holy See itself in case such decisions
should be made,

Dominated by this distinction, my endeavour has been to produce
all the relevant evidence on both sides that has come in my way, no
matter whether it tells in this direetion or that,—with a view of securing
first all the facts possible, and  secondly all the expressions of standpoint
on the part of the Holy See and Propaganda, and on the part of Portugal
and the Padroado Bishops and clergy, which contribute to an under-
standing of the situation and the relations between the two parties, A
particular weleome has been accorded to documents on the Padroado
gide, which have been furnished not only by a large bulk of pro-Padroado
pamphlet literature written in the past, but especially by the recently
published histories of Fr. Da, and a compilation by Mr. Godinlo, to
whom my indebtedness is duly acknowledged. Particnlar care has been
taken to dispose of a number of false ideas and allegations which had
become traditional, some derogatory to the Padroado and some deroga-
tory to the Propaganda side.

The result of this synthesis is in the first place to enable both sides
to take a much more svmpathetic view of the actions and motives of their
opponents in the conflict, and to make that conflict itself not indeed less
distressful, but at least less seandalous.  The second result is to clear
the atmosphere both of misunderstandings and irrelevances, and to place
the real points at issue in a elear and well defined light  which is the first
preliminary to forming a judgment such as would be worth forming.

The History consists of three parts: (1) General History, runniug
sequently from 153t down to the present day. (2) Particular history of
single places and institutions.  (3) Certain appendices and supplementary
studies.  The first volume, now issued from the press, covers the earlier
portion of the general history down to the year 1838. A sccond volume
will follow in due course as soon as its parts have passed through THE
ExaMINER.

Even in its present more matured formn I still regard it as a pioneer
work, as a starting-point for something better. For the subject can
never be worked to exhaustion-point until the following collections of
sources have been thoroughly searched : (1) The Propaganda archives
in Rome ; (2) The archives of Lishon, Goa and Damaun; (3) The English
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Government records in London and in India; (4) The annals of 11e various
religions orders working in these parts, particularly those of the
Carmelites, Capuchins and Jesuits,

Subsequent discoveries, improvements, revisions of details, ete., which
came in my way after the articles had passed through T KxasuNer, have
been incorporated in the present text. Any further data which accrue
in the future, will be added in the form of an appendix of notes at the
end of the completed work.

It is only fitting to acknowledge the valuable help given me by Fr,
Charles Ghezzi, 8.J., in translating or summarising Italian and Portuguese
documents.

1L ABOUT THE USE OF DOCUMENTS.

The documents used in this history have been available in various
forms ; sometimes the original Latin, Italian, Portuguese or French;
sometimes also an English translation ; sometimes only an Knglish trans-
lation, For convenicnce of the general reader they have always heen
reproduced in Fnglish. Sometimes an existing English text has heen
used as it stands, and sometimes checked orimproved where the English
was faulty. In making translations an idiomatic rather than a literal
rendering has been adopted.  The most solemn documents are generally
given in full ; but in most cases the essential passages have heen given in
full, and the rhetorical or preambulatory matter has been suumnnw(l
the idea being to convey the substantial meaning without enc mnbmnm"
(are has been taken to convey those points \\luch as it were “make a
difference” to the history ; and nothing has been conse mmly omitte:!
which would make a dillerence, whether against or in favour of either
party in conflict. The object of this note is to caution the reader that
in case any fine controversial point would depend on the cxact wording
of a document, the wording should be checked by reference to the
original before an argument is built upon it.

UL GEOGRAPHICAL NOTES,

A great believer in charts and diagrams to clarify almost everything
under the sun, 1 have provided the reader with a sct of seven small
maps illustrative of the period covered by the first volume (1531-1838).
They are printed together at the beginning, with some explanatory notes
attached to each. As an additional aid to geographical realisation, I
add some comparative figures ol sizes and distances :—

I ESTIMATE OF AREAS,
The present diocesan divisions cover roughly the following areas 1=

(Goa Archdiocese .. 270 X 42 == 11,310 square miles.
Damaun Diocese .. 280 X 42 - 11,760 square miles.
Bombay Island oo 10 X0 2% == 25 square ruiles,
Bombay Archdiocese . 800 X 200 = 160,000 square miles.
Poona Diocese .. 510 X 10 = 59,400 square miles,

2,42,500
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1. COMPARISONS WITH EUROPE.

(loa Archdiocese is about the size of Belgium (11,400).

Damaun Diocese is about the same size.

Bombay Archdiocese is larger than the whole of Kngland, Scotland
and Treland (121,000); Jarger than all Ttaly and Switzerland (130,000),
and more than three-quarters the size of Spain (200,000) or France (206,000).

Pouna Diocese is about as Jarge as the whole of England and Wales
(58,000) and hall the size of [taly (111,000).

L. DINTANCES OF TRAVEL.

Padroado Centres : Bombay to Goa 250 miles by sea ; Bombay to
Damaun 100 miles by train; Bombay to Diu 175 miles by sea.

Bowbay Archdioccse ;- Bombay (o Broach 200 miles ; to Ahmedabad
310 miles ; to Karachi by sea 600 miles and by train 800 miles. Karachi
to Quetta 500 miles.  Bombay to Quetta 1,100 miles by sea and train,
1,300 miles by train only.

A complete visitation ol the Aichdiocese, there and back, involves
a journey of 2,000 miles- -something like the distance across the United
States from New York to Sun Francisco ; or that across Europe [from
Gibraltar to the borders ol Siberia.

Poona Diocese :—Poona to Bombay 120 miles ; to Bhusawal 250 miles ;
to Sholapur 175 miles : to Gadag 300 miles.

A complete visitation of Poona Diocese by a eireular route involves a
journey of 900 miles.

Before the railways were opened (between 1853 and 1836) these
journeys had to be peiformed by tonga, bullock-cart, horse or camel.
Now there is casy aceess by railway everywhere.  Four places require
in addition a conveyance of 5, 7. 8 and 10 miles respectively. (ne place
is 18 miles from a railway, and one is 32 miles away. Motor services
have recently rendered aceess to these places easy.

1IV. PRESENT POPULATIONS.
Diocese Total Catholic
Population. Population.
Goa Archdiocese .. .. 2,322,422 326,690
Damaun Diocese . 94,333
]Eombay Archdiocese & 27,600,000 ‘3‘1,.12.4
Poona Diocese 24,233
Grand Total.. 29,922,422 479,380
Details of Goa Archdiocese (included above) :-—

Portuguese Territory .. 501,933 289,803
British Territory. . .. 1,820,489 36,887
Grand Total. . 2,322,422 326,690

The two Jurisdictions :-—

Padroado  =Goa and Damaun 421,023
Propaganda =Bombay and Poona .. 58,357

Total .. 479,380
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MAP No. L.
THE FOUR MODERN DIOCESES.

THIS is an introductory map of all India showing the general lie of
the different districts. The coloured portions represent the Bombay
Presidency with Sind and Baluchistan, divided into four Dioceses by the
establishment of the Hierarchy in 1886. These Dioceses are :—

(1) The Padroado Archdiocese of Goa (yellow) comprising Goa terri-
tory, and also North Canara, part of Belgaum and the South Konkan
Coast, all in British territory.

(2) The Padroado Diocese of Damaun (yellow) comprising the Por-
tuguese territories of Damaun and Diu, parts of Gujerat and the North
Konkan Coast, as well as personal jurisdiction in Bombay Island.

(3) The Propaganda Archdiocese of Bombay comprising Bombay
Island, and then (after an interval of 200 miles) Gujerat, Kathiawar,
Sind and British Baluchistan.

(4) The Propaganda Diocese of Poona comprising the remainder of
the Presidency, viz., the Deccan plateau inland.

These two Propaganda Dioceses represent the survival of the Old
Vicariate of the Great Mogul, while the two Padroado Dloceses represent
the survival of the ancient Archdiocese of Goa.

The rest of the map shows roughly the geographical divisions of the
country, rather than the ecclesiastical divisions.
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MAP No. II.
TIIE GREATEST EXTENSION OF THE VICARIATE.

THIS map i3 to be compared with the previous one. It shows (collec-
tively) all the arcas and places which were ever comprised within the
Vicariate—and therefore the widest extension of our history. But it
never had the whole extension at once. At ditferent times portions were
added and at different times portions were cut off. The portion coloured
pink shows Bombay Presidency with Sind and Baluchistan. The fol-
lowing table shows the growths and “curtailments. Places in italics
remained to the modern mission in 1886.

Growths, Curtailments,.

1639 Kingdom of Btjupur and the Assigned to Poona Diocese 1856.
Deccan . .

1640 Surat (L'apu(hnm) . .. Capuchins left in 1818,

1670  Kingdom of Golkonda (\mun 8 | Transferred to Madras 1832, and
Dominions)=Hyderabad .. j' became a Vicariate in 1845

1696 Empire of the Great I\[ugul . | Hindustan portion transferred to
(dotted line) .. . .. § Tatna 1784.

) . 1 Transferred to Mangalore 1845
1707 XKarwar in N. Canara *§ " and to Goa in 188?)

1720 Bombay Island (taken over by | Jurisdiction divided 1794. Made

the Carmelites) .. .. § centre of Archdiocese in 1886.
1759 Swrat (Carmelites) .. .. Abandoned to Damaun 1922,
1780  Coorg near Mysore .. .. Transferred to Mysore 1853,

1800 Broach, Baroda and  Gujerat l A
) hia. LAssigned to Bombay Archdiocese
A':(')fl,:mmh anlwluzg Rathia 1886 with Sind and Baluchistan.

1818  Ratnagiri and Malv\ an . .. Only for a short time.

1839 Salsette Island .. .- .. Jurisdiction nominally given.

1843 Sind _ | Assigned to Bombay Archdiocese
§ 1n 1886.

1853  Five churches in Salselle .. Assigned to Archdiocese 1886.

1853 Malwa (Mhow, etc.) .. .. Transferred to Agra 1858.
1854 Salsette and Bassein (Asmgned ] Assigned to Damaun 1886 except
to Vicariate of Poona) . .. § five churches.

| Assigned to Bombay Archdiocese

QR ), S
1885 British Baluchistan .e "* § in'1886.
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MAP No. III.
NORTHERN PORTUGUESE POSSESSIONS.

AFTER the general survey provided by Maps I and II we come to the
origins of our history as given in Part I (pages 1—34). This Map shows the
territories which were possessed by the Portuguese in early times. Chaul
was taken in 1526. Bassein, Salsette, Bombay and Karanja (by treaty)
in 1534. Diu in Kathiawar, 1534. Damaun and environs finally in 1559.
The coloured portion shows these areas in full, within which the Portuguese
Mission activity was so exercised as to dBver the area with a considerable
body of Christians, which flourish at the present day.

Gradually all these Portuguese territories were lost except two small
areas. In 1665 Bombay Island was ceded to the English as a Marriage
Dowry to Charles II. 1n 1739-40 Bassein, Salsette, Karanja, Chaul were
taken by the Marathas. 1n 1774-1800 all these places were in turn taken
from the Marathas by the British Power. To Portugal there remained
(since 1739) only the two small strongholds of Damaun and Diu.

Under the English the Portuguese or Goa clergy were allowed to re-
main in Bombay till 1720, when their places were taken by the Vicar-
Apostolic of the Great Mogul. The Goa clergy were however allowed to
remain in pacific possession of all the other districts formerly Portuguese
(Salsette, Bassein, Tarapur, etc.) In a few places the Vicar-Apostolic
secured jurisdiction at various times, and this jurisdiction still survives
in five places of Salsette (see next Map).
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MAP No. IV.
BASSEIN, SALSETTE AND BOMBAY.

TH1s Map gives a detail of the foregoing, viz., the immediate environ-
ment of Bombay island. Bassein had 6 churches in the Fort and 11
churches in the environs. Salsette had about 27 churches. Bombay
had 4 churches and 2 chapels. Karanja had about 4 churches. Chaul
about 10. These were built for the most part between the years 1534
and 1650 ; and a few others between 1650 and 1700. Their founders
were mainly the four great missionary orders—Franciscans, Jesuits, Domi-
nicans and Augustinians, and afterwards the Hospitallers of S. John of
God.

After the Maratha conquest (1739) some of the churches were destroyed
and others dilapidated and fell into ruin. When the districts came under
British rule (1780-1800) there was a revival and many of the old churches
were repaired, or smaller ones built out of the debris. In modern times
further renovations took place, and new churches were gradually added.
[Details of the churches old and new will be found in Chapter I of the
History].

The Vicar-Apostolic obtained in 1839 the authority to extend his
jurisdiction over Salsette ; but he never secured any general control in
that Island. Between 1852 and 1860 five country congregations in Salsette
transferred themselves to his jurisdiction and so remain to this day. But
for the rest, the Goa clergy always remained in unbroken possession from
first to last. In 1886 the whole territory shown on the Map (except
Bombay Island) was assigned to the Padroado Diocese of Damaun.
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MAP: No. V.
BOMBAY ISLAND.

Ta1s map shows a detail of Bombay Island. It originally consisted
of seven islands separated by creeks. But in Portuguese times these
were mostly closed up, and there remained only a lagoon of marshy land in
the middle, partly used for rice fields, but partly flooded by the sea. By
about 1800 this lagoon had been reclaimed by the building of causeways,
and in course of time was filled in and built upon.

The map restricts itself to the earlier péiod of the history. It shows
the four great churches (St. Michael's, Salvagao, Gloria and Esperanga)
and the two smaller churches (Parel and Sion) which were built by the
Portuguese before the English came in 1665. Some later foundations
are added, e.g., Rosary Church, Mazagon (1794), Cavel Chapel (1794)
and the Colaba Hospice (1823).

From 1634 to 1720 the Portuguese Franciscans and secular clergy were
in possession. In 1720 the Franciscans were expelled and the Vicar-
Apostolic with his Carmelites took their place. In 1789 the whole island
reverted to the Goa jurisdiction, but this act was reversed in 1791 and the
Carmelites were wholly restored. Finally, with a view of suiting hoth
parties, the churches were divided between the Goa clergv and the Car-
melites, and by this means the famous “Double Jurisdiction” was intro-
duced in 1794. Various conflicts arose between the two jurisdictions ; and
churches passed from one to the other till 1862, when the status ¢quo was
established. Finally by the Concordat settlement of 1886 each party was
confirmed in possession of what it actually had got. The Island itself was
territorially consigned to the (Propaganda) Archbishop of Bombay ; but the
(Padroado) Bishop of Damaun retained the churches then in possession
of Padroado, and personal jurisdiction over the congregations attached to
them, as well as over subjects of Goan and Portuguese origin conyng into
the island.
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MAP No. VI.
THE ANCIENT PADROADO DIOCESES.

Tuis map and the following one cover the field of all India, in order
to illustrate what happened between 1832 and 1845.

This map shows how in ancient times India was divided up into
Dioceses under the Patronage of the King of Portugal.

In 1534 the See of Goa was established comprising vaguely all terri-
tory discovered or to be discovered by the Portuguese from the Cape of
Good Hope to India, and from India to China.

Between 1557 and 1606 the Suffragan Sees of Cranganore, (yellow),
Cochin (red) and Mylapore (yellow) were divided off, and the rest of India
remained vaguely to the Archdiocese of Goa.

Between 1637 and 1696 the kingdoms of Bijapur, Golkonda and the
Great Mogul were assigned to a Viear-Apostolic under Propaganda and
independent of Goa ; and thereby the lioly See intended to curtail the
jurisdiction of Goa over these districts. But as no bull of ecurtailment.
was issued, the Archbishop of Goa continued to claim jurisdiction over
the whole area, and actually exercised it by establishing churches in
many places, from which fact many conflicts of jurisdiction arose. In 1669
again the Holy See established a Vicariate Apostolic in Malabar, which
gave 1ise to similar conflicts in the Dioceses of Cranganore and Cochin.

In 1722 or so a Vicariate was also established at Patna which later on
took charge of Hindustan ; but as the Portuguese had not permanently
established themselves in these remote yarts, no conilict followed.
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MAP No. VII.
THE OLD AND NEW VICARIATES,

Tris map shows how between 1832 and 1845 the Holy See added five
new Vicariates-Apostolic covering the whole of India with the exception
of Portuguese territory.

The ancient ones already existing were :——

(1) The Capuchin Mission of Patna (1722) extended in 1784 to Hin-
dustan, and in 1820 divided into Agra and Patna (green).

(2) The Carmelite Mission of Bijapr, Golkonda and the Deccan
(which now became the Vicariate-Apostolic of Bombay) extending over
the Bombay Presidency (red).

(3) The Carmelite Mission of Malabar which covered the Native
States of Cochin and Travancore, and lay within the old Padroado Sees
of Cochin and Cranganore (red).

The new ones were :---

(1) The Vicariate of Madras founded in 1832, to which was added
Gulkonda and Hyderabad, by separation from Bombay (yellow).

(2) The Vicariate of Calcutta and Bengal founded in 1835, leaving
ot Behar which belonged to the Mission of Patna.

(3) The Vicariate of Coromandel which comprised Pondicherry, the
Ctrnatic and Madura (Madura under the Jesuits became a separate
Vicariate in 1846).

(4) The Vicariate of Ceylon founded in 1836.

(5) The Vicariate of Canara (Mangalore) founded between 1839 and
1845.

When these Vicariates had been established, and superimposed on the
Padroado dioceses of Cranganore, Cochin and Mylapore, the Holy See
issued the Multa Praeclare of 1838, which withdrew all jurisdiction from
those three Padroado Sees and conferred it on the neighbouring Vicars-
Apostolic. The Multa Praeclare was completely rejected by the Pad-
roado authorities and clergy. Hence arose a period of what the Propaganda
party called the Goa or Indo-Portuguese Schism (1838-1861) a term which
the Padroado party absolutely repudiated. The difference was composed
by the Concordat of 1857, which in this respect was put into execution in
1862. The status quo under that Concordat lasted till 1886.
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PART 1.
PORTUGUESE MISSION REGIME (1534-1720)
CHAPTER 1.
DIU, DAMAUN AND BASSEIN.

TaE Portuguese first reached the west coast of India in 1498. For
twelve years they engaged in waglike as well as diplomatic attempts to
secure a footing at Calicut, Cochin, Cannanore, etc., but, with only partial
success, till they finally established themselves at Goa in 1510. From
this place as a centre they gradually acquired factories and built forts
along the coast—at Cochin, Calicut, Cannanore, Tellicherry, ete., to the
south, and at Dabul and Chaul to the north (15610—1524). In 1532 they
captured Bassein, 30 miles north of Bombay ; and in 1534 (the starting
point of our history) they secured by treaty with the Bahadur of Gujerat
the territories of Bassein, Salsette, Bombay and Karanja. By adding the
two out-posts (further north) of Damaun and Diu (1534—1559) they com-
pleted the list of acquisitions on the west coast in which we are interested.

As the missionaries everywhere accompanied or followed the con-
querors, these dates give us practically the starting point of missionary
enterprise in each spot. The missionaries were in the first instance Euro-
peans belonging to the following religious orders :—

(1) The Franciscans, who first arrived in India in 1500, founded a
convent at Goa in 1517, and from 1534 were the first to establish churches
in Bassein, Salsctte, Bombay, Karanja and Chaul.

(2) The Jesuits, who first arrived in 1542, were the seccond great
organisers of missionary enterprise on the western coast from Chaul to
Damaun, cgvering more or less the same field as the Franciscans.

(3) The Dominicans arc said to have arrived in India as early as
the year 1503 ; but they did not found a convent till 15648. They worked
in Goa itself and in Ceylon, and later on followed the other orders into
the districts of the western coast—Bassein, Thana, Karanja, Chaul, etc.

(4) The Augustinians, who came to India in 1572, and gradually
settled side by side with the other orders in the various districts as
enumerated above.

The Carmelites did not arrive in India until about 1607, They settled
in Surat in 1699, whence they came into connéction with Bombay in 1720.
The Theatines, Hospitalers of St. John, Capuchins, and Oratorians also
belong to a later period. The pionecr work on the north-western coast was
therefore divided amongst the Franciscans, Jesuits, Dominicans and
Augustinians ; so our present task will for the most part consist in enumerat-
ing the places in which they worked, and the dates of their various founda-
tions. This will most conveniently be carried out by commencing from
the north, and working down till at last we concentrate on Bombay.
In carrying out this work we cannot help looking at the past through the
eyes of the present, viz., by taking into account the state of these districts
as they are now, partly as a survival, partly a revival of the past.

s
art o
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DIU AND DAMAUN,

(1) Piuis a small island standing off the southern point of Kathia-
war, 150 miles north-west of Bombay. It was taken possession of by the
Portuguese in about 1535. At present it contains about 220 Catholics in
two parishes. The [irst is that of N. S. da Conceigao, with the chapels of
St. Anne and of St. Francis of Assisi ; the other is that of St. Andrew with
its sub-chapel of N. 8. dos Remedios. Qur Lady of the Conception was
originally founded in 1601, and to it was attached a college of the Jesuits
built in the same year. The other church, that of St. Andrew, was
founded in about 1667, and N. S. dos Remedios about the same time.
The Dominican Convent of Mac de Deus, founded in 1571 seems to be
identified with the Church of St. Dominic now in ruins (Mullbauer, p.
335 ; Hunter Imp. Gaz. iv. 307). There was formerly a hospital worked
by the Order of St. John, founded in the 17th century (Cottineau).
also a Franciscan convent. afterwards used as a military hospital (llunter
ib). Mention is also made of a former church of St. Thomas ; as well
as a church of St. Joseph founded by the Carmelites in 1663 (Mullbauer,
p. 346). Diu still belongs to the Portuguese crown and is now under
the jurisdiction of the Bishop of Damaun.

(2) Damaun is another Portuguese dominion situated about 100
miles north of Bombay. It was first sacked by the Portuguese in 1531 and
finally sceured in 1559. It consists of a fortified town and a surrounding
arca of 148 square miles. The total Catholic population now numbers
about 2,000. 1t contains a church of the Holy Name of Jesus built in 1559
(erected into the Cathedral of the Damaun Diocese in 1887); a church
of N. 8. dos Remedios built in 1607, with three subordinate chapels of
various dates ; the church of N. 8. do Mar, built in 1701, and one subsidiary
chapel ; the church of N. 8. da Piedade built only in 1889, besides a dio-
cesan seminary occupying the old convent of the Augustinians. Turning
to more ancient times, however, Hunter says that the Portuguese con-
verted a beautiful mosque into a church, and built eight other places of
worship (Imp. Gaz. 1v. p. 101). The mission work of the carlier period
is given in Mullbauer, p. 106. The Franciscans built here a church of the
Holy Ghost in 1559 ; the Dominicans, another of N. 8. das Victorias in
1564 ; the Jesuits a convent of St. Paul in 1567 ; the Augustinians a
convent of N. 8. da Graga in 1599, The Order of St. John had also a
hospice founded in 1673 (Mullbauer, pp. 106, 330—340).

Damaun and Diu both stand isolated in our history, and so need not
engage our further attention.

BASSEIN DISTRICT.

(3) Bassein, about 30 miles north of Bombay, was taken by the
Portuguese in 1532 ; and shortly after (1534)* the neighbouring districts, as
well as the islands of Salsette and Bombay, were acquired by treaty

* 1t will e useful to roalise 1534 as tho year when Henry VIII of England broke off

his allegiance to the Popo and carried the country with him into schism, It is also the
year in which the first companions of St. Ignatius took their vows,
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with the Bahadur of Gujerat. The great fort was founded in 1535, and
became the official residence of the General of the North. Within its
walls the city contained many sumptuous edifices both civil and religious,
which latter consisted of five convents,| a cathedral wrongly so-called, in
reality a matriz or mother church ; with six other churches, and one
asylum for orphans and maidens (Da Cunha, p. 139). In 1674 Fryer
mentions six churches, four convents and two colleges—one belonging to
the Franciscans and the other t& the Jesuits, who also possessed a fine
library (Da Cunha, p. 141). The city was stormed by the Mahrattas in
1739, devastated by them, and abandoned by the Portuguese; after
which all the churches within it were gradually plundered of their contents
(parts were, it is said, taken by the Catholics and used in other churches)
and then gradually fell into ruin. Bassein was taken from the Mahrattas
by the English in 1780.

The whole district round Basscin was also scattered over with
churches and convents, the former of which have in great part been
renovated and are in use (Da Cunha, p. 159). For instance, Agashi, 10
miles north of Bassein, was the first place of this district visited by the
Franciscans. Fr. Antonio do Porto as early as 1535 built there an
orphanage for the education and maintenance of 40 boys. It was
destroyed by the Mahomedans in 1540, while they were besieging Bassein
(Da Cunha, p. 159). The inmates fled to Bassein, and the orphanage is
not heard of again. In 1634, however, there existed a monastery of the
Dominicans ; a chapel of St. Lazaro (now in ruins); the parish church
of St. John Baptist in charge of the Franciscans ; N. 3. dos Remedios
under the Dominicans—the last two being still in a good state of
preservation ; N. S. das Merces built by Fr. Alexio de Menezes, later on
Archbishop of Goa, and served by Augustinians (Da Cunbha, p. 161);
Monte Calvario, under the charge of the Franciscans; the Augustinian
church of N. 8. da Vida (sometimes called in old documents N, S, de
Saude) and the chapel of the Annunciada. All these were situated
northward of the foit. Among the churches to the eastward were those
of San Thome, San Thiago Major, and Espirito Santo—the oldest among
the rural churches, and the only one still retaining its primitive form.
All these were under the Jesuits. Theie is a church of modern date
dedicated to San Miguel Archanjo at Purim or Manikpura near the
railway station—the original of which also belonged to the Jesuits (Da
Cunha, p. 161).

Further north at Tarapur there is now a church under the invocation
of N. 8. do Rosario, the original of which was founded in 1583. There
was also a famous shrine at Danhu. At Palle there was a church under
the invocation of Mae de Deus [rebuilt in recent times]. At Nirmol
there was a Church of the Holy Cross built in 1580 by the Jeswits, on
the site of a sacred tank which had been filled up by the Portuguese to

1 The term *“Convent” was ia former times used for houses of men as well as for
those of women.
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put & stop to a pagan fair held in its connection (Da Cunha, p. 162).
Other ancient churches at Chikli and Mahim Kelvi, (not that in Bombay
but another, 30 miles north of Bassein), are now fast disappearing (Da
Cunha, p. 164).

These jottings, which are put down just as they occur in Da Cunha,
etc., may be supplemented by two more orderly lists :—First a catalogue
of the churches in the Fort, all now ingruins ; and secondly, a list of the
churches now in use in the Bassein district outside the Fort—copied
from the Goa Annuario and the Catholic Directories.

. CHURCHES IN THE FORT PRECINCTS,

(1) The Matriz (wrongly called the Cathedral). From an inscription
over the door we learn that the present edifice was built in 1601 ; but
the original structure scems to have been founded in 1546, It was de-
dicated to St. Joseph. Elsewhere it is called the Church of N. 8. da Se.
It was the Parish Church of the Fort, served by secular priests,

(2) N.S. da Vida in the citadel, built as part of the fortifications
and used by the garrison; date about 1535.

(8) The Franciscan Church of Santo Antonio founded by Father
Antonio do Porto as carly as 1534. There was a college in connection
with it, and on it werc gependent a large number of filial churches in the
neighbourhood.

(4) Church and Convent of the Jesuits under the title of the Holy
Name. The foundations were laid in 1548. Previous to this the mission-
work in and about Bassein had been in the hands of the Franciscans
only. St. Francis Xavier visited Bassein three times—once in 1544 and
twice in 1548, The adjacent building was the great Jesuit college or
seminary for the education of native converts, which had previously been
manned, by the Franciscans., *

(6) The Dominican Church and monastery built in 1583, having
several filial chapels in the neighbourhood under it.

(6) The Augustinian Church and monastery founded about 1596.

(7) A church with a “Miscricordia” attached ; built after the advent
of the order of the Hospitalers of St. John in 1681.

As to the numbers of the religious in Bassein, we are told that in
1634 the Franciscans counted 30, the Jesuits 15, the Dominicans 10, the
Augustinians 8, all maintained by the State (p. 241).

CHURCHES IN THE BASSEIN DiSTRICT.

The coast-land extending from Bassein to Danhu is at present
called the “Varado de Bacaim.” A varado is a district or portion of
a diocese placed under the superintendenee of a Vara—an official cor-
responding more or less to our idea of a rural dean or vicar forane, acting
as deputy for the bishop within the district assigned to him. The
head-quarters of the Vara of Bagaim is at Papry, near to the old fort.
The churches of the district consist of a group distributed over a circuit
of three miles, as well as a number of other churches more widely
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scattered over the coast country as far as Danhu, fifty-one miles north of
Bagsein. The present Catholic population of the whole varado amounts
t0 19,627, The following list of churches is taken from the Goa Annuario
of 1901, supplemented by the dates of foundations collected from da
Costa’s Relatorio of 1892 with subsequent revisions :—

SOUTH GROUP.

(1) Papry—N. 8. da Gragp, built in 1565, re-built in 1864.

(2) Douli—N. 8. dos Remedios, built in 1583, rebuilt 1839.

(3) Sandor—N. 8. das Merces, built 1696, re-built 1834 [alws,
built by the Augustinians in 1584, made a parish church in
1606, re-built 1856.]

(4) Sandor—S. Thome Apostolo, built 1575, re-built 1601, enlarged
1889.

(5) Manikpur—S. Miguel Archanjo, built 1550-1570, re-built 1851.

MIDDLE GROUP.

(6) Nirmol—Santa Cruz do Calvario, built in 1856 on the ruins
of a Portuguese church of 1’380 which was destroyed by the
Mahrattas in 1737.

(7) Nandakal (10 miles north)——Espmto Santo, built in 1573, and
re-built in 1910.

(8) Agashi (10 miles north)—S. Thiago Major, built 1600, re-built
later.

NORTH GROUP.

(9) Mahim-Khelvi (24 miles north) —-N. S. dos Remedios, built on
ruins of old Portuguese church (filial to Tarapur). '

(10) Tarapur (41 miles north)—N. 8. do Rosario, built in 1583.

(11) Danhu (51 miles north)—N. 8. das Antrustmq built: in L570

*(filial to Tarapur). .
RECENT ADDITIONS. e

(12) Palle—N. 8. Mae de Deus (1840-1844).

(13) Guiriz—S. 1. Xavier (1916).

(14) Koliwada—S. Peter (1913).

There are certain discrepancies among the lists of Da Cunha and Da
Costa, the Annugrio of 1901 and the Madras Directories, which would
require careful examination to set right. The above rough list, however,
is sufficient to give a general impression :—First, that there were seven
churches in the fort, and about eleven churches in the district of Bassein,
all built by the Portuguese, and for the most part before the year 1600 ;
in the second place, that several of these churches wese devastated by
the Mahrattas about 1737-1739, while others gradually fell into ruin;
thirdly, that within the last century the most part of the old chirches
in the district have been re-built or restored, while those in the fort still
remain in a state of desolation.

The whole of this western coast area round about Bombay- formed
part of the Archdiocese of Goa, that See being first established in 1534.
Being at a distance of 200 to 300 miles {from the centre it was governed
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by a Vicar-General of the North, representing the Archbishop of Goa.
Down to the Mahratta invasion of 1739 his headquarters was at Bassein ;
after that date at Thana or Kurla, and later on at Gloria Church, Bombay.
This arrangement continued till 1886, when on the establishment of the
Hierarchy the whole district, with the exception of Bombay island,
became the territory of the newly constituted diocese of Damaun.

CHAPTER II.
KARANJA, CHAUL AND SALSETTE.

(4) AccorpiNGg to the present division of the Damaun diocese, the
Varado of Thana comprises not only the islands of Salsette and Trombay,
but also that portion of the mainland (North Konkan), which lies to the
east of the Varado of Bassein and extends along the sea border below
the ghauts, southwards past Bombay island, and down as far as the
river Savetri about 70 miles below Bombay. Beginning with the mamland,
we find churches at Kalyan and Matheran to the north-east, at Uran in
Karanja island about the middle, and at Korlai or Chaul in the south of
this district. The churches at Matheran and Kalyan are of recent date
(1853 and 1886 respectively). The island of Karanja (also called Uran,
across the harbour just opposite Apollo Bander) was acquired by the
Portuguese in about 1531,  On the hill they built a fort which contained
a Franciscan church founded by the indefatigable Antonio do Porto
in 1535, with an orphanage for 40 boys. Besides this there was at the
foot of the hill a Dominican convent and church which was sgbordinate
to Chaul. The ruins are still to be seen. The present church in Uran
was built in 1852. Karanja island was taken by the Mahrattas about
1740, and in turn by the English in about 1774,

CHAUL FORT.

Chaul, formerly an important Mahomedan city and seaport, is the
most southerly of the settlements with which we are concerned. It
lies along the coast about 25 miles south of Bombay. It contained a
group of churches and other institutions similar to those at Basscin—
the ruins of which are still to he seen. In 1516 the Portuguese had
already built asmall tactory at Rewdanda close by, and in 1521 obtained
perm ssion from the Nizam-ul-Mulk to build a fortress, which was com-
pleted in 1524. Chaul still remained in the hands of the Portuguese
when in 1739 Basscin had fallen ; but when the Mahrattas threatened
to besiege Goa itself, Chaul was surrendered to them as a sort of com-
promise. The treaty was completed and the fortress handed over in
about 1741. Nearly all the Catholic inhabitants emigrated to Goa in
successive bands, In 1818 Chaul passed under the power of the British,
together with the neighbouring fort of Korlai.
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Of the churches built at Chaul the following list is taken from
Da Cunha :—

(1) The Matriz or mother-church built by the Franciscan Fre.
Antonio do Porto in 1534. It stands near the shore, and is called
N. S. do Mar. It was a small church, but became the centre of a
considerable parish and was affiliated to the Franciscan convent of
St. Barbara. Afterwards this connection was severed ; the church was
enlarged, and became the Matriz, as it was styled.

(2) Thechurch and convent of St. Barbara, built by the Franciscans
in 1534.

(8) The church and convent of the Dominicans, built in 1549, and
called Our Lady of Guadalupe.

(4) The church of 8. Peter and Paul built by the Jesuits in 1580,
Asearly as 1552 the inhabitants of Chaul, who had already the Franciscans
and Dominicans amongst them, asked St. Francis Xavier to found a house
of the Order at Chaul. St. Francis at first evaded theappeal; but finally,
in 1580, twoe Jesuit Fathers and two Brothers were sent to them, The
Jesuit church and convent at Chaul, however, remained under direct
superintendence of the Jesuit: College of Bassein.

(8) The church of the Augustinians, founded in 1587, under the
title of Our Lady of Grace.

(6) A chapel built to mark the residence of St. Francis Xavier
during his stay in Chaul, and called after his name.

(7) Close to this, a small chapel of St. Ignatius now entirely disap-
peared.

(8) The Misericordia or charitable establishment, said to have been
founded very early.

The furegoing were within the walls of the fort, the following
outside it :—

(9) Church of St. Sebastian built about 1650.

(10) Church of St. John.

(11) Church of Mae de Deus in charge of the Franciscans.

SALSETTE ISLAND.

(6) Coming now nearer home, we turn to the island of Salsette, where
the missionary energy of the Portuguese commenced in the north—the
part nearest Basseir. —and gradually spread southwards. Beginning first
with Thana, we find that Father Antonio do Torto as usual heads the
list with a Matriz or mother-church of St. John the Baptist (or N. 8.
da Conceigao ?) and a convent of St. Anthony built about 1534—twelve
pagodas being demolished for its construction. Mention is also made of
a convent of the Augustinians with twenty monks ; one of the Jesuits
with eleven inmates ; one of the Dominicans with two ; also two chapels
outside the town now in ruins:—N. 8. da Graga under the Augustinians,
and N. S, do Rosario under the Jesuits, built in 1605. All these insti-
tutions had long been in existence before the year 1634—most of them
dating from the previous century. There was an orphanage, which in
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1556 was removed out of town by the Jesuits, who founded in its stead
an agricultural settlement a few miles further south under the invocation
of the Most Holy Trinity. It was situated in the valley now covered by
the Vehar lake ; and I am told that some ruins belonging to it are still
to be seen submerged in the lake. The road which runs from Kurla to
the south of the lake once continued through the valley now covered
with water, passed the settlement, and came out northwards where the
road from the Iake to Thana still survives. At a later date this esta-
blishment was removed to a healthier site on the hills, and is now re-
presented by a group of ruins and a chapel of the Trinity near Powai.

Fr. Antonio do Porto also turned his attention to other parts of
the island. Coming to Kennery caves in the heart of the mountains,
he converted the principal cave-temple into a chapel of St. Michael, and
even won over to the Gospel two jogis, who in turn became missionaries
among their own caste. Passing westwards he next came to Mount
Poinser, where he erected a church in such a way as to make the
Brahmanised Buddhist caves serve as a crypt. There was also a college
adjoining for 100 orphans. Round the hill a colony of 2,000 converts
was gathered—vestiges of whose dwellings still remain to be seen.
Mount Poinser scems to have been abandoned after the devastation by
the Mahrattas. A few miles to the south is the church of Poinser, and
another at Cassi to the north-cast. At Ghorbunder was a church of St.
John, originally & Mahomedan building, now turned into a traveller’s
bungalow.

Other churches built by the Portuguese were those of Bainel (Bhayn-
der), Dongri, Utan, Gorai, Kandolim, Nave (Goregaon), Malvane and
Manori in the northwest ; Ambolim, Versova, Aldeamar and Yarangal
in the muddle-west ; and Bandra, Kondutim, Kurla and Kdbly-Kalyan
in the south—besides (in Trombay) the churches of Mane, Maroli, and
a Franciscan church on the hill overlooking the harbour towards the
east.

With few exceptions these churches all seem to date from before
the year 1600. Some of them were destroyed by the Mahrattas when
they took possession of Salsette in 1739. Others gradually fell into
ruin ; but most of them have been restored at a recent date.

BANDRA.

(6) On account of its importance, and especially its intimate con-
nection with Bombay, we have rescrved Bandra to the last place. The
Jesuits here seem to have had the field entirely to themselves. At some
early date not yet ascertained (probably 1570), some Fathers made their
first attempt on the village, but met with strong resistance and seem to
have been half inclined to give up. However, the advent of Father
Manuel Gomes, S.J., a Portuguese born in India, and called the Apostle
of Salsette, infused new life into the enterprise. Arriving in 1575, he
soon succeeded in making 4,000 converts, whose number in 1591 rose to
6,000 ; and by the year 1603 all Bandra to & man hgd become Catholic,
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Shortly after the year 1575 a college was founded under the invo-
cation of St. Anne, to which a church of that name was attached, This
college assumed the dignity of a university and conferred degrees on its
successful candidates. Later on numbers of these pupils found a carcer
in the service of the English Government in Bombay as clerks and secre-
taries, being the only ones then capable of reading and writing the Roman
characters. o

Other churches were built by the Jesuits before 1595 at Kondutim
(near Marol) and Kurla. St. Andrew’s Church by the sea shore at
Bandra was built for the fishermen in 1599.

The College and St. Anne’s Church stood on the site now occupied
by the slaughter-house, on the shore hetween the causeway and the
railway. Before the gate was a fine cross, and seven guns were mounted
on the sea-face for defence against pirates. In 1739 the college, church
and fortifications were destroyed by the English, with the consent of the
Portuguese, to prevent them from becoming strongholds in the hands of
the invading Mahrattas. In 1740, after the Mahrattas took Salsette, the
missions all over the island were abandoned for a time, and the mission-
aries retired to Goa. Their places however, were taken by secular
priests whom Perron in 1760 calls Cures Canorinas—a term which pro-
bably means Canarese (i. e. Goan) priests. They were under a Vicar-
General of Salsette (appointed by the Archbishop of Goa), who with some
“‘Scholastics of the Franciscar. school” resided at Kurla.

The church of Our Lady of the Mount, Bandra, was first built in
1640, and destroyed by the Mahrattas in 1738. The statue, thrown into
the sea, was rescued by some Koli fishermen and hidden in a fissure of
therock for six months, after which it was carried in procession to
St. Andrew’s. In 1761 a new church was built on the site of the former
one, and the statue was then restored to its original place. The old
church of 1761 was still in use till 1904, when it was pulled down to
make place for the present building.

Of the Jesuit college and church of St. Anne not a vestige now
remains. The carved cross was transferred to the churchyard of St.
Andrew’s in 1870.

The Jesuits of Bandra were large land-owners not only in Salsette,
but also in the northern parts of the island of Bombay (Parel, Naigaon,
Vadala, Mahim, Dharavi, etc.) They held this property in trust as a
source of revenue for the support of various missions, such as those of
Goa, Cochin, Agra, Japan, China, etc., and various fathers or lay-brothers
were appointed as procurators of the same. When in 1665 Bombay was
handed over to the English, the Jesuits laid claim to their lands in
Bombay, but were refused. The matter gave rise to friction from time
to time between the Portuguese and the English—which reached a
climgx in 1719, when the Government finally declared the property of the
Order confiscated to the Crown. Of this we shall see more in our sub-
sequent studies of Bombay island.
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LIST OF CHURCHES.

The following is a list of the churches, old and new, in the Varado
of Thana :—
On the Mainland :—
(1) XKalyan—N. 8. do Lourdes, built in 1886.
(2) Matheran—Santa Cruz, built 1853.
(3) Uran (Karanja)—N. 8. da Purificagao, built in 1852, on site of
old church of 1535 totally destroyed. Two other churches in ruins.
(4) ZKorlay (Chaul)—N. S. do Carmo; an old mortuary chapel
built 1558 [1588?], re-built 1802.
(5) Rewdanda (Chaul)—About cleven old churches inside and near
the Fort, as above described, all in ruins.
In the East of Salsctte :—
(6) Thana—S. Joio Baptista [formerly called N, 8. da Conceigao?],
built 1540, re-built 1609.
(7) N. S. d’Esperanca, outside Thana, built by the Portuguese but
now in ruins.
(8) N. 8. das Merces ditto  ditto.
(9) N.S. do Rosario ditto  ditto.
(10) Kondutim (Marol)—S. Joio Evangelista, built in 1840. Close
by are the ruins of an old church built by the Jesuits of Bandra in 1579.
(11) Revalem (to the cast of Powai)-—S. Trindade, built in 1558
but ruined. Close by are the remains of the Jesuit settlement of the Holy
Trinity. Modern church built in 1846,
(12) Koly-Kalyan—N. 8. do Egypto, built by the Portuguese,
date unknown.
(13) Sahar—N. &, de Saude, built 1846.
(14) Vikroli—St. Joqoph, built 1910. )
.(15) Kurla-—Santa Cruz. built by the Jesuits of Bandra in 1580 and
re-built in 1848,
In Trombay Island :—
(16) Mane—S. Antonio de Lisboa, built (or re- bml() in 1790,
(17) Maroly—S. Sebastiao, built in 1739.
(18) Ruined church on the hill at east of the island.
In the West of Salsette :—
(19)  Ghorbunder—St. John, now used as travellers’ bungalow.
(20) Poinser—N. 8. dos Remedios, built in 15655,
(21) Mount Poinser—-Immaculada Conceicao, built in 1544, repaired
and roofed in 1910, and used by the orphanage close at hand.
(22) Dongrim—N. 8. de Belem, date unknown. Ruins of a Jesuit
church on the hill.
(23) Utan—N. S. do Mar, built 1547, re-built 1787.
(24) Baynel (Bhaynder)—N. S. de Nazareth, built 1600 and re-built
in 1816.
(25) Cassi (or Caxi)—S. Jeronymo, built before 1695,
(26) Gorai—Santos Reis Magos, built (or re-built) 1810,
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(27) Manori—N. 8. do Soccorro, built 1559, re-built 1815,

(28) Ambolim—S. Braz, built by the Franciscans, date unknown.

(29) Goregaon—(Pahady, Padi or Nave)—St. Thome Apostolo, built
1560, in ruins, More recent church close by.

(30) Malvane-—St. Antonio de Lisboa, early Portuguese, re-built
recently.

(31) Versova—N. 8. de Saude, built 1540.

(32) Aldeamar—N. 8. do Mar, built (or re-built) in 1817,

(33) Arangal—S. Boaventura, built by the Franciscans 1575, in
ruins ; otherwise called Reis Magos.

(34) Parla—St. Francis Xavier, built 1851,

At Bandra :—

(35) St. Aunne’s Church and College, built after 1575, destroyed
1739, totally disappeared.

(36) 8. Andre—built 1599, re-built in 1864.

(37) N.S. do Monte—built in 1640, re-built in 1761 and 1904.

(38) St. Anne (Xellalim) quite recent.

(39) N. 8. do Calvario (Palli Hill)—built in 1890.

(40) Church at Santa Cruz, built 1890.

(41) N. 8. do Carmo, founded 1892.

Of the propaganda churches in Salsette, Candelim was built by the
Portuguese in 1560 ; the rest at Bandra, Juvem, Orlem, Culvem and
Mane being of quite recent date, all after 1850

SUMMARY REMARKS.

This elementary sketch-—incomplete, rough and sure to be inaccurate
in parts—will be sufficient for our purpose. It will convey a general
impression, of the enormous work done by the Portuguese within the
first century of their existence in our parts; the ruin wrought by the
invasion of the Mahrattas, and the revival and restoration which has
taken place in modern times. The sketch is purposely short, because
its solc object is to make intelligible the various allusions to Bassein,
Salsette, Chaul, etc., which will occur in the course of our history of the
Bombay Mission.

From the figures already given, we notice that the great period of
mission-founding—as indicated by church-building—lay between 1534
and 1600. During this period the vast bulk of the churches now in exist-
ence were erccted—to say nothing of many others now disappeared or
fallen into ruin. Comparatively few churches were built between 1600
and 1650, still fewer between 1650 and 1700, and at most one after that
date. After the destruction of churches by the Mahrattas in about 1740,
there seems to have been at least half a century of desolation, during
which many of the Christian population were reabsorbed into Hinduism.
The re-building of old churches, or the foundation of new ones began in
quite recent times. We read of one or two built between 1780 and 1800 ;
a few more between 1800 to 1850 ; a few more again between 1850 and
1886—when the establishment of the hierarchy gave a new twn to
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ecclesiastical enterprise. It is therefore of deep interest to notice how much
the Catholicism of Western India owes to the old Portuguese missionaries
of the 16th century. [The present Catholic population, tracing their
descent from the original Portuguese converts over the whole area from
Chaul to Danhu, probably amounts to about 55,000, with another 2,500
at Damaun and Diu—all later converts and immigrants being omitted].

MISSIONARY METHODS.

As regards the Portuguese methods of conversion, we are quite
accustomed to having it dinned into our ears that they were guilty of
making their proselytes by force. The points usually preferred against
them by the more careful writers seem to amount to these :—(1) They
ruthlessly threw down temples and mosques in the places where they
were establishing Christian colonies, and used the site and the materials
for building their own churches ; and this sometimes, if not always, by
means of forced and unrecompensed labour on the part of the pagan
people. (2) They marked ovt certain parish or city-areas within which
none but Christians were allowed to reside. (3) They put certain civil
disabilities on non-converts in certain parts, and gave certain advantages
and privileges to their neophytes. (4) They purchased not only children
who were in slavery, but also those whom their pagan parents were
disposed to abandon, and brought them up as Christians. (5) They took
hold of orphans, even of the better familics, and did the same with them.
Hence we read under date 1677 that “among the earliest additions to the
population of Bombay after its transfer to the English were certain
Brahmans from Bandra.” Of their settlement on the Island Mr. Anderson
writes :—“From one part of the Portuguese illiberal system the Govern-
ment of Bombay reaped considerable benefit. Brahmans, whose scrvices
were of much value, lived at Bandra in constant fear that When they
died their children would be seized by the priests and baptised. Many
of them therefore escaped to Bombay. Of those who remained in Bandra
some built houses in Bombay, where they left their wives and children
as in places of security.” (Materials Vol. III, p. 527). Finally (6) the
stringency of the Inquisition. Thus it is mentioned by the Viceroy of
Goa, writing in 1727, that “many of those present in the island (of Bom-
bay) had fled hither from your Majesty’s service because of the horror
of the inquisition” (Materials Vol. III, p. 305). These various charges
proceed not only from English but also from Portuguese writers them-
selves. It is sufficient for our present general purpose to have mentioned
them, if only to show their comparative mildness. After making due
allowance for faults, it can at least be maintained that the success of the
Portuguese missionary-work was not at all due to physical coercion, but
to moral and other legitimate influences ; in which however it must be
admitted that a certain moral pressure and appeal to worldly interests
often played a considerable part.

The drastic code of King John III, out of which non-Catholic his-
torians have made much capital, seems never to have been put into
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practice as & whole. The Portuguese never adopted a policy of “thrusting
Christianity down the throats of the people at the point of the sword.”
There was no compulsory baptism or coerced conversion. They did not
prevent the private practice of the Hindu or Moslem religions, but only
forbade outward and public acts of worship. True, they confiscated
mosques and diverted their revenues to the support of churches. They
pulled down temples and used their materials for building Christian
churches—all of which was drasti& and highly questionable, but did not
carry with it any enforced conversion. Such proceedings moreover were
not universal but local and sporadic, and only took place in certain
central areas.

As for personal treatment, they allowed Christians only to live
in their forts ; they took Christians only into Government scrvice. They
taxed pagans, and freed Christians from taxes. Sometimes they vexa-
tiously constrained the people to listen to Christian instructions, but did
not as far as I know enforce the order by physical violence. They offered
to Mahomedan pirates and slave-dealers the alternative of death or
baptism ; but such miscreants were doomed to die, and the offer had the
nature of an act of mercy. They took slaves from the slave-dealers and
baptised them as a matter of course, and placed themin Christian families,
which was also a work of mercy. All this quite apart from the Inquisi-
tion. It was the direct work partly of the Civil Government, partly of
lay officers, partly of the missionaries. The Inquisition was quite a small
and exclusive burcau with a narrow scope. It had nothing to do with
conversions, but only with lapses from religion and with crimes. It had
only one house at Goa, and was never established in the outlying centres,
where it merely had some “agents.” Granted that these agents did
sometimes make & nuisance of themselves, such phrases as the ¢ horrors
of the Inquisition” seem to savour more of the Protestant nightmare than
of historical reality, at least as far as the non-Catholic population was
concerned.

CHAPTER III.
ROMBAY UNDER THE PORTUGUESE (1531--1665)

AFTER our general survey of early Portuguese missionary enterprise
in the districts surrounding Bombay, we can now turn to Bombay itself.
As far as Christianity is concerned, the history of Bombay commences
with the year 1534, when it passed into Portuguese hands, together
with Salsette, by a treaty with the Bahadur of Gujerat. The group
of seven small islands out of which the Island of Bombay was formed,
had by this time partly coalesced. Colaba and Al-Omanis still remained
to the south separated by narrow channels; but between the islands
of Bombay, Mazagon and Parel the creeks had silted up. A broad but
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shallow lagoon occupi¢d the centre, invaded by the higher tides, but for
the most part consisting of salty marsh. The sea flowed in by a narrow
channel between Mahim and Worli, and again between Mahim and Sion ;
while the deep gulf at Breach Kandy was the only one which always
required passage by boat. The land was covered partly by scrub, partly
by palms, tamarinds and mangoes, and was partly given over to rice-
cultivation. It was scantily inhabited by agriculturalists at Cavel,
(lirgaum, Parel, Matunga, cte., and by fishermen at Colaba, Mazagon,
Worli, Sewri, and generally along the shores. Most of them were
Hindus; the rest, mpocmlly in '\Iahnn Mahomedans, who had come
hither from the mainland at different times. The Hindus had their
temples at Walkeshwar (on Malabar hill), at Sewri, at Mumbadevi on
the site of the present Boribunder station-—a shrine from which Bombay
seems to have derived its name ; at Parbadevi in Lower Mahim, at
Ghorupdevi near the present Tankbunder, etc.; and there was a Maho-
medan mosque in the village of Upper Mahim,

When the Portuguese took possession of the island in 1534, their
firstt work was to make capital out of the land by dividing it up into
fiefs according to a sort of feudal system, letting out whole tracts to
individual Portuguese and native land-owners. Thus Mumbadevi was
assigned to a certain Mestre Diogo ; Parel, Vadala, Sion and Worli to
Manuel Serrao ; Trombay and Chimbur to Roque Telles de Mineses ;
Walkeshwar to a Hindu named Posaji ; Mazagon to Antonio de Pessoa,
etc. The leases had to be renewed from time to time, except in case
of reward for distinguished services, or for the use of churches and
religious orders, when the grant was in perpetuity (Edwardes, p. 30).
During the Portuguese dominion, Bombay comprised seven villages
grouped under two chief stations. These villages were : M&him, Pa,rcl
Vadala and Sion under the Mahim group, and Ma.za.gon Bombfum and
Worli under the Bombay group. But there must have been smaller
settlements, such as Koli-war or Cavel, Koli-bhat or Colaba, Naigaon,
Dongri, etc. The Portuguese immigrants do not seem to have been
numerous ; there being at first only eleven families in the Bombay divi-
sion. Of the native population the Koli and Bhandari castes seem to
have been the most numerous,—some of whom were later on organised
by the English into a sort of police-army called the “Christian Militia”
(Kdwardes, p. 33).

Nor was much secular building-work done during the Portuguese
period. For some years before 1626 a “Manor house” or Governor’s
house stood on the spot where afterwards the Castle (now the Supply
and Transport Stores at the back of the Town Hall) was built. It
was mentioned by Fryer in 1675 as “a pretty well seated but ill-fortified
house,” while Davies had previously, in 1626, described it as a combined
“warehouse, priory and fort known as the Great House” (Edw. p. 32),
which the English and Dutch burnt down in the same year. A number
of small forts were crected at different points of the coast, but were of



BOMBAY UNDER THE PORTUGUESE (1534—1665) 15

rudimentary construction. The existing forts and watchtowers at Sewri,
Sion, Dharavi, Mahim, Worli, ctc., were all of English construction ;
and except for some walls of the great house in the Castle, it is safe to
say that there does not exist in Bombay island a single structure which
is attributable to the Portuguese.

EARLY BOMBAY CITURCHES.

The mention of the word “griory” leads us more directly to our
present subject—the beginnings of Christianity in the island, For want
of proper documents our information on this subject is vague and
scanty. The Franciscans seem to have arrived early—possibly before
the year 1534. At any rate in that year Father Antonio do Porto is
mentioned as having taken a tour from Goa into these parts.  As already
seen, he certainly founded several colleges and chapels in the districts
of Bassein, Salsette, Chaul, cte., and is said to have come also to
Bombay (Edwardes, p. 34). It is to the energies of the Franciscans
that we owe the huilding of St. Michael’s, Mahim ; Our Lady of Good
Counsel at Sion ; Salvagiio at Dadar ; chapels at Parel and Mazagon ; a
church of Our Lady of Expectation near the Fort ; and (according to
Mullbauer) a chapel of St. Bernardino which is not clearly identified.
A few words on each of these :—

(1) St. Michael’'s Church, Upper Mahim, seems to have been the
earliest. Da Costa’s Relatorio attributes its foundation to the vear 1510 ;
but Edwardes with greater probability thinks it was built by Fr. Antonio
do Porto about the year 1534,

(2) N. 8. do Bom Conselho at Sion, a small chapel, which was
attached to Parel (Fryer’s account) but later on became a sub-station
to Mahim. , It was probably built some time after 1600.

(3) N. 8. da Salvacdo, Lower Mahim, built by the Franciscans in
1651 (?) with a residence attached ; both of which still remain.

(4) A TFranciscan chapel was built at an early date at Mazagon
The “sacred grounds’ are mentioned in the Mazagon Patent of 1572, and
subsequent allusions to the church occur in 1596, 1731, 1748, and 1799. It
was followed by the church of N. S. da Gloria built in 1810 ; but this in
turn was demolished in 1912 and transferred to a totally new site near
Byculla station.

(9) N. 8. da Esperanca, built by the Franciscans before 1600 (?).
It stood on the present site of the Victoria Terminus, close to a tank
belonging (we may surmise) to the shrine of Mumbadevi. In the year
1760 both these objects were removed by Government, and the church is
now represented by the Cathedral of Our Lady of Expectation, Bhuleshwar.

(6) A TFranciscan chapel was built at Parel at some early date.
Later on the estates on which this church stood, and the church itself,
passed into the hands of the Jesuits of Bandra [some time before 1653,
and probably about 1620]. When the Jesuit property was finally con-
fiscated by the Government in 1719, this chapel lay unused for a time ;
but was afterwards utilised with large additions as part of “ Government
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house.” The chapel still remains embodied in the building, which was
recently turned into a Government laboratory, and is now used for
scientific research. The designation of the chapel is unknown.

(1) Mullbauer mentions a Franciscan church of St. Bernardino, of
which nothing can be ascertained. He says that it, as well as St.
Michael’s, Mahim, and Salvaciio, were confiscated by the English in 1668,
This statement is taken from a MS by Fr. Clement da Silva Eyria
preserved at Munich. There seems however to be some confusion in the
account. We can only conjecture that the original chapel at Parel may
have borne this name.

(8) Finally there was the priory in the Great IHouse of the Gover-
nor, on the site of the present Castle. Of this nothing is known except
that it was burnt to the ground with the Great House by the English and
Dutch fleets in 1626, and was never rebuilt. It was probably nothing
more than a domestic chapel of the “Great House,” with possibly an
Augustinian priest as private chaplain,

WHO WERE THE MISSIONARIES ?

It seems quite clear that the Franciscans were the only religious
Order engaged in missionary work in Bombay. There is no mention of
the Dominicans or Augustinians or any of the other Orders having worked
in the island in Portuguese times, or later down to the coming of the

Jarmelites in 1720. The only exception occurs in the so-called “Jesuit”
church of Parel; and even this was originally a Franciscan foundation
which, we may surmise, ouly came into the hands of the Jesuits by the
purchase of the estates on which it stood, and which may originally have
been Franciscan property. As this is a point of some interest, not treated
in the ordinary printed sources at our command, we shall eliter into the
question somewhat in detail.

In the present documentary evidence, the Jesuits only appear in
connection with Bombay island in their capacity of landowners. As we
have seen, the Order first came to Bandra a few years before 1575. In
that year or later they founded & college, to which they attached a church
of St. Anne on the site of the present slaughter house. In about 1587
they founded a church at Condutim or Marol ; and in about 1595 another
at Kurla, both in Salsette ; besides building St. Andrew’s and N. S. do
Monte at a later date. In addition to missionary work in the neighbour-
hood of Bandra, Condutim and Kurla, they set about acquiring large
estates, not only in Salsette but also in the northern part of Bombay
island. These properties wete rented out, and the revenues devoted to
the support of various missions of the Order; and certain fathers or
brothers were appointed procurators for the different funds. Thus in 1594
we read, in the Litteree Annue of the Order, of a procurator of the estates
of Japan, Cochin and Goa ; in 1653 of a procurator for the estates of
Agra College ; and in 1735 of a procurator of the estates of China. The
locality of these estates is not intimated. In 1613, however, we find an
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incidental mention of some property of “Cassabe de Maym, Bandra ”; in
1653 of the lands at Parel of the Agra College ; and in 1695 of the land
“Morelensis,” apparently Marol close by the Condutim church. Only the
reference to Parel is clear.

THE AGRA COLLEGE ESTATE.

The story of this latter foundation is more ot less as follows :—While
the Jesuits were engaged in their &amous Mission to the Great Mogul, an
Armenian (Christian) girl was taken into the harem of the Emperor
Jehangir. To her was born a boy who, with the two nephews of the
Emperor, was baptised a Catholic. This boy (whose name was Mirza
Zulcarnen) wishing when he grew up to endow a Jesuit College at Agra,
and at the same time to evade certain difficulties of the Moslem property-
law, commissioned the Order to secure a piece of property in Portuguese
territory, whose revenues might go to the support of the college. This
property was obtained in 1620 at Parel, and seems to have been the estate
on which the old Franciscan church stood. This view is supported by the
catalogues and the archives of the Order, and also by Tiefentaller writing
in 1750. On the other hand we possess a Portuguese valuation of
Bombay island compiled by the Viceroy in the year 1727. He mentions
as having formerly belonged to the Jesuits the village of Parel with its
hamlets Pomalla and Salgado ; the village of Naigaon and the hamlets
of Ramanavali and Coltem north of Parel: Dharavi; some plots in
Mahim ; and—*“the Village of Vadala with its divisions, Aivadi and
Govady, the property of the Jesuits of Agra” (B. Gaz. Materials, Vol. III, p.
305). Vadala, however, is situated close to the present Leper Asylum in
Matoonga, about 1} miles north of Tarel, and cannot be identified with
the plot where the church stood.

Our chief question however iy, whether the Jesuits took any part
in the missionary work of Bombay island. The possession of a chapel at
Parel (which they took over from the Franciscans) would so far suggest
that they did—at least to the extent of working for the conversion of the
natives living on their estates. In confirmation of this we find in the
catalogue of 1653 the name of a father who is entitled ““Vicar and Iro-
curator of the lands at Parel of the Agra College ”’; and again in 1678,
another father called “Vicar of Parel and Procurator of the Moghul.”
This Vicar is alluded to in the Government papers of 1676 as “that Jesnit
padre at Parel” (Materials, Vol. I, p. 62). He was, however, still reckon-
ed as one of the members of the Bandra College ; and we have no means
of knowing whether he resided generally at Parel, or whether he only
visited the estates from time to time. One thing at least is certain.
He was only a single individual missionary living out of his proper
“residence”; so that the “Jesuit College, Monastery or Convent of Parel,”
sometimes mentioned (see Maclean, p. 294) is nothing but a myth. There
was at most in Parel a parochial house attached to the old chapel, and
occupied by one Jesuit priest—and that is all. Hence, with the exception
of some local work done by this one Jesuit within the estates of : which
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he had the temporal care, the whole credit of the conversion of Bombay
during Portuguese times seems to be due to the Franciscans alone—and
it is in their archives and not in those of the Society that the early
Church-history of Bombay island must be sought.

THIS VIEW CONFIRMED.

This view, which is put forward tentatively so as to invite confirma-
tion or refutation, is borne out by a lange amount of negative evidence of
a miscellaneous sort. In the first place, the catalogues of the Society, its
annual letters and other records throughout the whole period are remark-
ably silent about the island of Bombay. When Archbishop Jiirgens was
in Europe in 1908 he worked carefully through the archives of the Goa
Province to which the northern districts of Western India belonged, and
produced & most valuable collection of notes about Bassein, Thana,
Bandra, ctc. But in the whole course of them there is no mention of
any house, college or missionary-work done in Bombay island. The very
name “Bombay’’ occurs only twice, and that only to state that it was in
the hands of the English. What is, however, most conclusive is the silence
of the catalogues betwcen 1552 and 1735, which nowhere mention any
house, college or mission-work done in Bombay island—except in the two
allusions to the “Vicar of Parel” cited above. The view is also confirm-
ed by the silence of travellers and historians on the subject. It seems
certain that no Jesuit set foot on the island before the founding of Bandra
in 1575. But even after this date a similar silence is observed. Thus
Edwardes (note on page 35) tells us how “a friar (sic.) who came from
Europe in 1598 to visit the houses and colleges of the Jesuit Society in
India, was entertained at Bandra with a sham sea-fight. The father left
to be educated at Bandra College four Punjabi converts whom he brought
from Chaul, then visited Thana, and founded the church of St. Cecilia at
Poinicer (Poinser).* At Bassein he established a seminary called the
College of the Purification. From Bassein he journeyed direct to Damaun
—the inference being that there were no Jesuit establishments in the
intervening country” (Dr. Godinho). This “friar,” was the Jesuit father
Pimenta [not Dr. Jarric as Da Cunha calls him], whose report, written in
1602, gives an account of Chaul, Bandra and Bassein, but nothing about
Bombay. The same applies to the other travellers of various date (Fryer,
Careri, etc.) among whom we find mention of various Franciscan churchcs,
and also of the Jesuit church of Parel ; but nothing to suggest the idea
that the Jesuits occupied any place in the missionary work of Bombuy,
during the Portuguese period. The same applies to the English period
also. For although the English government had frequent dealings with
the Jesuits they were alweys with the Jesuits of Bandra——and this,
moreover, not in their capacity as “Padres,” but as landowners in Bombay.

* That such a Jesuit church existed is certain. It was visited by Fryer in 1675,
and was at Megatan, a large town or village close to Poinser. Of Megatan only a few
relics now remain. It seems to have been deserted, and to have become practically

obliterated. The church may be identical with that still existing at Poinser (not Mount
Poinser) and now called N. 8. dos Remedios.
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STATISTICS OF CONVERSION.

As to the statistics of conversion during the Portuguese period, we
have nothing in the way even of approximate information. The number
of Portuguese who had come into the island were smallindeed. Edwardes
states that in 1634 there were only eleven Portuguese married settlers
in the Bombay portion of the island, who had probably not increased
much by 1665. As to the nativeg, the conversions are said to have been
chiefly among the Koli caste scattered all over the island; as also
among the Bhandaris, who were perhaps the first to enter the Church.
Some of these were organised by the English into a Christian Militia
(p. 33) which was retained until the growth of a native army and the
appointment of a local police rendered their services no longer neces-
sary (p. 33). The Kolis of Cavel were the first parishioners of N. 8. da
Esperanga on the Esplanade (p. 35). Smell numbers of Portuguese
were scattered about Magazon and Mahim ; and there were communities
of converts living on the Jesuit estates of Parel and Naigaon (p. 38).
He considers that “the Christian population formed no inconsiderable
proportion of the total population of 10,000; and that the Indian
converts contributed largely to the rise and development of Bombay.”
“Thousands of Indian families,” writes Dr. da Cunha, “had been
converted by the Portuguese to Christianity ; and it was from these that
the early British government drew its supplies of clerks, assistants and
secretaries. They were the first-fruits of the instruction and education
imparted to them by the Dortuguese priests; at a time, moreover,
when there was hardly a llindu, Moslem or Parsi who could read the
Roman characters. And they were the early instruments for spreading
the influence of the new rule among the natives of Western India, or
the first helpers to the expansion of the British power throughout the
country” (p. 45).

This, however, does not give us much guidance as to the actual
proportion of converts. The number and size of the churches affords
ws no definite criterion. If the total population in 1661 was only 10,000,
one would hardly expect that the Christians amounted to more than a
few theusands—certainly under the half of the people. They must
however have formed an important body; for one of the reasons
preferred by Antonio de Mello do Castro for not giving up Bombay to the
English was this :—“I see in the island of Bombay so many Christian
souls, which some day will be forced to change their religion by the
English”—a fear which, however, was not in the event fulfilled
(Edwardes, p. 45).

The earliest statistics at our service provide the following data :—In
1661 the total population was reckoned at 10,000 ; in 1664 at 15,000,
which in 1673 was said by Fryer to have risen to 60,000 ; this large
increase, if correct, being due chiefly to immigration—but it is probably
exaggerated. Other figures place the population in 1715 or 1718 at
15,000. From a statement made to Government in 1733 we learn
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that out of this 15,000 about 6,000 were Catholics—which is the first
definite figure we have come across. At the taking over by the English
in 1665 they were therefore probably not more than 5,000 out of a total
of 15,000—not a bad record, being one-third of the entire population.

[ ]

CHAPTER 1IV.
BOMBAY UNDER THE ENGLISH (1665-1720.)

A GENERATION before Bombay was formally ceded to England, the
English had already had their designs upon it. The English Fast India
Company, founded in 1600, had secured a factory at Surat in 1611 ; and
as early as 1625 the Court of Directors had proposed to take Bombay
from the Portuguese by force. The following year an agreement was
made between the Dutch and English fleets to attack the island together
and then divide it. It was (as we have seen) during this attack that the
Great House, with its “warehouse, priory and fort” were burnt down ;
after which exploit the combined fleet for some reason or other abandoned
their project. In 1640 Bombay was spoken of in Knglish circles as * the
best place on the West Indian coast” ; and in 1652 the Surat Council
actually proposed that Bombay and Bassein should be bought from the
Portuguese. The project however was finally achieved by the Marriage
Treaty of 1661 between Charles 1I and the Infanta of Portugal, by which
Bombay was ceded to the British as part of the marriage-dowry. Accord-
ing to the terms of the treaty, “the inhabitants of the island (as subjects
of the King of Great Britain, and under his commands, crown, jurisdic-
tion and government) shall remain therein and enjoy the free excrcise of
the Roman Catholic religion in the same manncr as they do now ; it
being always understood, as it is now declared once for all, the same
regulations shall be observed for the exercise and preservation of the
Roman Catholic religion in Tangier and all other places which shall be
ceded and delivered by the King of Portugal into the possession of the
King of Great Britain, as were stipulated and agreed to on the surrender of
Dunkirk into the hands of the English ; and when the King of Great
Britain shall send his fleet to take possession of the port and island, the
English shall carry instructions to treat the subjects of the King of Por-
tugal in the Bast Indies in the most friendly manner, and shall help,
assist and protect them in their trade and navigation there.”

ARTICLES OF DELIVERY,

On the arrival of the British fleet great difficulties were made about
fulfilling the treaty. The matter was finally settled in the year 1665 by a
lengthy instrument of delivery drawn up by the authorities of Goa, and
signed by Ilumphrey Cnoke, the then Governor of the English fleet. It
should however be added that Humphrey Cooke had no authority to enter
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into any such agreement of terms; and King Charles II, writing to the
Viceroy of Goa in 1676, expressed his intention of clearing up the matter
with the King of Portugal “by whose justice we doubt not [that] our
Sovereign rights on the Fort and Island of Bombay and their dependencies
will be vindicated from that very unjust capitulation to which Humphrey
Cooke was forced to submit at the time when that place was first trans-
ferred to our possession ; which capitulation neither he, Humphrey, was
empowered to come into, nor any one else to impose upon him in con-
travention to a compact framed in so solemn and religious a manner.
We therefore are determined to protest against the said capitulation as
prejudicial to our Royal Dignity and derogatory to our right.”

Still, as the Articles of Delivery were never officially superseded, and
were regularly quoted in later times, it will be useful for our history to
reproduce the following extracts :--

“That the English gentlem:n shall not interfere in matters of faith,
nor will compel the inhabitants of the caid island of Bombay, neither
directly nor indirectly, to change their faith or to go and attend their
sermons ; and shall allow the ccclesiastical ministers the exercise of their
jurisdiction without the least impediment—being a condition mentioned
in the articles of peace under which the delivery of the island is ordered
to be made. And if at any time anything contrary is done, it is under-
stood that the whole agreed upon and promi«ed shall be violated, and
that the right of the island shall fall again to the Crown of Portug'zl ”

In agreeing that the English should not admit any deserters from the
Portuguese dominions, it was specified that “in case any of the deserters
should be willing to change his re]igion and pass to the confession of the
English gentlemen to prevent their being restored to us, the English
gentlemen shall not consent thereto ; and the same shall be observed on
our part with regard to those that may desert to our countries.”

In the third place :—“The parish priests and monks or regular clergy
that reside in Bombay shall have all due respect paid to them as agreed
upon ; and the churches shall not be taken for any use whatsoever, nor
shall sermons [i.e., Protestant sermons] be preached in them ; and those
who may attempt it shall be punished in such manner as to serve as an
example.” [Bombay Gazetteer, Materials, Vol. I, p. 19).

From this last clause we discover the existence not only of regulars
but of secular clergy in the island. The regulars, as we have already seen,
were exclusively Wranciscans—except for one Jesuit Father belonging to
the Bandra residence, who in 1653, and again in 1678, is described as
“Vicar of Parel.” There were at this time six churches in existence in
the island: St. Michael’s, Mahim ; Sion; Salvagio; Parel; Mazagon ;
and Ksperanga (near the Fort) all of which were Franciscan foundations.
Of the number of Franciscans in charge of these churches we have no
information; and the origin and number of the secular clergy is also
unrccorded. We know that the Seminary of Santa Fé was founded at Goa
in 1541 by secular priests and afterwards taken over hy the Jesuits ; and
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the Seminary at Rachol was founded in 1610. There seems also to have
been a seminary for secular clergy at Bassein at an carly date. In the
year 1570 the rural churches outside Bassein Fort were for a time given
over to the charge of native secular priests—-a similar experiment being
tried in Salsette ; but at what date, or from what college, or in what
numbers the secular clergy came into Bombay island we have not yet
discovered. Neither are we informed in what way the ranks of the
secular clergy were recruited under British rule—presumably they were
trained at Goa.
COOKE’S CONSPIRACY.

During the first few years Bombay was governed from Surat. The
management of the transfer by Humphrey Cooke having given dissatis-
faction to the authorities, it was proposed to disown the terms of the
acquisition. Cooke was put on his trial for mal-practices, and condemned
to banishment from the island. Thereupon he betook himself to Goa ;
and after some attempts to get himself reinstated, came to Bandra in
1668, where, it is said, he was entertained by the Jesuits, who encouraged
him in his scheme for proceeding with an armed force for the capture
of Bombay from the English (Da Cunha, Bassein and Chaul, page 81;
Nairne, The Konkan, p. 54 citing Bruce I1, 213 ; also The Miscellany of
Western India, p. 106). Hearing of this, the English Government is
said to have declared all the property of the Jesuits confiscated to the
Crown, and to have taken possession of the churches in the island. This
story is not found mentioned in the materials collected in the Bombay
Gazetteer. It occurs in the Miscellany of Western India, 1850, which says
that “Cooke proceeded to Bandra to accomplish his purpose with the
assistance of the Jesuits” (p. 106) ; and on page 3 we are told by Friar
Navarette, on the faith of a report which reached him at Manila, that
“in 1668 the English at Bombay overthrew the churches, end cut in
pieces the pictures of the altars ”’; but “whether this arose through re-
ligious zeal, or in punishment of the Portuguese, there is the absence of
all testimony” (p. 3). Mullbauer also (p. 329) says “the churches of St.
Bernardino (2), St. Michael’s and Salvagio were confiscated by the
English in 1668.” This “statement (says Father Bochum in a MS. note)
is on¢ which I have not verified. It is given by Father Clemente da
Silva Kyra in his Noticius do que Obrario os Padres de S. Francisco da
Provincia do Apostolo S. Thoma of the year 1722-1721 contained in a MS.
in the hands of Dr. Kunstman in Munich.” We have met with the story
elsewhere, but must leave it for further investigation. Certainly among
the complaints made by the Portuguese a few years later there is no men-
tion of churches having been taken or damaged by the English ; and we
think that part of the story is probably a mistake, with perhaps some
microscopic foundation of fact from which it started.

ENGLISH RELIGIOUS POLICY.

The general policy of the English was one of toleration as regards
those who were actually Catholics; but there was the greatest jealousy of
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attempts to make new conversions—at least among Europcans. Thus
in 1671, we read in Aungie1’s proposals the following :—*“Whereas for
waut of English women many of the English and other Protestant soldiers
sent out do marry with Portuguese mesties (half caste women) natives of
the island who are Roman Catholics ; by which means the children of
the same Protestants are through their fathers’ neglect brought up in the
Roman Catholic principles, to the great dishonour and weakening the
Protestant religion and interest—Wherefore for the preventing of the evil
consequences which may in time accrue therefrom, that the Company
would please not only to encourage the sending out of English women,
but also to establish a standing order that the children of all Protestant
fathers be brought up carefully in the Protestant religion, though the
mothers thereof be Roman Catholics ; and that severe penalties be inflict-
ed on all Padres who shall endeavour to baptise the said children, or in
any way attempt to inveigle or entice them away from the Protestant
faith” (B. Gaz., Materials, Vol. 1, p. 45).

This restriction is singularly illustrated by an incident which occur-
red in the ycar 1687, and is reported in the Government papers in the
following terms :--“‘On April 13th the Deputy Governor and Council
wrote to the Governor and Council at Surat :—‘Since our last there has
happened a business of ill consequence. The Portuguese Padre of
Bombay, by name Frea John de Gloria, did in his own parish church
|apparently N. 8. Esperanga near the Fort] christen or receive into the
society of the Romish religion one Nathanael Thorpe, son of Licutenant
Thorpe, deceased. The Padre of his own accord came to the Deputy-
Governor to beg his pardon for making a Roman Catholic Christian.
But withal confessed that the said Thorpo did come to him to be made
a Christian ‘several times before he did it. Upon hearing the same the
said Thorpe, when apprehended by the Deputy-Governor and brought to
examination, confessed that the Padre did tell him that it was much better
for the good of his soul to live in the Roman Catholic religion than to
live in the English church, with many other circumstances and argu-
ments to draw him from his natural obedience to his king and religion.
This by several statutes is made high treason ; namely the 23rd year of
Elizabeth, and the first chapter ; the 3rd of James and chapter the 4th,
treat largely of the same ; and many more lay down the heinousness of
the crime. By all it is judged high treason for any one to persuade or
withdraw any subjects from their obedience to their king, or to reconcile
them to the Pope, or to draw them to the Romish religion for that in-
tent, or move them to promise obedience to any other State, or to pro-
cure, council or aid them that do it, is treason. Now may it please
Your Excellency, this being a weighty thing to be considered and much
more to be suffered, we havc legally apprehended the said Padre, who
is now in safe custody until Your Excellency further orders about him.
We presume Your Excellency will have the matter stated according to
the canons of the Church by our Padres here, and remit the same by
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this conveyance. The Padre was committed prisoner to the County Jafl
in the Bazaar [This prison was in the Mapla Por building, the shell of
which still stands at the corner of Parsi Bazaar Street and Gunbow Lane,
Fort] by Judge Vauxe on 11th instant (April 1687) and laid in the room
where Thorborn was. And yesterday by the earnest intercession of the
Padre of Mahim and a strange Padre, the Deputy-Governor, Mr. Stanley,
and Mr. Jessop ordered him to be removed from the common jail to
his own parish church, where he is confined with a guard over him, to
see that he do not escape nor act in the church until Your Excellency’s
pleasure be known what shall be done in this matter” (B. Gaz., Materials,
Vol. 1II, p. 527-8). What was the outcome of the affair we do not
know.

The same rule is mentioned as being still in force in 1763, when
Nicbuhr wrote that although toleration of worship was generally permit-
ted, “Government allows not the Catholic priests to give aloose to their
zeal for making proselytes. When any person chooses to become Catholic
(Roman) the reasons must be laid before Government ; and if they are
judged valid he is then allowed to profess his conversion.” (Cited in
Miscell. of W. India, p. 19). This difficulty was raised only against
making Kuropean converts, it would seem ; for Ovington in 1689 writes
that “the Portuguese were permitted the free exercise of their religion,
and the liberty of erecting public chapels of devotion. The Gentiles too,
as well as Christians are permitted the freedom of their religion” (Mis-
cell,, p. 3).

FRYER’S ACCOUNT.

Fryer, who visited Bombay about the year 1674, writes of the churches
as follows : —““At the end of the town looking into the field where cows
and buffaloes graze, the Portugals have a pretty house and church [N. 8.
de Esperanga | with orchards of Indian fruit adjoining. On the backside of
the towns of Rombaim and Maijim arve woods of Cocoes, over against
which lies Masseggoung (Mazagon), a great fishing town... Here the
Portugals have another church and religious house belonging to the
Franciscans [the original of Gloria church]. Beyond it is Parel, where they
have another church and demesnes belonging to the Jesuits—to which
pertains Sion. At Maijim the Portugals have another complete church
and house [St. Michael’s].—At Salvesong [Salvagiio], the farthest part of
this inlet, the Franciscans enjoy another church and convent (p. 68). The
people who live here are a mixture of most of the neighbouring countries ;
most of them fugitives and vagabonds, no account being taken of them;
the others perhaps invited hither, and of them a great number, by the
liberty granted them in their several religions, which are here solemnised
with variety of fopperies—a toleration consistent enough with the rules
of gain, though both Moors and Portugals despise us for it. ...Our present
concern is with the Portugal, Siva Gi and the Mogul. From the first is
desired no more than a mutual friendship ; from the second an appearance
only; from the last a nearer commence. . . .The Portugal, as in league with
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neither [of the two others], thinks it a mean compliance in us to allow

either of them countenance, especially to furnish them with guns and

weapons to turn upon Christians, which they wisely make an Inquisition

crime” (ib. p. 70). :
CAUSES OF FRICTION,

From the first, the English relations with the Portuguese were
always somewhat strained. Inhe first instance the Portuguese author-
ities had demurred to the handing over of the island ; and in the second
place, there was much haggling as to what the island of Bombay com-
prised. The English seem to have tried to include Salsette and Karanja
as well ; the Portuguese seem not to have contemplated even Mahim or
Colaba. In effect the British managed to secure at once the whole of
our present island except Colaba, then separated by a creek. The right
to this also was, however, acquired “by a deed which (says Douglas)
was wrested from the Portuguese by Aungier in 1676” (p. 74).

From time to time some further causes of disagreement arose. In
1678 an English sergeant was murdered by the Portuguese in Bandra ;
whereupon the English, demanding satisfaction, “sent word to the Padre
Superior of the College of Bandra that, sceing the said murder was com-
mitted in their jurisdiction, we expect justice from them ; for such bloody
violences cannot be put up without satisfaction” (Materials, Vol. I, p. 61).
On the other hand the Portuguese complained of the protection given
in Bombay to a Malabar pirate pursued into the harbour by the Por-
tuguese. A third cause of friction was the crection of Portuguese custom-
houses at Bandra and Trombay.

A fourth is reported as follows :—“We have perused the Viceroy’s
letter to you touching the Padres run away from Goa. For that we
have been sensible of some inconveniences caused by such vagabond
Padres, who leave their cloisters on purpose to lead licentious lives in
Bombay, and besides are apt to encourage the people to all disorder
and disaffection to the English Government ; we think good that if such
Padres are up on the island, you give them convenient notice to repair
to Chaul, or where else they may please to dispose of themselves, for
that we are not well satisfied with their continuance in Bombay”
(Materials, Vol. I, p. 63-64).

Another point of dispute arose from the Portuguese claims to lands
in Bombay. We have already seen in the previous section that at the
time of the English acquisition the Jesuits of Bandra held large pro-
perties in Bombay island, and among them seems to have been a ware-
house in the Fort. But on revealing their claims to the English, the
Government refused to entertain them. Thus in February 1671, we
read in & government paper :—‘‘Touching the Jesuits’ demand of the
warehouse by the Custom-house, we desire you to give them notice that
we cannot surrender any ground or house to them until further orders
from the Company.” In the following month the Surat Council says :—
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“What we wrote concerning the Jesuit pretences we still confirm, and
cannot allow of the delivering to them of their houses until further
orders from England. What was surrendered to other people was on
examination and duc probation of their titles by the commissioners
authorised to that purpose. Asthe Jesuits refused to appear before the
commissioners, protesting and appealing home to the Hon. Company for
justice; and as we have sent home all papers referring to that business,
we cannot determine or make any end with them until we hear further
from our masters. Secing that the first commission is fallen by reason
of the death and departure of the commissioners, we shall not trouble
ourselves to erect any other commission to humour the Padres’ unreason-
able and subtle designs” (Materials, Vol. 1I, p. 432). The question was
then shelved for a time, but in 1686 came to the fore again, in the
following terms :-—“As to the Padres of Bandra and others that belong
to the Portuguese nation, a notice is given to the Chief Justice, who will
take care that no such estates be anyways alicnated. But this will
be of bad consequence. For if the inhabitants of this island be hindered
from attaching one another’s estates, they will never pay their debts,
and one will starve another. We therefore pray you further directions
as to the inhabitants of the island, who are most under nomination as
Portuguese (Materials, Vol. I, p. 97).

The question was fraught with considerable consequences. In the
terms of transfer it had been provided that ‘“any person possessing
revenue at Bombay cither by patrimonial or crown lands, shall possess
them with the same right and shall not be deprived of them, except in
cases which the Laws of Portugal direct, and their sons and descendants
shall succeed to them with the same rights,” etc. (Materials, Vol. I,
p- 19). But these terms, having been undertaken by IIumphrey Cooke
without proper authorisation, were informally disregarded by the English
government, who therefore decided ‘“that the claims of the Jesuits,
though admissible by the Portuguese usage, were not to be held valid
inan English settlement” (ib. p. 36). ILater on in 1720, when the Board
saw that “the practice of Portuguese and other forcigners making land-
purchases in the island had been prejudicial to the Government, it was
unanimously resolved that no person who is not an inhabitant of the
island shall for the future purchase any estates; and a proclamation
was issued by beat of drum accordingly” (ib. p. 168). This was locking
the stable door after the horse had heen stolen. However it was not on
these, but on purely political grounds, that Government justified its
measure of the previous year (1719) of finally confiscating the property
of the Jesuits in Bombay island.



CHAPTER V.
EXPULSION OF THE PORTUGUESE CLERGY (1720.)

Turse and other causes of friction leading to suspicion and ill-feeling
reached a climax by the year 1715. It scems that early in the century
the Government had discovered certain treasonable dealings with the
native chief Kanhoji Angria of Janjiri, carried on by a Brahmin named
Rama Kamati, one of the leading Hindus of Bombay, with the object of
introducing the encmy into the island, to subvert and extirpate the nglish
power. In what way the Portuguese, and specially the Portuguese clergy
of Bombay island, were implicated in the aflair, does not appear in the
published papers (Materials, Vol. I, p. 144 seq). A document dated 1720
shows that the Bombay Council “complained of the practice of the Portu-
guese priests stirring up the Roman Catholics of Bombay to oppose the
orders of Government.” But the same complaint had already been made
much earlier. Thus we read in a despatch of Aungier under date 1676 :—
“ As we understand that some Padres were more busy than became them
in this affair, in casting out c¢vil slanderous reports to the encouragement
of the inhabitants, we require you to give a strict account what Padres
they were and what they did, and particularly of that Jesnit Padre at
Parcl and the Padres of Mahim, that we may give such directions as are
necessary therein for preventing the mischief they may do us. If you
know any of the inhabitants that seem to side with the Portuguese in this
affair, give us notice of their names ; and if anything of proof can be made
against them, we would have you proceed severely with them™ (Materials,
Vol. I, p. 62). The same charge, it will be remembered, had been in-
sinuated against the “runaway or vagabond Padres from Coa” about
whom the Portuguese themselves had lodged a complaint (see last section).

SCHEME OF EXPULSION.

We have not the least means at our disposal for investigating the
truth of the accusations and suspicions here recorded,* but in any casc
the matter was so effectively represented to the Board of Directors that
they resolved to put an end to the situation, by expelling the Portuguese
clergy and calling in the Carmelites of Surat to take their place. “The
Directors brought to notice the success which had attended Governor
Pitt’s arrangement in Madras, under which some class of Catholic clergy
which he could trust were made supreme, on the understanding that they
would support the Government, and keep the Governor informed of any
designs of rival clergy hostile to Government interests.” As a sidelight
on this subject, it was remarked that “the reasons and motives for intro-
ducing the Vicar of the Great Mogul were—to counter-balance the power
of the Portuguese Jesuits, between whom and the Bombay Government a

* We see no improbability however, in such charges. Irom the very first the Por-
tuguese protested against the English occupation of the whole of the Island, contending
that they had a right only to the southern portion. Viewing the English as usurpers,
they would feel justified in encouraging those who tried to oust them,
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struggle which lasted several years was in progress.” In a despatch dated
Feb. 21 (1715) it was written that ‘““to prevent the Portuguese priests
from having too great influence in Bombay, ecclesiastics of different orders
should be encouraged and rewarded” (Materials, Vol. III, p. 528 note).

The Bombay Government laid its plans carefully and secretly before
taking action. Acquainted as they had already been with the Carmelite
Fathers at Surat, they entered into negotiations with their head, the
“Vicar-Apostolic of the Great Mogul” as he was called [a title which will
be explained later]and invited him to take charge of the Bombay churches.
Naturally the Vicar-Apostolic could do nothing in the matter without
‘the consent of the Pope. So in 1717 or thereabouts he despatched Father
Anastasius of St. Mary to Rome to report on the situation and ask for
instructions. The answer, given apparently some time in 1718, was to the
effect the Vicar-Apostolic might take charge of the churches provisionally,
and so far as the Archbishop of Goa was prevented by the English Gov-
ernment from exercising his jurisdiction in Bombay. [The exact terms of
this permission will be discussed later].

The Government of Bombay, while waiting for this answer, prepared
meanwhile a solemn proclamation, dated October 3, 1718 ; said to have
been in Latin, but only an Knglish translation has been preserved in the
following form :—

“I Charles Boone, President for the Honourable Company of England
trading to the East Indies, Governor of the (fastle and Island of Bombay
by his most Sovereign Majesty of Great Britain, salute in all that will see
this.

“Know all men that whereas by the ecleventh article of the Matri-
monial Pact approved and concluded in the year of our Lord 1661 between
the most sovereign King of Great Britain, Charles the second and the
most Faithful King of Portugal Affonse, the Island of Bombay with all
its jurisdictions, Privileges, Dominion, and the Principal and absolute
Right was transferred and confirmed by the said King of Portugal upon
the said King of Britain, it was permitted in the said Cession in the article
aforesaid, that the inhabitants of Bombay could publicly exercise and
enjoy the Roman Catholic Religion ; and as the said Island, its Ports,
ete., were transferred and confirmed for ever by the said King of Britain
to the Honourable Company of Merchants of England trading to the East
Indies, whereby they are the only owners and Proprietors :—

“I the President and Governor aforesaid, to whom the Guidance and
Government of this Island is committed by the said Company of Mer-
chants of England trading to the East Indies (it being permitted by the
most Sovercign King of Great Britain George, to the Christians of this
Island to exercise the Roman Catholic Religion and regularly and securely
to perform the Public Prayers or Orations among them) with approbation
and consent of my Council do give you, Senr. Frey Mauricio de Sta.
Thereza Bishop of Anastaziapoly, an ample Liberty to remain and exist
on this Island with six priests that you shall nominate, and do hereby
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grant you leave entirely to exercise your Episcopal Duty with the Ires-
biters your subjects; and you are to conduct yourselves quietly and
peaceably, with equity and justice conforming yourselves to the constitu-
tion of this Island ; and I do hereforth prohibit every person not to cause
any Molestation or Impediment to you or any of you in performing your
Duty ; and doing on the contrary shall be subject to such punishments
that I and my councillors and the (overnor and Councillors for the time
being will think proper to inflict.

“Signed with the Honourable Company’s seal and given under my
hand, In the Castle of this Island on the 3rd day of October, In the year
fifth of the Reign of our Sovereign King of Great Britain—George, And in
the year of our Lord 1718,

“By order of the Honourable Charles Boone, Esqre., President of the
lonourable Company of Merchants of England trading to the East Indies,
Ormuz, Persia and Arabia and Governor of His Majesty’s Castle and
Island of Bombay.

Sienep : Hupaenus Paruies, Secretary.”

The Vicar-Apostolic, in response to these intentions, drafted the
following form of undertaking, addressed to Government :—

“We having been mnotified by the Hon’ble Charles Boone, Esq.
that it has pleased his Britannic Majesty and the Hon’ble East India
Company through just motives to take the spiritual Government of
Bombay and Mahim out of the hands of the Archbishop of Goa, and
Portuguese Padres. which spiritual Government wes delivered unto me
and other missionaries subject to my orders, and always to remain
with us and with our successors : Should this our resolution, and his
Majesty’s and Company’s orders meet with the approbation of our supe-
riors, we declare that we will take charge of the churches upon this
Island and officiate in them in the same manner that the Portuguese
Padres have done hitherto. We protest and swear, that we will neither
meddle nor busy ourselves in anything concerning the Government, nor
in any other thing that might anv way prejudice the interest of his
Majesty or the Llon’ble East India Company. We shall, as far as lies
in our power, strive to render the Christian inhabitants Faithful and
Loyal Subjects to his Britannic Majesty and useful servants to the Ilon’ble
Company—That we will make no reform nor alteration in spiritual
affairs without first acquainting the Governor and Council of it. As we
take charge of the said churches, with the intention that the Christians
shall be duly instructed in the Roman Catholic Religion, in the true
worship of God, in their obedience and loyalty to his Britannic Majesty
and Hon’ble East India Company, we humbly request thatthe Hon’ble
the Governor and Council will permit a free and uninterrupted exercise
of the Roman Catholic Religion in the same manner as it has been
hitherto upon this Island. We also beg the favour of their protection
against those that might in any manner interrupt them in their ecclesias-
tical ceremonies ; and at the same time it may please their honors to
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issue an order in his Majesty’s and Hon’ble Company’s Name to that
purpose, which will make them quite casy, respected and happy.
We are, etc.,
D. F. Mavricio pE S. Taereza, Bisnor.
F. Pepro pE SS. TRINIDADE
F. ELisev pE ¥. JOSEPH

Both these documents, howeves, had the nature of private pre-
liminarics, which were never published. For some reason or other the
execution of the plan was even then postponed for eighteen months.
When at length everything was ready and the Vicar-Apostolic had come
to Bombay for the purpose, the Governor held a consultation on May
13th, 1720, and placed the Directors’ despatch before the Bombay
(Council, suggesting that in accordance with its advice, authority over
the Rome Catholics should rest in a bishop sent from Rome (Materials,
Vol. I, n. 152). The consultation continues :—

“The Italian Bishop being furnished with proper powers to take
upon him care of the Roman Catholics on the islend, the President now
proposes to the Board rcmoving the Portuguese Padres, agreeable to
paragraph 107 of the Right Honourable Company’s general letter by
the Addison. He lays down several ill-consequences that have risen from
the Portuguese Padres being permitted to reside in Bombay, as reaping
the benefit of the labours of our people and carrying it into foreign coun-
tries ; stirring up the Roman Catholics to sedition, especially when we
have any dispute with the Portuguese, by inculeating notions into them
that they ought not to fight against their religion ; and adding that the
prelates of the Portuguese countries seemed so little to regard their
priests sent to Bombay that the very scum of the priesthpod had been
their pastors for some time. And he proposes supplying the places of
the Portuguese with the said Italian bishop and some priests of the
Carmelite Order now on the island, on their swearing allegiance to the
King, and undertaking that they will not, directly or indirectly, teach,
preach or practice anything contrary to the interests of the Right Honour-
able Company, and that they will in all respects pay a due obedience to
the Governor and Council for the time being. This was unanimously
approved and agreed to. Ordered that the Secretary provide ordersand
a proclamation accordingly.”

THE TAKING-OVER.

On the very same day (May 13th, 1720) a proclamation was publish-
ed requiring the inhabitants of the Roman Catholic religion to pay the
same obedience to the Bishop Don Frey Mauritio D’Sancta Teresa and
the priests appointed by him as they formerly paid to the Portuguese
bishops and priests; and orders were 1ssned to the Portuguese priests to
leave the island in twenty-four hours (Materials, Vol. I, p. 152-153).
The following is the text of the proclamation just referred to :—

“The Hon’ble Don Charles Boone, President of India, Persia and
Arabia by the most Illustrious Company Governor and Commander Gen-

} MisSIONARIES,”
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eral of the Island and Castle of Bombay and its dependencies by his
most serene Majesty.

“Whereas the' said president hath for various good and justified
motives, with the advice and consent of his Council, thought conveni-
ent to remove the Roman Catholic Padres of the Portuguese nation of
this Island of Bombay of his most serene Majesty, and to appoint for
the just and regular exercise of that religion to the most reverend
Bishop Anastaziapoly Don Fr. Mauritius de Santa Thereza, and likewise
with such Padres as he may choose with consent and approbation of
the said President and Governor, to execute in their places all the accus-
tomed functions, rites and ceremonies ; the said President and Governor
doth by these presents command and ordain all and every the inhabitants
of this Island of Bombay and Mahim who profess the faith of Roman
Catholics to observe and obey the said Bishop and the Padres his sub-
jects in the same manner as they formerly observed with the Portuguese
Bishops and Padres, under the fine of being incurred in such penalty
as the said presidents and Governor shall think proper to impose ; and
that it might be so known to them and that none should pledge ignorance,
it is passed under the seal of the most illustrious Company.

Given in this Bombay Castle and published at the sound of the
drum at the public and accustomed places of this Island and affixed at
the market of the said Bombay this 33th May 1720. God save the
King.

“By order of the Most Excellent the Hon’ble Charles Boone, Presi-
dent of India, Persia and Arabia by his most illustrious Company Gov-
ernor and Commander General of the Island and Castle of Bombay and
its dependencies by his most serene Majesty.

Joun lorNE, Secretary.”

Three days later the Italian Bishop and his priests took the oath
required of them, in the following terms :—

I. “I Don Mauricio de 8. Thereza Bishop of Anastaziapoly Apos-
tolical Vicar General of the Grand Mogol’s Empire, as also of the Island
of Bombay and its dependencies ; do make oath on the H. Evangelist,
that at all times I will pay implicit obedience to his Britannic Majesty,
that I will not directly or indirectly insinuate nor maintain anything
whatever contrary to the honour and dignity of his Britannic Majesty,
nor to the interest of the Hon’ble East India Company, that I will pay
due obedience into all orders issued by the Governor and his successors
at all times, that T will teach the Roman Catholic faith in its purity
without making any alterations whatsoever. Given under my hand this
39th of May 1720. Don F. Mauricio DE SA THEREZA, Bisnor.”

II. “We F. Pedro de SS. Trinidade and F. Eliseu de S. Joseph,
Apostolical Missionaries and Vicars of the churches of the Island of
Bombay and Mahim, do make oath upon the H. Evangelist, that at all
times we will pay implicit obedience unto his Britannic Majesty ; that we
will not directly nor indirectly insinuate nor maintain anything what-
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soever, contrary to the honour or dignity of his Britannic Majesty nor
tho interest of the Hon'ble East India Company ; that we shall pay due
obedience unto all orders issued by the Governor and his successors at
all times; that we will teach the Roman Catholic faith in its purity
without making the least alteration whatever. Given under our hands
this J¢th day of May 1720.
F. Pepro DE SS. TRINIDADE,
F. ELESEU DE S. JOSEPH,
THE PORTUGUESE PROTEST.

On hearing of these proceedings Louis Gonsalves de Camara Coutinho,
Portuguese General of the North, addressed from Bassein the following
letter to the President and Governor :—

“The surprising resolution that your Honour has taken to banish to
this side all the parish priests of your Island, is what I much admire and
wonder at, by reason of the weighty charge the Bishop Don Frey Mauritio
has taken on him in offering with his assistants to administer the sacra-
ments, they not having the necessary powers. I consider on this parti-
cular that your Honour has been misinformed or moved thereto by some
high resentment. This T judge not only from the expulsion of these
religious, but from the scandalous manner in which it was done, which
I also judge from the assurance given me that your Honour has passed
orders that no priest of the Portuguese nation shall come to your island.
As T am at present obliged to send two learned prudent priests to treat
on this important affair, T hope, on your Honour’s consideration of the
weighty circumstances thereof, you will permit them to come in your
presence and there to dispute and discuss the point of royal patronage
and the ecclesiastical jurisdiction with the Bishop.” .

To this letter the Governor Mr. Boone replied as follows :—

“Ilittle expected to have received from your Honour an expostula-
tion on the justice of my proceedings against the parish priests late of
this Island, much less to have my conduct thereon questioned, as you
have pleased to do in your letter of the 31st May 1720 N. 8. Yet being
resolved as much as in me lies to prevent a misunderstanding and to
cultivate the friendly correspondence I have always desired to hold with
your Honour, I shall, as a fresh instance thereof, acquaint you that this
proceeding was not only the just effect of their own misbehaviour and
the carnest longings of the people in general but also a strict command
from my superiors, agreeable to the orders of my sovereign Lord King
of Great Britain who is supreme in all causes and over all persons
resident on this land. To this I presume your Honour is no stranger,
though you have thought fit to make mention of any royal personage
which I have no power to admit or suffer to have any control or juris-
diction here, and my resolutions herein are strictly conformable to the
articles stipulated by the two sovereigns crowns on the delivery of
Bombay, as your Honour may perceive by the enclosed copy of the
article of the treaty of marriage. Whoever insinuated to your Honour

} Missionaries.”
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that those priests were sent ignominiously or scandalously off the island
have represented that action in a very injurious manner. The guard
that attended them on that occasion was to prevent a disturbance,
which one of them endeavoured to raise in the minds of the people
whom he indiscreetly strove to stir up to sedition. As this circumstance
has been unfairly represented to your Honour, so I find a misconstruc-
tion is passed on other parts of the resolutions I have taken. I will,
however, assure your Honour I never meant to hinder any of the people
of your nation or subject to you having frec access to this island and
residing as long as they think fit, more especially such as shall be (con-
formable to the limitation) that I cannot permit them to neglect, (namely
not to gainsay) Bishop Don Frey Mauritio in the rights and privileges I
have lately invested him with here. That is a point all determined and
justly due to his learning and integrity. Of the powers he has for this
purpose reccived from Rome, he will by my permission send a copy to
the Archbishop of Goa” (Materials, Vol. I, p. 153-155).
MUTUAL REPRISALS.

The rejoinder of the Bussein General to this letter of Governor Boone
was the issue of an order forbidding the passage of supplies from Por-
tuguese territory, and cnjoining the arrest of any British subjects enter-
ing Bassein limits ; in answer to which the English Government publish-
ed a proclamation ordering “all persons who have estate: on the island
and live in other parts to repair hither in 21 days,” in default of which
their estates were appropriated by the crown, and a rule made (already
quoted above) that “no one who is not an inhabitant of the island shall
for the future purchase any estates in Bombay (Materials, Vol. I, p. 158).
There even,arose a kind of desultory war between the two powers:
“Lively skirmishes then took place between Mahim and Sion forts on
the English side and Bandra Fort (St. Anne’s College ?) on the Por-
tuguese side. These lasted by fits and starts until 1722 when an alliance
was patched up between the two nations against the pirate Angria” ; but
even then there was another incidental outburst in 1724 (Cf. D’Sa History
of Damaun Diocese, p. 50).

Of the number of clergy exiled from Bombay we have no available
record, nor do we know to what place they were deported —apparently
they were shipped to Bassein. The total number in the island could
hardly have been more than seven or cight at the most—all of whom
were Franciscans, except the one Jesuit at Parel. As to the secular
priests on the island, the Governor gave them the choice of submitting to
the Vicar-Apostolic and continuing in their posts, or of leaving the island;
and it seems that a certain number of them remained.

The parish churches of the Island taken over by the Carmelites in
1720 were four in number, as follows :—

(1) Esperanga near the Fort.

(2) N. 8. da Gloria, Mazagon,

(3) Salvagito, Dadar,
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(4) St. Michael’s, Mauhim.

To these must be added the Chapel of N. 8. de Conceigio at Sion,
formerly filial to Parel. But as Parcl Chapel had been confiscated from
the Jesuits, this chapel of Sion must have become filial to St. Michael’s,

Mahim.

PART II.
PADROADO, PROPAGANDA AND THE VICARIATES
CHAPTER I
PADROADO AND PROPAGANDA DEFINED,

Tae expulsion of the Portuguese c¢lergy from Bombay Island, and
the introduction of Fre Maurice of St. Teresa and the Carmelite clergy in
their place, was the event which gave existence to our “Bombay Mission,”
in the sense intended by this history—to which the previous Portugucbe
mission-work stands as a preamble. The “Bombay Mission” in its
origin was not a new foundation, but the taking over of an ecclesiastical
unit already fully constituted and organised. The Archbishop of Goa, to
whose diocese the whole of the Bombay neighbourhood belonged, was
for political reasons to be excluded from exercising his jurisdiction over
Bombay Island by the action of the English civil power. The Catholics
of the island would therefore be deprived of pastors and spiritual ministra-
tions. Someone or other must come to the rescue for the upkeep of
religion, at least by way of a provisional or stop-gap arrangement. The
Vicar-Apostolic of the Great Mogul was near at hand in Surat. He was
free from Portuguese affinities ; he had the time and a few men at his
disposal. The English Government made him the offer and the Vicar-
Apostolic accepted it, subject to the sanction of Rome, which was given.
Henceforth, so long as the Archbishop of Goa and his clergy were
barred out of the place, Bombay was added to the Vicariate of the Great
Mogul, and passed for the time from the Royal Patronage of the King of
Portugal to the charge of the Congregation de Propaganda Fide. Hence
four questions on which any reader fresh to the subject needs enlighten-
ing :—

(1) What was the Royal Patronage popularly called “Padroado 2

(2) What was the Congregation de Propaganda Fide, popularly
called “Propaganda 7

(3) What were the relations, theoretical and practical, which subsist-
ed hetween the two ?

(4) What finally was the Vlcar-Apostohc of the Great Mognl %
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The understanding of these four questions is the key to the whole
history of the Bombay Mission. We shall answer them, not in the way
of an exhaustive treatise, but by a clean-cut outline sketch such as will
be most useful for the undgrstanding of the beginnings of our history
—fuller developments of the subject being held back till they are wanted.
In this exposition we shall not be afraid of being too clementary ; for
in our experience it is chiefly tprough ignorance of the bare elements
that the whole history of the jurisdiction-conflict in India has been so
badly misunderstood. Instead of assuming that our readers know a
good deal about the subject already, we shall rather go to the opposite
extreme of writing as if they knew nothing at all.

I “PADROADO.”

Padroado is merely the Portuguese word for “patronage,” which
essentially consists in the faculty (common in the Church) of nominating
a candidate for some ecclesiastical office—in this case the bishopric of
a See. If this patronage is given to a king it is called a Royal patron-
age, that is all.  Let us now see how this Royal patronage came ahout :—

In the almost feverish rush for new countries which arose in Europe
in the 15th and 16th centuries, Spain and Portugal took the lead by
along way. Other nations such as England, Holland, Krance, only woke
up to » the idea when Spain had already appropriated the whole of Mexico
and Central America and the western part of South America, while
Portugal had taken possession of Brazil and (in the broad sense) the
coasts of Africa, India, Malacca, Siam, China and Japan. I say “in
the broad sense,” because the actual territories occupied were in many
cases exceedingly small—often mere plots for a factory or a fort as
centres of trade —nor did they ever (in the East) extend their dominion
very far round these centres. These points of occupation were however
enough to give them the advantage of first possession, which in those
days carried with it a certain right of monopoly against later comers,

THI FOUNDING OF SLES,

Ecclesiastical organisation followed on civil exploration. In the
first place Goa, which as the Portuguese capital only came into ex-
istence in 1510, was in 1534 erected into a bishopric having jurisdiction
over all actual and future Portuguese discoveries from the Cape of Good
Hope to China. So vast a diocese sounds of course ridiculous, but it
represented an idea and a principle. As soon as other colonial centres
were established, it was cut into parts by the formation of separate
dioceses, e. g., Malacca in 1557, Macao in 1576, Funai in Japan 1588,
the Prelacy of Mazambique in 1612, the Diocescs of Nankin and Pekin
in 1690.

India itself was also divided up in the following way :—(1) The
Diocese of Cochin, separated off in 1557, comprising the south of the
Peninsula and Ceylon. (2) The Diocese of Angamale (Cranganore) on
the Malabar coast created in 1600, for the St. Thomas or ‘Syrian”
Christians only. (3) The Diocese of San Thome of Mylapore created in

L]
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1606, extending over the east coast from a little below Madras, and
northwards up to Orissa and Bengal and even to Burma.

Whatever parts of India were not placed under these suffragan
dioceses remained to the Archdiocese of Goa, which, starting from below
(annanore, comprised the west coast northwards from Goa, the Carnatic
and Decean and Central India inland, and the northern areas of Hindu-
stan, ete. The northern mission fields, within this vast area covered only
the coast strip from Chaul past Bombay and up to about Damaun as
already described ; with Diu lying separate in Kathiawar, and sporadic
outposts at Agra, Delhi, ete., in connection with the Mogul Court.

As the work of the Church in all these newly discovered countries was
carried on by the Portuguese, the popes conferred, first on the Grand
Master of the Order of Christ, and afterwards on the Portuguese King,
the canonical right of patronage over the Sees thus established in all
parts of the East.

THE BULLS OF FOUNDATION.

The bulls erecting the various Sces conferred on the King of Portugal
the right of patronage in the following terms :—

(1) The See of Goa, 1534, ranging from the Cape of Good Hope
to India and from India to China, with all the town and places on
mainland or islands discovered or yet to be discovered (repertis et
reperiendis).  The right of patronage and presentation to the See and
to ecclesiastical posts and benefices (B.P.P. I 48).

(2) The samme See raised to an Archbishopric, 1557. The right of
patronage already given, and based on foundation or endowment or
apostolic privilege, is in no way derogated, and is confirmed to the
king in perpetuity (191). .

(3) The See of Cochin by separation from Goa, 1557. The right of
patronage and presentation (to See and posts and benefices) based on
mere foundation and endowment, is reserved and conceded to the king
in perpetuity, and cannot be taken away; and if any one should
by any authority knowingly or unknowingly [attempt to] take it away,
such derogation would have no force but would be null and void (193).

(4)  The Sec of Malacca by separation from Goa, 1557. The right of
patronage expressed in the same terms (196).

(5) The See of Macao, 1575. The right of patronage and present-
ation (to See and posts and benefices) is based on mere foundation
and endowment ; and it cannot be derogated even by the Holy See itself,
nor be regarded as derogated, unless the king for the time being gives
his express consent ; and such derogation [if attempted] would have
no force, but wonld be null and void (245).

(6) The Sce of Funai in Japan, 1588. The right of patronage in the
same terms. It cannot be derogated even by the 1loly See, not even in
consistory (251).

() The See of Angamale by separation from Cochin, 1600. The
right of patronage and presentation is based on true, mere and real
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endowment, and cannot be derogated even by the Holy See itself,
except with the express consent of the king for the time heing, cte.
(260).

(8) The Sec of Mylapore by separation from Cochin, 1606. The
right of patronage and presentation is based on mere foundation and
endowment. It cannot be derogated even by the Holy See itself,
unless with the express conseny of the king for the time being, ctc.
II 4).

( Such are the te ms in which the jus patronatus was conferred upon
the King of Portugal, overdioceses in India and the far East up to
Japan. These dioceses covered not only the very small pieces of land
over which Portugal had temporal dominion, but also immense areas
around and beyond their boundaries, potentially including remote
regions in which no Iuropean had ever set foot, or was in any practical
prospect of doing %o at the time.

M. “PROPAGANDA.”

Shortly after the year 1600 it hecame clear ihat Portuguese mis-
sionary enterprise was exhausting itself, and that there was not the
least likelihood of really adequate measures being taken towards the
conversion of the vast countries of the East which had been placed
under the dioceses of the Royal patronage of Portugal. The Holy Sce
soon realised the necessity of providing for this further object by
other means. llence the crection (in 1622) of a special congregation
de Propaganda Fide, wnder which the missionary energies of the various
religious orders of other nationalities could be distributed to all those
parts of the pagan world which the cxisting missionary personnel and
resources were unable to reach.

Accordingly from the year 1622 different nationalities of missionaries
and different orders were enlisted and sent to India, Malacca, Siam,
China, etc., under the headship of Vicars-A postolic—vtz., titular bishops
receiving direetly from the Holy See jurisdiction to work in certain
districts assigned to them within the somewhat indeterminate circum-
scriptions of the existing Padroado dioceses. Tn addition to this, certain
Legates a latere, Visitators Apostolic or Commissaries were from time
to time appointed by the Hcly See to make tours of inspection, or to
investigate certain questions which had avisen in the mission fields.

Not being engagedt ex professo on the history of this subject, it will
be sufficient if we give a general idea of the extent to which this
was done. Turning over the index of the Bullurium Patronalus we
here jot down places and dates at which Propaganda Missionaries,
Vicars-Apostolic, Commissaries and Delegates appear: Japan 1627 ;
Bijapur 1637 ; Malabar 1657, 1659 ; Nankin, Tonkin and Cochin-China
1659 ; Visitator for all Asia 1660 ; Siani 1669; Canara 1671; Cochin-
China 1671 ; China, Cambodia 1673 ; China 1677 ; Visitator to Cranganore
1687; Borneo 1692; Visitator to India and Cliina 1701-1710 ; a second
Visitator to China 1719; and others later.
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III. PADROADO AND PROPAGANDA.

When this list of missions and commissions, proceeding directly from
the Holy See as part of the Propaganda programme, is compared with
the list (previously given) of the dioceses already established under the
Portuguese Royal patronage, we realise that all these emissaries of
the Pope were sent to work in areas which were at least vaguely com-
prised within the dioceses patronised by the king. The Legates, Visitators
and Commissaries came into those dioceses from a higher plane, as
representatives of the Holy See, and therefore in a position of superi-
ority to the local bishops. The Vicar-Apostolic and their missionaries
entered the same dioceses, not invited by the bishops or authorised and
appointed by them, but as exempted persons endowed with authority
aud jurisdiction direet from the Holy Sce. These, if they presented
their credentials to the bishops at all, did so rather for information
than anything else. Their right and power to work in the districts of
the diocese assigned to them was derived immediately from the Holy
See ; and nothing was expected from the local bishops except a recogni-
tion and acknowledgment of the orders of the Pope, and an implicit
acquiescence therein as soon as the orders were known. It was a clear
case of the Pope exercising his supreme authority to qualify and super-
sede for the time the ordinary canonical constitution of the dioceses,
by administrative emergency-measures taken in view of the higher
needs of the Church and of souls.

DIOCESAN CONSTITUTIONS.

In order to make this point clear, let us for the moment confine
ourselves to purely ecclesiastical constitutions, which are always the
same irrespective of whether there is State patronage or noti—

In the first place, a diocese is essentially a piece of territory within
which the hishop has full and exclusive jurisdiction over all Christian
subjects residing in it, and over all clergy working in it whether for
the faithful or for the conversion of non-Christians. Religious orders
may be exempted [rom his jurisdiction personally and within their own
houses. But as soon as they begin to work for souls in the diocese,
they require the sanetion and fall under the jurisdiction of the bishop
just as the ordinary clergy ; nor can a religious order enter into a diocese
to work in it without his leave.

Sccondly, it is true that the Ioly See, as supreme governor of the
Church, has the power not only to erect dioceses but also to abolish
them, still more to sub-divide or curtail them. But until this is
done in some formal and official manner, the ecstablished boundaries,
and jurisdictional rights within those boundaries, remain de jure canoni-
cally intact.

Thirdly, where the ecclesiastical authorities of some diocese are
failing for any reason to fulfil the duties and responsibilities of their
position, or if the affairs of a diocese have fallen into disorder and
call for investigation or rectification, the Holy See has the inherent
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right to adopt special measures, not orly in a legislative but also m an
administrative manner: as for instance to suspend or curtail the
bishop’s jurisdiction, or to place the diocese or some part of it pro-
visionally under special administration, or even to depose a bishop and
appoint another in his place. That this should be done ‘“‘decently and
in order,” for just and sound reasons, and with tact, prudence and
charity, and an opportunity for, representation, goes without saying.
But when it comes to an issue, the Holy Sec itself is the final judge as
to the rightness of its own acts, and ultimately the Pope’s will and
determination must prevail.

Such are the clemental principles of the constitution of the Church
with regard to dioceses. Krom this it will at once appear that [riction
and contentions could easily arise between the local bishops and the
emissaries of Propaganda, simply on the question of diocesan rights ;
aven if -the bishops were free from all complications with the State,
and if no such thing as a Royal patronage existed.

PATRONAL CONSTITUTIONS,

The existence of a Royal patronage introduces a new eclement
into the case. The Royal Patron had, in this case at least, the right
of presentation vot only to the See, but also to the ccclesiastical posts,
offices and benefices, and thercfore covered the whole personnel of the
diccese, cven down to individual missionaries and parish priests,
Hence, however justifiable the actions of the Holy See might have
been as emergency wezsures, and in view of more general interests ;
still every appointment of a Vicar-Apostolic or missionary to a district
within a Padroado diocese, was technically an overriding and supersed-
ing of the functions of the Royal Patron. and thercfore capable of
becoming a point ol contention, unless the Royal Patron recognised
the propriety of the papal measures and was willing to acquiesce in
them. On the éontrary, the Royal Patron might take his stand on
rights, privileges, laws or customs inherited trom the past, while the
Holy See might regard insistence on those rights, privileges, laws or
customs as unjustified ov detrimental to the interests of religion ; and
so the most undesirable situations might arise, as did actually arise in
the history which lies before us,

The distinction just drawn between the matter of diocesan rights
and of patronal rights is of the greatest importance for the under-
stunding of our history ; for sometimes the contention turns on one,
sometimes on the other, and sometimes on both,
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CHAPTER 11
THE PATRONAGE AND TIilE PLACITUM,

LeaviNg aside for the present all discussion of the principles in-
volved in conflicts over diocesan rights, we pass on to the other half of
the subject, namely, the kind of contention which was liable to arise on
the ground of patronal rights. o

In its cssence the Royal Patronage, as conceded by the bulls of
foundation, did not mean much more than this : (1) The right of present-
ing hishops to the Sees, for acceptance and appointment by the Pope.
(2) The right of presenting, or controlling presentation to diocesan posts
and henefices. (3) The right ol supervising the use of the funds bestowed
on the dioceses or churches from the Royal Kxchequer. But in practice
(though not inherently) it carried with it more than this. 'The king as
patron was the great collaborateur with the Pope for the spread of the
Gospel, and was in the Pope’s confidence ; so that not only was he asked
for help in the way of men, money and passages by ship, but he was
consulted, and his views and wishes seconded ; and whatever the popes
proposed to do was placed before the king for his agreement and further-
ance.

AN HISTORICAL ANALOGY,

Hence arose a situation somewhat similar to that in Fngland at the
time of the Norman Conquest. William the Conqueror was regarded by
the Poj.e as a great champion and patron of the Church ; and bemg re-
cognised as such he was allowed to have much of his own way in its
management. This was all very well so long as Pope and King were
ot one mind and one will. But as soon as differences arose, a strained
relation grew up between Church and State as represented by Pope and
King. What before had been services of the King came to be claimed
ag rights of the State, which soon clashed with the rights of the Church;
whenee followed a period of conflict between the two powers which lasted
for centuries.

Something of the same sort happened as soon as the Pope, by estab-
lishing the Congregation ot Propaganda in 1622, inaugurated a free move-
ment of missionary work conducted indepen-dently of Portugal. The
patallel is not of course exact, because in the case of the Norman kings
there was no Royal Patronage formally established by Apostolic consti-
tutions, as was the case with the kings of Portugal. The parallel lies
only in the points indicated, namely, that in both eases the State claimed
as rights what the popes viewed rather as privileges ; and what the Pope
regarded as an exercise of the liberty of the Church, the King regarded
as an encroachment on the State.

When it came to a clash, the weapons nsed by the two royalties were
practically about the same. The No:man kings forbade appeals to Rome
and tried to divert them to the Royal Court. They also tried to cut off
commaunication hetween the Pope and the bishops by making it illegal to
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introduce papal bulls into the kingdom, and by intercepting them at the
ports. The kings of Portugal were more “constitutional” in their me-
thods. They rested their case on the rights and privileges accorded to
them by the apostolic bulls of the patronage which “could not be derogat-
ed even by the lloly See itself without the royal consent,” as well as
customs and usages which had been in long pos<ession. As soon as the
popes began their free admimastrative acts, such as appointing Viears-
Apostolic or Delegates or Clommissaries to function in Padroado areas,
they saw in such independent actions an encroschment on their roval
rights, privileges or customs, to be resisted as an injury and an injustice.
THE REGIUM PLACITUM.

The instrument they made use of in this resistance was something
altogether distinet from the jus patronatus, namely the regium placitum
claimed by them as an inherent right of the State. The Regium Placitum,
otherwise called the “placet,” “beneplacet,” or “exequatur,” was in its
fully developed form a claim of the State (as by right) to exercise cen-
sorship on Papal bulls, briefs, decrees or instructions communicated to
the bishops or clergy—in such a way that unless they hore the signature
or sanction of the king, they could not legally be introduced. accepted,
published or put into execution within the kingdom. 1f such docunents
did happen to come to their destination unsanctioned hy the king, they
were to he treated by bishops, clergy and people as nul' and void, and
ignored just as if they did not exist.

This formidable organ of State control seems to have had quite an
innocent origin. At the time of the Great Western Schism (1378-1417),
in order to guard against spurious papal letters issued by Antipopes,
Pope Urbap VI conferred on certain ecclesiastical superiors the faculty
of examining papal constitutions, and ascertaining their anthenticity be-
fore promulgation and execution. Various civil authorities, out of loyalty
to the true Pope, felt bound to adopt the same precaution ; not as a cen-
sorial right over papal acts, but as a means of distinguishing the genuine
from the spurious. Apparently the practice was discontinned when, after
the schism, Martin V condemned the regiwm placet in his Constitution of
1418, Shortly afterwards, however, it wus revived in Portugal by John
1T and claimed by him as a right inherent in the Crown ; “who however,
when condemned on this account, humbly submitted” (Conte a Coronata,
Jus Publicum Eccl : p. 171). But the reginm placitum still continued to
be exercised in Portugal, and the same idea and policy gradually spread
to other countries.  (See Catholic Encyclopedia sub tit. Exequatur).

THE PLACITUM CONDEMNED.

Although the Holy See acquiesced in the actual application of the
regium placet in connection with the exercise of the patronage, at a time
when the two powers were working harmoniously together, the thing itself
as a right or principle was never admitted by the Church. In fact it was
expressly condemned not only (as already mentioned) by Martin V in 1418
but previously by Boniface IX (1389-1404) and afterwards hy several
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pontifts down to Pius IX in the Syllabus, as well as in the Vatican Council,
and finally by Leo XIUI in 1877, as the following quotations will show :—

(1) The Vatican Council : “Morcover out of that supreme power of
the Roman Pontitf to govern the universal Church there emerges, in
exercise of this function, the right of [ree communication with pastors
and flock of the whole Church, so that they may be taught and ruled
by him in the way of salvation. Therefore we condemn and reprobate
those opinions which hold that this communication by the Supreme Head
with the pastors and flocks can be licitly imneded, or which render it
subject to the secular power; so that, as they contend, those things
which are determined by the Holy See or by his authority have no force
or validity unless they are confirmed by the placitum of the secular
power” (Denziger No. 1829).

(2) Leo XIII Allocution [877 : *“We altogether condemn and protest
against that unjust law called the reginm placitum, openly declaring that
by it the divine authority of the Church is injured and its liberty violated”
(Denziger No. 1817).

ITS USE IN THE KAST.

So far for the regium placitum in itsclf. As regards our history, we
have quite a series of examples showing that the reception meted out to
the Vicars-Apostolic, Delegates and Missionaries sent from the Tloly See,
through Propagauda or directly by the Pope, was in first instance deter-
mined by the simple test question : “Do your credentials bear the Royal
placet, or are they accompanied by a letter of recommendation from the
King or the Viceroy ¢ For lack of such royal certification the Delegate
a latere, Tournon, was systematically opposed and thwarted in India and
China (1704-1710) ; whereas his successor, sent out in 1719 fortified by the
Royal placet, received cordial welcome and furtherance.

Similarly in 1714 some Capuchins in Chandarnagore were refused
sanction for a chapel on the ground that the bull of their commission had
not passed through the chancery of Portugal ; and many other instances
could be added.

At the same time it must be borne in mind that the regium placitum
was something quite distinct from the jus patronatus. The Portuguese
suthorities regarded the sending of the Vicars-Apostolie, ete., as an
encroachment on the rights of the patronage, and they merely used the
regium placibon as an instrument for the enforcement of those rights.
Even if no regium placitum had existed, there would have been resistance
all the same. Hence the two questions have to be kept altogether apart.
The condemnation passed by the Church on the regium placitom merely
falls upon the instrument used in defence of the Padrcado, without
thereby affecting the controversy regarding the rights or wrongs of that
defence looked at in itself.

THE WIDESPREAD CONFLICT.
One of the important points to realise is that the Padroado vs Pro-
paganda question in India was only one local element in the Padroado vs.
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Propaganda question in every part of the world where the Portugunese
held <way: Malacca, Siam, Cambodia, Annam, Cochin-China, China,
Japan, etc., wherever the Roval Patronage existed and Vicars-Apostolic
were sent. From the very beginnings of the Propaganda movement,
commencing from 1622, Vicars-Apostolic to China, Siam, ete., were reject-
ed and impeded, either because they had not received the placitum re-
gium, or because they had come to the Kast in other than Portuguese
ships, Those fortified by the regium plucitum were, moreover, only
allowed to proceed to their destinations after signing a bond on oath to
obay the orders of the Royal Patron and not to do anything prejudicial
to the rights of the patronage; and within the Portuguese dominions,
those of other nationalities were required to take an oath of allegiance to
the king, under pain of confiscation and banishment.

The Holy See sometimes deemed it expedient to accommodate
itself to the demands of the Padroado authorities by making the Vicars-
Apostolic, Delegates or Missionaries show their bulls and commissions
to the Royal Patron and secure his permission and commendatory letters,
and take passage by Portuguese ships from Lisbon ; and where this was
done, generally speaking no obstacles were raised. Still as a system it
was unworkable, especially as clergy of various other nationalities were
concerned. The rule of all missionaries going to the Kast through Por-
tugal enabled the Portugnese civil power to exclude any missionary of
other nationality whom they did not wish to pass through. It meant
that the missionaries had first to show their papal credentials to the king
and get his placet ; which enabled the king to impede any plan of the
Holy See which did not fall in with his own wishes. Fven if the royal
placet was given, it was easy to find no room in the Portuguese ships, and
_keep back missionaries indefinitely.

On arrival in the East the Vicars-Apostolic could not escape the
Portuguese agents of the Inquisition, who were in every port, and would
not let them pass on to their destinations till they had shown their
credentials ; and unless these credentials bore the placet of the king, they
were of course ipso fuclo treated as null and void.  In this way Viears-
Apostolic were held up helpless, and were sometimes even suspected or
accused of heresy and put under eeclesiastical censure.  In the same or
other cases the commissions of the Vicars-Apostolic were viewed as an
encroachment not only on the civil rights of the Crown, but also on
the primatial or diocesan rights of the local bishops, and were therefore
treated as invalid, null and void on this account also.

A SUMMING UP.

Had no State patronage existed—had the bichops been free agents
under the sole management of the head of the Church,—they might
indeed have protested and made representations and secured com-
promises ; but if the popes had held to their programme the bishops must
necessarily have obeyed in the end. But there was the State patronage
in the background, under which those bishops had been appointed and
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on which they practically depended. Hence they deemed it their duty
to uphold the normal canonical prerogatives of their Sees, not merely as
bishops but al«o as subjects of the Crown. Even where they might have
been personally disposed to render implicit obedience to the ruler of the
Church_ their hands were tied by their allegiance to the ruler of their
country, whose rights, privileges and customs of the patronage they felt
by virtue of theu‘ poqtlon bound to maintain, and would have been
punished for not doing so

Such was the s.ltu.mon. While abstaining altogether from entering
into any present discnssion on the merits of the case, this much at least
we believe can be said : It was not, in the minds o[ these who figured
in the conflict, a mere question of obedience to the Holy See wversus
disobedience to him, The Padroado authorities seem to have been con-
vinced at the time that they were right, just as fully ag the popes were
convinced that they were right. A serene and confident sense of being in
the right reveals itself in all the Padroado documents of the period which
we have so far met with ; and of course this carried with it a corresponding
conviction that the popes were acting wrongly, and that it was the duty
of the Padroado authorities to bring home to them that they were wrong.
The rights, privileges and customs of the patronage rested on Apostolic
constitutions and long pacific possession ; and whatever might be the
fundamental or ultimate right of the Pope to abrogate them for justifying
reasons, such abrogations had not been made in the formal manner
which was lo be expected. Instead of that the popes were overriding
these rights, privileges and eustoms by merely administrative acts, which
the Padreado authoritics maintained they had a practical right to resist.

It was, in short, the case of two parties conlronting each other from
different points of view—the one taking its stand on the foundation-
prineiples of the constitution of the Church, and the inalienable supremacy
and liberty of the Holy See to govern the Church without hindrance from
any earthly power ; the other party taking its stand on the concrete
terms of a convention or contract entered into with the State, which
was still in possession and binding on the parties who had made it, and
which even the Holy See had declared jtself unable to rescind except by
the consent. and agreement of the State. In this conflict each party
acted according to the logic of its position and from its own point of
view ; and as the matter was not at the time discussed on grounds of
principle, but simply worked out through the medium of concrete acts,
the result was a strained relation and often a complete smpasse. This
wmpasse lay not so much between Portugal and the Holy See, both of
whom pursued their respective policies with the quiet persistency of a
game of chess. It lay vather between the Vicars-Apostolic and the local
Padroado authoritics, whenever circamstances threw them into contact
with each other.
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CHAPTER III.
A CATENA OF EVENTS (1622-1720.)

IN order to give a concrete aspect to the general description just
outlined, we have here gathered together a catena of Papal acts and
other events which took place during the period under consideration,
i. e., between the establishment of Propaganda in 1622 and the coming
of the Carmelites into Bombay Island in 1720 :--

—1622. Gregory XV, after a formative process lasting about forty
years, formally establishes the Congregation de Propaganda Fide.

—1627. Urban VI1L (in regard to Japan) orders religious mission-
aries to obey the deerees of Propaganda under pain of censure (B.P.P.
I1. 43).

—1633. Urban VIII, finding that former papal decrees, which forbade
missionaries to go to the East except through Portugal, were an
impediment to the work of the Church, declares them free to go by
other routes than by Portugal, and those who impede them incur
excommunication (48).

—-1637. A Brahmin Oratorian of Goa appointed Vicar-Apostolic of
Bijapur; and a conflict arose at once between him and the Goa author-
ities.

—-1642. The King of Portugal issues a decree against foreign
missionaries sent by Propaganda to India, especially against the [talian
and Spanish Carmelites, the Theatines in Goa and the Capuching in
Madras.

—-1619, Fre Ephrem the Capuchin imprisoned by the Inquisition
for using jurisdiction at Madras independently of Padroado.

—-1652. The Court of Portugal forbids all Portuguese subjects to
execute any Bull or Pontifical vescript which does not bear the regium
placitum,  (D’Sa, Damaun, p. 160).

—1656. Alexander VIT sends a Carmelite (Joseph of S. Maria) to the
Church of Angamale and recommends him to the Archbishop of Cranga-
nore. The Carmelites are to try and bring back the Syrian scceders
to the obedience of the Archhishop of (‘ranganore (81-85).

—1659. Alexander VII. On the death of the Archbishop of Cran-
ganore the same Carmelite is made commissary and ordered to consecrate
two Vicars-Apostolic to administer the diocese (96-99).

—1669. Clement 1X. All missionaries sent by Propaganda are
ordered to show their credentials to the Vicar-Apostolic of the district in
which they work (120).

—1670. Clement IX adds Golkonda and Pegu (Burma) to the
Vicariate-Apostolic of Bijapur (124).

—1671. Clement X cancels a censure of the Inquisition passed on
the Vicar-Apostolic of Cochin-China (128).
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—1673. Clement X, finding that the Inquisition has been vexatiously
obstructing the Vicars-Apostolic of China and their missionaries, says
that the object of the Inquisition is not to create obstacles but to remove
them, and declares that the Vicars-Apostolic are entirely exempted
from the jurisdiction of the Inquisition outside the temporal dominions
of the king of Portugal (132). He writes to the Archbishop of Goa as
follows : It is reported that the papal bulls issued to certain French
Vicars-Apostolic have been declared subreptitious by the officers in
Siam ; and that they have not only been forced to show their bulls (as
if they were subject to a chapter and not directly to the Holy See)
but that eertain Christians in intercourse with them have been excom-
municated and fined. Tle hopes that this has been done out of
ignorance and not out of disobedience. He instructs the Archbishop of
Goa to forbid such officials, under grave penalties, to exercise in future
any act of jurisdiction over the said Vicars-Apostolic outside the temporal
dominions of the King of Portugal, and to order them on the contrary
to treat the Vicars-Apostolic with special reverence as immediately
dependent on the Toly See, and to help on their pious efforts with
due charity (133). By another brief Clement X in the same year
officially and fully exempts the Vicars-Apostolic and their missionaries
from the control of the Inquisition in all places not subject to the
King of Portugal, in order that all obstacles may be removed and the
workers for the spread of the faith may be relieved of undue oppressions
and troubles (136).

~-1672. The Court of Portugal orders the Viceroy of Goa to scize
any bishop or missionary sent by Propaganda and to despatch him to
Portugal (D’Sa, India II. VL)

—1673. Clement X confirms previous decrees allowing inissionaries
to proceed to their fields of labour otherwise than by Portugal (142).

—1673. Clement X, finding that divisions and schisms have arisen
in various parts of the Far Fast, orders under pain of exconununication
that no one shall ask for, procure oraccept from any Primate, Arch-
bishop, bishop, chapter, cte., appointments to such posts as viear-
general or forane, visitator, or any other title or dignity in  places
assigned to Viears-Apostolie (145).

—1673.  Clement X confirms and renews the previous briefs of Alex-
ander VI[ and Clement IX and the deerces of Propaganda as to the ex-
emption and freedom of the Viears-Apostolic (147).

—1674. Clement X desires to obviate all contentions between the
local Bishops of India or other parts and the Vicars-Apostolic, by re-
moving and fully exempting the latter from the jurisdiction of all
Ordinaries in the places assigned to them, reserving the future right
of the Congregation of Cardinals to decree otherwise (158). In another
brief he orders the bishops of India and other parts of the Rast, by
apostolic authority and under the virtue of holy obedience, to observe
all the Apostolic constitutions and decrees of Propaganda under penalties
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to be imposed by the same congregation (159). Tn a third brief he
forbids all bishops in India, etc., and their officials or ministers, to
exercise any act of jurisdiction over the Vicars-Apostolic ; since they
are the delegates of the lfoly Sce holding exclusive jurisdiction (privative
quoad omnes) in the provineces assigned to them (160). Finally those
who attempt to impede the Vicars-Apostolic in the exercise of their
jurisdiction in the places assigned to them are subject to ecclesiastical
censures (161).

—1674. The Holy See appoints Thomas de Castro, Vicar-Apostolic of
Canara (south of Goa). The Archbishop of Goa rejects the papal brief
as spurious or subreptitious, and denounces de Castro as an intruder.

—1677. Innocent XI. In reference to a Krench Vicar-Apostolic
sent to China and iwmprisoned in the Philippines by the Spanish
authorities, the Pope declares that the perpetrators have incurred eccle-
siastical censures and penalties (175).

—1678. Tnnocent XI orders that missionaries under Propaganda
shall take an oath to the Vicars-Apostolic to obey the orders given
by the Holy See; and that it any Ordinaries of India, cte., or princes
or Catholic kings complain that their rights and privileges are
thereby violated, they (the missionaries) will not take sides with
them. The orders specially mentioned are those of Alexander VII
and Clement IX and Clement X above quoted (183). In 1680 the
same form of vath is promulgated by a decree of Propaganda (185).

—1682. The King of Portugal imposed an oath of allegiance to
himself and his Patronage on all missionaries irrespective of their
nationality. The Jesuits refused to take this oath, and their refusal
was confirmt:d by Rome. Against Propaganda the King upheld his ex-
clusive right to nominate not only bishops but also all missionaries,
and required the Holy See to remove from lhis dominions all mis-
sionaries not approved by him (oath quoted in Godinho, p. 106).

—1687. Innocent XI appoints a Visitator Apostolic to report on
dissensions and controversies between the Carmelites and the Arch-
bishop of Cranganore in Malabar (189).

—1692. Innocent XII appoints a Vicar-Apostolic in Borneo. We
are told in a footnote, however, that the act was opposed and
nullified by the Padroado authorities as being opposed to the right
of the Portuguese Crown, and destructive of the royal patronage,
and consequently not to be considered or approved; as not deserving
of the regium beneplacitum, and therefore of no effect (200).

—1697. Innocent XII strictly forbids the Archbishop of Goa, and
the other bishops of India and their “ministers,” to exercise any act of
jurisdiction in the kingdoms of Idelkan (==Bijapur) and Golkonda
and of the Great Mogul, on any pretext whatever, or to impede
the Vicars-Apostolic from the exercise of their jurisdiction in those
kingdoms (211).
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-1697. The Court of Portugal requires an oath of Fidelity to the
Rnyal Patron from all Propaganda Missionaries coming to India (D’Sa,
India II. VII.)

—1706. Further controversies between the Archbishop of Cranga-
nore and the Carmelites of Malabar.
—1709. The foreign Carmelites, in Goa who refuse to take this oath,
are expelled from Pmtugum territory «nd their convents confiscated.
THE TOURNON AFFAIR.

—1701. Clement XI appoints Charles Thomas de Tournon, Visitator-
Apostolic for India and China with powers of legate a lutere, to investigate
into the Malabar and Chinese rites, and commends him to the King of
Portugal. He also communicates the appointment to the Archbishop of
Goa and the Bishop of Mylapore, (IIL 5-10). Landing at Pondicherry
Tournnn issued a decree on the Malabar liu-s in 1704, which was pmtvsfed

against by the Archbishop ef Goa, as “ruinous to the missions.” On his
passing to China in 1705, the Bishop of Macao gave him a qualified
welcome and obedience.  But the Visitator proceeded to certain eccle-
siastical acts which soon gave rise to a conflict and state of stress.  Mean~
while in 1706 the Archlnxlwp of Goa issued a pastoral in which he
speaks of Charles Thomas de Tournon as calling  himself  legate a
latere, who has entered the Indian clurches and without experience
changed Jaws and political customs, and violated the jus patronatus
of the serene Majesty of Portugal, and promulgated censures in the
Mylapore diocese and disturbed the people. Sinee then he has invaded
the dioceses of China belonging to the Patronage, and attempted various
ceclesiastical acts which are reserved to the Roval patron.  He has done
all this without any legal exhibition of his bulls and facultics. “From all
this it appears clearly that he has violated ecclesiastical laws and the
patronal rights of the Crown of Portugal. and usurped the vights of our
primatial See.”  Hence the Archbishop declares excommunications issued
by the said Charles Thomas to be invalid; and orders all persons, clerical
or lay, within the orimatial limits, not to obey him or show regard to
his censures until they have first inspected the faculties of his delegation,
Morcover they are to vegard the same Charles Thomas as “cited and
forbidden under pain of excommunication to exereise any act of jurisdie-
tion devogatory to the Royal patronage and to our primateship until the
faculties of his commission are made juridically elearto us” (30). Upon
this Clement XI writes to the Archbishop of Goa telling him that his
faculties do not include the power to annul the acts of the Visitator-
Apostolic Tournon (36).

In 1706 Tournon issues his decree about the Chinese rites (39).
The Bishop of Macao protests and appeals against the act ; but Tournon
declines to accept the appeal (41-43). Tournon in 1707 issucs further ex-
communications and admonitions in Macao. The Bishop of Macao there-
upon publishes a pastoral repudiating the authority of the Visitator. The
Visitator in turn issues a decrec excommunicating the Bishop of Macao
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(52-60) and continues to perlormn ecclesiastical acts (62-70) while the
Bishop of Macao replies by a further decree against him (71).

—1709. The Visitator-Apostolie, on his return from the interior of
China, is confined to his house at Macao by a military guard, and
deprived of all power to exercise his functions. The Pope writes to
the King of Portugal asking him to interfere. Receiving no answer he
writes again, asking at least thad Tournon may be set free in order to
return to Europe (79-85).

—1710.  The Pope writes again twice to the king, but receives no
reply.

--1711. 'The King of Portugal instructs an envoy to ask the Emperor
of China to allow Tournon’s liberation, and orders him to be escorted
back to Lisbon, treating him with the benevolence and veneration due
to his rank and office (R. M. P. p. 10).

—-1711. The Pope (unaware of this act of the king) issues n brief
describing the indignities imposed on the Visitator, confirming his
authority and his acts, and pronouncing all acts against him invalid, while
those who have heen excommunicated by him can only be absolved by
the Holy See, or by the Visitator-Apostolie himself (100). Meantime news
of the death of Tonurnon reaches Ronie; and the Pope writes to the king
asking him duly to punish those who had practically brought the death
on by their illtreatment.

COMMENT ON THE TOURNON AFFAIR.

This Tournon affair is one of the most problematical episodes in
mission history.  The question of the Malabar and Chiuese rites (namely
certain usages which converts were allowed to retain) had been under
debate ever since 1615, A solid body of local opinion—of *“‘the man on
the spot”-—was in theie favour, and considered Tournon’s policy a mis-
taken and disastrous one. But the Popes enforced it, and had to be
obeyed. The resistance to Tournon was mainly ecclesiastical, viz.,
over the question of the rites. The Archbishop of Goa thought his
policy ruinous to the missions in India ; while m China it roused the
ire of the Emperor, so that it was he and not the Padroado authorities
that ordered Tonrnon to be put under military guurd.

Here not only the secular rights of the Royal patronage, but also
the ecclesiastical rights of the bishops ruling their own dioceses were
involved. Although in point of principle the Holy See can send a
Delegate a lalere to supervise and regulate the administration of
dioceses from a higher plane, to whom the bishops are canonically
subject as to the Pope himself; still when the bishops find a new-
comer devoid of practical experience revolutionizing the prevailing
policy of the mission, and exercising ecclesiastical jurisdiction in ways
which the bishops are firmly convinced to be improper and pernicious,
no onc will of course question the right and even duty of the
bishops to protest and appeal, or even to suspend execution or to
ignore censures for the time, with a view of preventing what they
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consider to be an evil, and in order to get matters rectified in the
long run. As a matter of fact, this opposition did lead in the end to a
considerable modification of Tournon’s decrees, though in the main
lines they finally prevailed, and were put into cffect in 1744.

THE CATENA CONTINUED.

—1716. Clement XI, writing to a newly-elected Archbishop of Goa,
among other admonitions exhorts hfm not to transgress the limits of
his jurisdiction and authority, and to beware of the most pernicious
example left to him by his predecessor—For he, to the great oflence of
the faithful and injury to conscicuce, treated with great and habitual
harshness the vicars and missionaries and others deputed by the Iloly
See [special mention of his treatment of Tournon] ordering his subjects
neither to obey him nor any other Viear-Apostolic..lle repeats
that the Viears-Apnstolic are altogether exempt and free from the
jurisdiction and authority of the Archbishop of Goa or any other
Ordinary, and “we therefore forbid you under pain of censure to
exercise any act of jurisdiction aguinst the aforesaid vicars and mis-
sionaries Apostolic, or to appoint any vicars-vara or other ministers
or officials in those places where the Vicars-Apostolic have been con-
stituted Ovdinaries with exclusive jurisdiction- not even in cise of their
death —nor shall vou allow your suffragan bishops to attemwpt to do the
same, We moreover order you that when you find anyone holding
such  posts or  offices (appointed thereto by your predecessors or
sulfragans) you revoke such appointments and remove such persons
from oftice.  And you must not in any way impede the Vicars-Apos-
tolic or Visitators, either now or in future, [rom exercising their
jurisdiction in the places assigned to theni; but rather yoa ought, out
of the reverence and obedience which you owe to the Holy See, to
favour and help them” (148).

—1717 (Oct. 5). Clement XI sends to the Archbishop of Goa a
copy of the faculties conceded to the Viear-Apostolic of the Great
Mogul, Golkenda and Idalean (=Bijapur) to be renewed every seven
years. To the same Vicar-Apostolic he has also conceded the power
to ordain sub titulo missionis subjects of other dioceses without dimis-
sorials from their proper Ordinaries. Ile also announces the appoint-
ment of Fre Maurice of 8. Teresa (at present in Carwar) as Vicar-Apos-
tolic in the aforesaid regions. Hence the duty of the Archbishop of
(toa to recognise him and treat him honourably, and to persuade others
to do the same; so that he (the Viear-Apostolic) may be freed
from the vexations, and troubles which have been imposed on him,
on account of a false rumour fraudulently spread by his opponents, to
the effect that he was neither a true bishop nor a true vicar-apostolic.

—1720. The Portuguese Fathers are expelled from Bombay by the

English Government, and the Vicar-Apostolic of the Great Mogul and
his Carmelites take their place.



CHAPTER 1V.
VICARIATE OF THE GREAT MOGUL (1637-1720.)

In the early period with which we are dealing, the Holy See appoint-
ed three Vicars-Apostolic in India : (1) Bijapur, 1637; (2) Malabar, 1657 ;
(3) Canara, 1671. As our connection with the two latter is slight, we w il
deal with them first, and in a few gvords.

THE VICARIATE OF MALABAR.

This Vicariate was first inaugurated in 1657 by the appointment of a
Carmelite Fre Joseph de S. Maria. Its object was to recall to the Church
a body of St. Thomas Christians who had revolted from the rule of the
Bishops of Cranganore. For this purpose the loyal section had invited the
Carmelites of Goa to come to Malabar; and lloly Sce had sanctioned the
undertaking. In this task of reunion the Carmelites achieved a consi-
derable degree of success. A {ew years later (1663) when the Dutch con-
quered Cochin and expelled the Portuguese, the Carmelites were entrusted
by Rome with the care of the Latin Christians in Dutch territory, while
the Syrians who had been restored to Church unity were left under the
jurisdiction of Cranganore. The Malabar Vicariate only comes into touch
with our history through the fact that, being manned by the same
Order of Carmelites, there was an interchange of missionaries between
the two ; so that Vicars-Apostolic were transferred from one Vicariate to
the other, and one Vicar-Apostolic sometimes administered the other
Vicariate during a vacancy. The Vicariate Apostolic of Malabar soon
afterwards came to be called the Vicariate Apostolic of Verapoly, which
was erected into the Archbishopric of Verapoly in 1886.

. THE VICARTATE OF CANARA.

This Vicariate was first inaugurated by the appointment of Thomas
de Castro, a Brahmin of Divar in Goa, and a nephew of Mattheus de
Castro the first Vicar-Apostolic of Bijapur (of whom later). There was a
good sprinkling of Christians at certain places along the South Canara
coast (Mangalore, 1fonawar, Barcelore, etc.); but when the country was
threatened by the Dutch on sea and the Mahrattason land, the Padroado
clergy, who had been ministering there, retired to Goa, and Propaganda
came to the rescue. As soon as Thomas de Castro arrived in 1674 his
jurisdiction and the genuir eness of his briefs were questioned by the Arch-
bishop of Goa, and he was therefore denounced as an intruder. Thomas
de Castro died in 1684 ; and as no successor was appointed, this Vicariate
passed out of existence. We shall often in our history find references to
Canara ; but always in connection with Karwar in North Canara, whereas
de Castro’s field of work was in South Canara.

THE VICARIATE OF BIJAPUR.

Our only real concern is therefore with the Vicariate Apostolic of
Bijapur, which later on developed into the Vicariate Apostolic of the
Great Mogul. In order tounderstand the meaning of this strange and high-
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sounding title, we must make a short excursion into secular history :—
The Mahomedans first effectively invaded India from Afghanistan
shortly after 1000 A.D., and through a long succession of dynasties con-
solidated what came to be called the Empire of the Great Mogul, with
its capital at Delhi or Agra (Akbar, 1556-1605). By the year 1605 this
Empire had extended itsell over the whole of Northern and Central India,
down to a wavy line stretching fromg little above Bombay on the west
coast Lo about Ganjam on the east coast.  South of this line were certain
outlying provinces which had secured their independence, and came to
be known as the Deccan Sultanates : Ahmednagar, Bijapur and Golkonda.
In the year 1637 however Ahmednagar was reabsorbed into the Mogul
Empire, and the same fate befell Bijapur in 1686 and (tolkonda in 1687.

The Vicariate Apostolic of Bijapur* was instituted in 1637 when
that city was still the court of a Sultan. Its objective was to minister
to the Catholics actually there (soldiers, musicians, artizan, labourers,
ete., from Goa or Malabar, and merchants of various nations) and also
to open missions in the neighbourhood as far as possible.  Previous to
this some Jesuits of Goa had been invited there, but do not seem to have
gained any permanent footing (1561, 1608, 1622). Som: Theatines also
were sent there through (IOL by Pope Urban VIIL in 1610 : but they
were not allowed [by the Goa authorities 2| to enter the kingdom, and
consequently settled in Goa itself, where in 1655 they built the convent
and church of 8. Cajetan (Fonseca p. 248).

THE VICARIATE OF THE GREAT MOGUL,

Leaving the detailed history of the Vicariate over for the present,
we find that in 1670 there were added t) it the titles of «“ Golkonda and
Pegu” (==Burma). In 1697 it is described in a papal letter as the
Vicariate of * Bijapur, Golkonda and the Great Mognl,” which was soon
shortened into  the Vicariat» Apostolic of the Great Mogul,” or simply
“of the Mogul.” 'This title cont'nued to be used after the Vicar-Apos-
tolic had taken charge of Bombay (1720), and right onwards well into
the 19th century, after the last relics of the Mogul Hmpire had disappear-
ed. In 1722 Pcwu become a separate mission.  In 1784 Hindustan and
Northern India were also divided off and given to the Capuchins of the
Tibet Mission with their centre at Patna: and finally in 1832 the Golkonda
portion (= Hyderabad) was taken away and made part of the newly erec-
ted Vicariate of Madrs., The last Iefter of Propaganda using the title
“Viear-Apostolic of the Mogul” is dated the same year, 1832, Next year
for the first time they wrote “The Vicar-Apostolic of Bombay,” a title
which continued till the establishment of the hierarchy in 1886.

GEOURAPHICAL LIMITS.

By superimposing a map of the Padroado dioceses (as determined
in 1616) upon a map of the Mogul Empire and Deccan Sultanates as they
existed at the some date, it will be seen that the Empire of the Mogul by

* Ihjn]lur, also h\.rmush called Vizapur, Adalkan, Adalshah and even Idalxa.
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its latest conquests covered the whole of the dioceses of Goa and Mylapore
within India proper, and stretched down even into the dioceses of Cranga-
nore and Cochin. Practically however the activities of the Vicar-Apostolic
were very limited : Surat in Gujerat ; Bijapur and Golkonda inland ; and
Karwar in Canara to the south. Bombay, being a Portugucse and after-
wards an English possession, did not fall within the Vicariate. It wasonly
occupied in 1720 by virtue of special faculties provisionallv conceded by the
Holy See to meet a local emergbney— as we have seen.  This fact, never
lost sight of by Rome, explains why they avoided the title ““Viear- Apos-
tolic of Bombay™ until the Empire of the Great Mogul had disappeared off
the face of the earth, so that the name became an anachronism, and the
Vicariate had to be called either Bombay or nothing.

But these are anticipations. IHaving put the Vicariate Apostolic of
the Great Mognl in its historical frame-work, let us now turn in the thing
itself, and begin with a series of notes on the Viears- Apostolic in succession
from the year 1637,

MATTHAKUS DE CASTRO (1637-1668).

It is interesting to note that the two earliest Vicars Apostolic ap-
pointed to the kingdom of Bijapur were priests of the Goan race. The
first, Matthaeus de Castro, was a Brahmin born at Divar near Goa, where
he first hecame a secular priest.  After ordination he went to Rome,
took there a degree in theology, joined the Roman Oratoryof St. Philip
Neri, and returned to Goa to become prior of the collegiate Chureh of N,
S. da Luz.  Going to Rome a second time he was consecrated bishop, and
appointed Viear-Apostolic of Bijapur. Coming to Goa in 1639 he brought
with him three Capuchins. But as he left them behind at Goa when he
went to Bijapur, they dispersed ; and one of them going to Surat laid
the founddtion of the Capuchin Mission there in 1640. Returning from
Bijapur, de Castro built three churches at Bicholim, Vengurla and Banda,
just over the Goa horders, to the north— the permission to do this having
been secured from the (‘ourt of Bijapur by one Diego Paes, a resident of
Divar.  From Bicholim he addressed a letter to the Viceroy announcing
his Apostolic commission—out of which arose a quarrel on the subject of
jurisdiction, in course of which the Viceroy denounced him to the King of
Portugal as a schismatic. [In 1650 he is said to have visited the Court
of the Greiwt Mogul, as well as Surat; then finallv he went to Bijapur
again, where he is suld to have successfully staited several missions,

Two contradictory accounts have reached us about him.  According
to one of these, his career at Bijapur was most successful and beneficial,
and it was due to his prestige and influence that facilities of trade were
opened to the Portuguese. Such is the statement of Antonio Joao de
Frias in his Aurcola dos Indios.  According to the other account he acted
as a traitor to the Portuguese, securing firmans from the Sultan to vex
them, or even plotting to hand Goa over to the Dutch and the province
of Salcete to Bijapur, ete.  Complaints of his conduct were sent. to the
King, who in 1655 ordered a commission to investigate the case. But de
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Castro escaped the inquiry by returning to Rome, where he remained for
several years, and died there apparently in 1679. These adverse charges
were embodied by Dom Luis de Nousa, Archbishop of Braga in his
Demonstratio Juris Patronatus submitted to Pope Innocent XI in 1677.
They seem too extravagant to be true, are unsupported by evidence, and
wer: probably no more than malicious gossip.t

For present purposes it is cnough to note the unfortunate circum-
stance that between the Padroado authorfies and the first Vicar-Apostolic
in India there arose a strained relation which, no matter where the fault
lay, was not calculated to make for peace and harmony in the future.

CUSTODIUS DE PINHO (1669-1687).

The next Vicar-Apostolic was another oratorian, Custodius de Pinho,
also a Brahmin and a native of Verna in Goan Salcete.  Having run away
from home asa boy, he was taken to FEurope by a Jesuit Father and edu-
cated in Rome. There he received consecration and was appointed Vicar-
Apostolic of Bijapur and Golkonda in 1669 [alins 1671].  He at first resid-
ed at Bicholim, where he did good service to the Portnguese Government,
by informing them of the movements of the chief Angria Sambaji with
whom they were then at war. Coming to Goa he was favourably received,
and is said to have established the Oratory there in 1682. He was also
made use of (sede vacante) to ordain priests for the archdiocese. Tn
1687 [alins 1694] he was appointed Vicar-Apostolic or Visitator of the
Serra of Malabar, and received from the King 500 xerafins for his journey ;
but he died before he could assume that office [L689 alias 1697].  Although
he appointed a Capuchin to be his Vicar-General at Surat, we find no
mention of his having ever visited either Bijapur or Golkonda.

A third Vicar-Apostolic is said to have been an Italian named D.
Bisconti [according to Father Bochum’s notes Biscuoli, an glumnus of
Propaganda] of whom however nothing is known except that he died in
1695 or 1696 ; after which event the Vicariate received the fuller title of
“ Bijapur, Golkonda and the Great Mogul,” and was entrusted to the
Carmelite Fathers.

THE CARMELITE VICARS-APOSTOLIC.

Some Italian and German Carmelites first appear in connection with

the Portuguese at Ormuz in the Persian Gulf in the year 1608 ; at Goa in

1 There scema to be much confusion about de Castro. In some accounts his name
runs ““de Castro Malo or Male,” perhaps his family name. Birth uaknown, or 1607 ;
beeame priest at Goa or in Rome ; joined the oratorians or had nothing to do with them ;
was conaecratcd 1637 or 1652 ; arrived in India 1639 or 1650 or 1652 ; cetired 1671 (?) ;
died at Rome 1669, 1670, 1671 or 1679 at ages varying from 72 to 110, His title was
Vicar Apostolic of Bijapur, or of Golkonda, Adalkhan and Vizapar, or of Idalxa, Pegu
and Golkunda, or of the Empirc of the Great Mogul, or of the Empirc of Preester John
of Abyssinia and of the Bragmunas and Grand Inquisitor of all the missions placed under
kim. ~ He is culled a Canarese by Manucei, and a Christian of Si. Thomas by Mullbauer.
Ho founded many successful missions, or he made no conversions. He fled to Rume to
esenpo a royal inquiry, or ho was withdrawn to Rome on account of his misbehaviour,
or he retired to Rome to give an account of his glorious apostolate and was there received
in triumph and glory, etc., etc., ete. o evidently created sn impression of some kind,
otherwze there wouid not be so much mythology about him.
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1612 [ulius 1607} where they built a church and convent ; at Tatta on the
Indus in 1615 and at Din in 1663. In 1696 one of their number, Kre Peter
Paul Palma of St. Francis, was appointed by Pope Innocent VII Vicar-
Apostolic of the Great Mogul. Hearrived the same year (alias 1699) in
Surat, which thus became the head-quarters of the Vicariate. lle died
in the year 1700 or 1701, and was interred in the Capuchin Church there.
[Kor the Capuchins, who came out with Matthacus de Castro, had already
beon established in Surat since the year 1640].

The scecond Carmelite Vicar-Apostolic was Fre ’edro d’Alcantara of
St. Theresa (the first Peter of Alcantara). He was appointed in 1704,
and died at Surat in 1706 or 1707.

The third on the list, Fre Maurice of St. Theresa, brings us into imme-
diate connection with our history proper. After having been Vicar-
General to Pedro d’Alcantara he became his successor in 1708. Just
about this time (1708 or 1709) there arvse a quarrel between the Carmelites
at Goa and the authorities there, due to their foreign nationality. 1t is
said that they were ordered to take an oath of allegiance to the King of
Portugal. On refusal their church and convent were confiscated and
given over to the Oratorians, and they were expelled from the Portuguese
dominions.} Some were deported to Portugal ; others fled to Sunkery
near Sadashigur (elias Karwar in N. Canara) where there was an English
factory. The Carmelites had here frequent opportunities of communica-
ting with Propaganda at Rome, and with the Vicar of the Great Mogul
at Surat, by means of the English ships. The Christians of Karwar were
a numerous community, and the English showed themselves favourable
to the Carmelites and granted them a piece of ground in the precincts of
the factory, where they erected a small chapel, with the leave of the Sultan
of Bijapur. Fre Maurice resided at Karwar from 1712 to 1717. 1In the
latter year, after a visit to the Malabar Coast, he came to Bombay.

It was he who received the invitation to take over charge of the
Bombay churches, and did so in 1720 as already related. Of the cccle-
siastical troubles which he experienced in this connection we shall have
much to relate in the following section.  After the new regime had been
established in Bombay Island he went for a time to Surat, where he died
on February 13th, 1726.

THHh RANGE OF THE VICARTATE.

Before the taking over of Bombay in 1720 the Vicar-Apostolic of the
Great Mogul seems merely to have had his rvesidence in Surat, where the
Carmelites founded no mission till 1764, as the French Capuchins were
already in possession. llis occupations seem to have been: (1) Long
periodical journeys to Golkonda and Bijapur, to minister to Christians
clustered round those centres : partly soldiers and artizans or workmen
from Goa or Malabar, partly Portuguese, French and other Catholic

1 In 1712 we have a letter of the Pope sti-ng the King to restore the convent to the
Carmelites, as well as that at Diu which had also been confiscated—but without effect
(B. P. P, 111 125.)
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merchants and immigrants. (2) Work at Karwar in North Canara, of
which something has been mentioned already. (3) Workin the Malabar
Vicariate—-for while the two vicariates were distinet, the missionaries were
interchangeable, and during vacancies the administration of hoth vicariates
was done by the surviving Viear-Apostolic, of the Mogulor of Malabar
respectively.

When the burden of the Bombay ciurches was added in 1720, this
new field occupied the chicf attention, only one father being at liberty to
make the necessary visits to the outlying centres, which were steadily
declining in importance.

PART IIL

THE CARMELITE REGIME (1720—-1789)
CHAPTER 1.
THE TROUBLES OF FRE MAURICIUS,

Tiw ecclesiastical troubles which attended the coming of the Car-
melites into Bombay island are recorded in a quaintly archaic document
preserved in the Bombay Archives, containing curious jumble of facts ex-
pressed in language difficult to understand. 1t bears no date, but includes
references to events occurring after 1774 and cven after 1786, and seems
to have been written about 1787-1788 :— -Translation : AN ABRIDGMENT
OF AN ACCOUNT RELATIVE TO THE ADMISSION OF fATHERN CARMELITES 1IN
TIE MANAGEMENT OF THE SPIRITUAL COVERNMENT OF THE ROMAN CIIRIS-
TIAN CHURCHES ON THE ISLAND OF BOMBAY.

The Hon’ble Charles Boone, Esq., Governor of Bombay, etc. in
Council, being mightily disgusted at the Portuguese Priests, their rectors
and vicars, and in the management of the Roman churches on this Island ;
for motives and reasons unknown to the public, by an edict the said Por-
tuguese vicars were expelled from this Island —at the same time calling in
the Carmelite missionaries to take the same upon themselves in their
room, independent of the Archbishop Primate of Goa, at the time when
Monsignor Don Fre Mauricius de St. Thereza, Bishop Anastaziapolitan
was Vicar Apostolical, who received the ofter of the said churches in
October 1718--In which year also the Hon’ble the Council passed a decree
in Latin as per paper marked “F”’ that commences “Noveritis vos,” ete.,
ete. [Already printed above].

In consequence of this edict, solely known to his Lordship the bishop
above-mentioned, he came here and lived in a private house [which] he
had prepared for the purpose, in company with Fathers Peter de Alcantara
and Elisio, both sent out from Rome in 1719 as missionaries to the Mogul
Empire.
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In the same year the churches aforesaid were tindend [tendered 7 or
handed ?] over to the said Bishop. It was also wrote to the Propaganda
Fide in order to confer on the said bishop and his colleagues the power of
jurisdiction to administer the sacraments to the Christians inhabiting
thereon.  When in the beginning of 1720 the Propaganda Fide, being
thoroughly informed [that] it was the absolute will and pleasure of the
Hon’ble the English Government that the administration of the said
churches should he given to the Carmelites with the exclusion of the
Portuguese Fathers Rectms, they accepted and approved of [the same]
in the said year 1720, as the Enchyridion pages 162 and 463 [relates].

But although the above transactions between the Hon’ble the Govern-
ment and the bishop, and the reeeipt of necessary papers (authorizing and
empowering them) from Rone were only known to the gentlemen of the
Council, and kept as private as possible from being in the least transpired
to the people; yet the idea was revealed, as well ag what the Hon’ble
Council had resolved respecting the removal of the Portuguese Fathers.
For both the Archbishop Primate of Goa as well as the Auditor General
Lesio Cartho de Vargas, then residing in the contiguous island of Salsette,
Arinate Mann [a.nn.n,.t manu ? ~with mailed fist ?] declared against ﬂm
poor bishop and his missionaries, as will be seen in the .\cquel of this
narrative.  And until they had received from the Propaganda Fide of
Ronie the due and necessary powers for the conduct and management of
the churches in Bowbay, unexpressible were the affronts and insults that
they suffered, with mapy a slander, false harangues and accusations
brought forth and published against them in every residences of the
nelghbmumu hishops—Indeed it would have been necessary to go ount
of the way of our present ml)]ect to give a mmute relation of many
excesses cominitted then respecting the pretentious mewm et fuum—We
are satisfied to cite only the page {78 of the Enchyridion Chronological in
order to give a full idea of what happened.

Finally His Holiness Pope Clement X1 of blessed memory-—heing
informed of the extraordinary attempts and machinations formed against
the Bishop and his colleagues by denying the said hishop publicly the
episcopal character—-provided, as it is testified to us by his chirografo
|- signature], against those disorders with a constitution directed to the
appointed bishop for the good of the spiritual government of the mission
independent of any other bishopric.

These powers and [aculties from His Holiness Pope Clement the
11th being made public, the enemies of Monsignor Mauricius, keeping
[Luying ?] “aside all dissimilation, with every improper and insignificant
[insolent 2] manner, put in ridicule the new powers the b1shop was
furnished with from "his Holiness the Roman Pontiff. But the Almighty
God ordaining it should be so, and soon be known to His Holiness of the
disorders, showing (?) by his said powers to the bishop, served as a most
efficacious remedy against the great evils that might have been rised from
the most scandalous reflections of other bishops against the Monsignor—
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So that as soon as 1llis Iloliness had intelligence of the proceedings, he
wrote most strenuously to the Archbishop Primate of Goa and other
bishops ; notonly condemning and concurring [censuring ?] their conduct,
but also rendering himself an authentic witness of the episcopal office
of his Vicar General conferred upon the said Monsignor Dom Mauricius.

And consequently therefore from the powers and faculities from his
Holiness, and the previous consent of the Ilon’ble the Governorand Coun-
cil of Bombay, the said bishop with his colleagues took charge of the
Roman churches on Bombay under the 25th of May 1720 ; obliging the
Portuguese vicars, in consequence of a proclamation from the [{on’ble
Governor and Council, to leave this island and its churches in quiet pos-
session of Fathers Carmelites- -with other circumstances quoted of Father
Thomas D’Orta, a native ol this Island, in the narrative of the ingress of
Fathers Carmelites, that [he] wrote in that time—copy of which they
produced to the said Hon’ble Governor and Council, as by that it was
perfectly clear what happened on that occasion, and the orders that the
Hon’ble Governor and Council thought proper to issue out for the tran-
quility of the aforesaid Carmelites.

But though every caution and care had been taken by the Hon’ble
the Governor and the providence [provision 7] from Rome, it was im-
possible to keep the spirits of the inhabitants of this island in tran-
quility. For they never left oft attempting and procuring many pretexts
to turn the bishop and the Carmelites out of the spiritual management
of the churches in Bombay. And to such a length of excess some of
them carried their frenzy and madness whatever [=that they] attempted
to deprive the poor bishop of his life, as will be seen with & reference
to the page 479 as before cited.

To the insults and prattling of the people the bad treatment was in
addition [=was added], not to say [speak of] the injurious cautions
taken by the Prelate of Goa and other bishops against the honour and
character of Monsignor Mauricius.  For it was public and notorious that
the Auditor General, Lesio Cartho de Vargas, treated him as a seducer
and intruded [intruder] into another man’s jurisdiction (to the great
astonishment of the bishop and his colleagues (‘armelites), that they
were publicly excommunicated in all the churches in the island of Sal-
sette ; and that afterwards this excommunication was sent here to the
aforesaid Thomas d’Orta to be likewise published in one of the churches
on this island. But this censure did not take place here; for the Hon’ble
the Governor, Charles Boone, Esq., had previously and rigorously pro-
hibited (since March 1749)* any such publications to be taken place, as per
the orders it appears clearly.

[Here follows a digression on the way in which the Portuguese had
behaved ill towards the Carmelite Order in other places and on other
occasions).

* Either the date 1749 is an anachronism, or else the assignzm:on of this law t:»
Boone is wrong ; for Boone ceased to be Governor in 1726.
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But what above all pained and cut the hearts of the Carmelites
most cruelly was the promulgation of a schism by the Portuguese priests
—that the Italian Carmelites in Bombay had not the true and legal
power to administer sacraments to the Christians independently of the
Primate of Goa ; without considering that they, the Carmelites, are as
justly indebted to [inducted ?] as any other ecclesiastics once empowered
and deputed by the Holy Sce of Rome--a schism which the people soon
arrived [at] and maintained with [?], especially by the native priests
pertaining to this island, to the prejudice of harmony of the Christians in
general.

This was the situation of things and circumstances when the Hon’ble
the Governor Charles Boone, being timely informed of it, to prevent the
evils crecping [growing ?]among the people, deputed a gentlemfm of the
Council to accompany Monsignor Mauritius Bishop, with orders to sum-
mon allthe clergymen before hlm and to oblige them to pay due obedience
to the bishop and his colleagues as lawful and legal delegates of the Holy
See of Rome ; and if any of them still retained the least scruple for obe-
dience to, and receive sacraments from the bishop and his missionaries,
they might acquaint him thereof, as he would absolve them of their
seruples witha ready leave to go anywhere they pleased: keeping [leaving?]
their estates bebind them as confiscated goods for the benefit of the
Hou'ble Company.

These steps had the looked-for effects, as they never more durst
openly foment anything alike- Though it has been observed [that] it is
inpossible to see them persuaded  tirmly that the jurisdiction of the
Vicur-Apostolic and his missionaries is as true and legal as that of the
Primate of (foa—as they continue till now in many occasions to have
recourse to the Primate of Goa. For example they believe that those
priests that have received the sacred orders from the Bishop of Bombay
are illegal and lawless [==irregular], and cannot exercise the sacerdotal
functions without being recapacitated by dimissory letters (or reverend
letters as they (onmmnlv call here) from the Archbishop of Goa, after
making themselves faithful and obedient dependents to him by an oath
of fidelity. Some few priests that have been ordained by the bishop of
Buowmbay are those that were certain it would have been very diflicult to
produce necessary circumstances requiring [=-required] at the ecclesias-
tical court at Goa on vhe occasion—whercas all other candidates that
stand for the sacerdotal office go down to Goa and receive them there
after a solemn oath to be faithful and obedient to him and his successors.

How prejudicial and detrimental may these disorders be to the welfare
and tranquility of the Roman Christians, as well as Fathers Carmelites
inhabiting on this island, the Hon’ble the Government we trust may easily
know, and condescend to consider seriously, that the present mutiny,
raised by some ill-designed Christians ander many false pretexts, proceeds
certainly from very indifferent princ ples and most erroneous maxims, by
which they persuade themselves that Fathers Carmelites missionaries
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have not the {ull and legal authority for the good of the administration
on this island ; allowing them a subscriptions [subreptitious 2] power, and
liable to be disputed by the Archbishop Primate of Goa as the only
lawful ecclesiustical Governor of the island of Bombay. [End of the
document. ]

COMMENT ON THE DOCUMENT.

It would take much space to enumerate the incoherencies of this
narrative. But after correcting these as far as possible from safer sources,
we reach tentatively the following salient points :---

(1) The secret negotiations between the English Government must
have commenced at le: st s carly as 1716, and spread over four years,

(2) By the breach of confidence of some secretary or other they
were made known to the Portuguese authorities as they went on,

(3)  Hence arose a campaign against the Viear-Apostolie, by spread-
ing abroad the denial of his authority and even of his episcopal conse-
cration—at least three years before the transfer took place,

(4) The Viear-Apostolic in 1716-1717 must have sent a complaint of
this to the Pope; for in October 1717 His Holiness he wrote to the Aveh-
bishopof Goa sending him o copy of the Viear-Apostolie’s taculties, and
aflirming his el)]S(',l)l).l,l character ; asking the Arvchbishop to recognise
him and treat him well, and persuade the other Sulfragan Bls]m[is
(Cranganore, Cochin and Mylapore) to do the rame- in order to put a
stop to the injurious rumours spread about by his opponents, to the
effect that he was neither a true Viear-Apostolic nor a true bishop. The
Fope does not say anything about the Bombay negotintious. but he is
evidently alluding to the agitation going on in that place. The faculties
enclosed were apparently the ordinary fuculties for the Vieariate of the
Mogul, and not the extraordinary faculties yet to be concetled regarding
Bombay.

(5 When the Vicar-Apostolic took possession of the churches in
Bombay in May 1720, he published his authorization from Rome and
his faculties. But they were not acknowledged by the Portuguese
anthorities, who proceeded to issue an excommunication against him in
the churches of Salsette, and tried (through a native priestin Bombay)
to get the same published m that island, but in vain.

{6) According to Fr. Bochum’s notes, the Pope’s letter of 1717
the Archbishop of Goa was confirmed by a letter of the King of P 1tuqal
“eommanding his officials to suppress the pride and audacity of those
wicked persons.”  But in spite of this the persecution did not cease ; so
that the Viear-Apostolic was forced to shut himself up in a small house
['The Fort Chapel house] for fear of attacks on his life,  [The source of
this information seems to be an historieal statement written by the Vicar-
Apostolie Fortini in 1847, and one cannot he quite sure of it].

(7) When the Portuguese Franciscans were expelled in 1720 the
native secular priests remained in the island, and retained their posts in
the churches under the Carmiclites.  They however did not believe in the
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validity of the jurisdiction of the Viear-Apostolic, and continued to
function by virtue of the previous faculties given them by the Archbishop
of Goa—and they must have spread their views among the people.

(8) Hearing that the jurisdiction of the Vicar-Apostolic was thus
questioned by native clergy and laity, Governor Boone summoned the
clergy before one of his Council, who gave them the alternative either to
ac l\nv“lodge and obey the Vn:.u;-Apostolu' or fo leave the island, ther
goeds being confiscated to the Government. Some of the clergy may
have left the island, but most of them remained, and retained their posts
under the Vicar-Apostolic.

(9) All this happened under Governor Boone, whose rule came
to an end in 1726, after which the disturbance subsided.  The native
clergy, however (all of whom had been ordained ut Goa) still dishelieved
in the jurisdiction of the Viear-Apostolie, and seeretly had recourse to
the Archbishop of Goa whenever they needed faculties or dispensations.
When later on there were added a few priests ordained by the Viears-
Apostolie; the old elergy looked dubiously, not on the ralidity of their
ovders, but on the licitly of the whole business ; and even the newly
ordained themselves felt doubts, and thought that an oath of sulimission
to the Archbishop of Goa was necessary to legitinvice their position.  In
short the whole atmosphere was so filled with the Padroado idea, that
anv acts even of the Holy See, if they impiged on the Padroado rights
and privileges, and if t]u(\v were not accepted by the Padroado author-
ities, counted 7pso fueto as null and void.

(10)  This idea seemed to have prevailed right through the period
for 1720 to 1786: at which date eflovts began to be made to restore the
jurisdietion of the Archbishop of Goa, vs will be seen later on in our
history. ¢

(11)  The historical summary of these events was apparently written
about that t'me (1787-1789) and refers to this movement in favour of
Goa when it speaks of “the present mutinv.” 1t seems to be a rough
diaft of & memorial intended for Government.  Being made by one who
was not an eve witness of the carlier events, and compiled out of old
diaries aided by hearsay vecollections, it jumbles up the details budly,
and is only of value as witnessing to certain seliont facts, of which the
foregoing is a tentative analysis.

(12) By way of final comment, one cannot avoid noticing the un-
fortunate way in which this business was conducted. Had the Portuguese
clergy first been expelled, and the Viear-Apostolic called in only after-
wards to fill up a gap alreadv made, the proceeding would have seemed
o natural as not to cause ill-feeling.  But as we have seen, the measure
had heen prepared for several years beforehand, and was secretly worked
out between the English Government and the Viear Apos‘olie, who had
shown his willingness to co-operate with the Government, and even sent
to Rome for permission and sccured extra missionaries for the purpose.
As the seeret zoon leaked out, and the whole process of the negotiations
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was known to the Portuguese authorities while they were 2oing on—Well,
the Padroado authorities eculd hardly help tiking a sinister view of the
whole transaction. It might easily look as if the Carmelites, (perhaps
in reprisal for past ill-treatment at the hands of the Portuguese) were
trying to steal a march on the Padroado, and inspiring, or at least aiding
and abetting tiie English Government in their anti-P ortuguese designs, I
do not suppose for & moment that sue h an interpretation was a true or
fair one; but it is one which would haturally suggest itself to the Por-
tuguese mind, and lead to dsagreeable resalts.
ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS,

(1) After the foregoing matter had been put in type, an additional
docament. came within our reach through the HUistory of the Church in
India just then published by Fr. D'Sa.  In Volume IT, p. 51 we find a
quotation from the Mitras Lusitanas which throws clear light on the
exconmmunication issued against Fre Mauritio!  Thus Fr. D’Sa writes: —

As soon as the news of the expulsion was known in Goa the Viceroy
Luis de Menezes ordered a proclamation to he made in Bassein, Damaun
and Chaul protesting against the actions of the Governor of Bombay and
the Vicar-Apostolic :  “Forgetting the ancient possession, dominion and
1ight of the Portuguese I\nw in point of his royal patronage which was
recognised in the ith and 11th Articles of the treaty of donation. .. .he
| the Governor of Bombay | made the violent innovation of admitting Fre
Mauritius de 8. Theresa, (armelite, who they say is appointed a Bishop
and \l(’ﬂ[‘-/\p()ht()h(‘ in certain parts of the East, and if it should be so,
only with jurisdiction in places of his mission, which, being commonly in
very distant parts, the roval prerogatives of the patronage always remains
safe and the jurisdiction of the Archbishop of Goa, primate of the Indies,
remains intact in its purity :  and |of admitting also| moré friars of his
Order and nation, giving faculities that one might exercise episcopal
jurisdiction  and the others [the powers| of parish-priests, expelling un-
ceremoniously the Portuguese Franciscan religious priests in that island, to
introduce in the churehes which they so worthily oceupied, some Italian
friars of the Order of the same pretended bishop, who is not only the
mover and instrument of a deed o full of insolence, so far as concerns the
royal patronage and the jurisdiction of the Archbishop of Goa, but a
cause of scandal for making use of the English. as thev ave of a different
religion,

L order that no Portuguese or natural vassal of His Majesty—and
I also give notice to the Roman (Catholics who exist in the island of
Bombay - -should acknowledge (as bishop and parish-priests) the said Fre
Mauritius and other Italian friars, who without any jurisdiction and right
whatever have usurped [those churches].

“If any one of the aforesaid vassals of this State, ecclesiastical or lay,
should renew orders, celebrate a marriage, or concur with the aforcsaid
intruders in the churches and in the usurped jurisdiction, in the use of
the false power which they have acquired with the help of the said heretics,
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he shall be denaturalised and forbidden to enter territory subjeet to
Portuguese rule, and all his property shall be confiscated” (Mitrao Lus.
rp- 215, 216.)

(2) A farther sidelight was at the same time discovered in a petition
of the inhabitants”, ete., against the restoration of the Padroado in 1789
[see later].  Although the statements made in such popular petitions are
often quite unreliable, they reprgsent a tradition which generally has
some foundation of fact at the bhack of it. This document, after
describing somewhat graphically the semi-warlike reprisals which took
place between the Knglish and the Portuguese on account of the expnl-
sion of 1720, it goes on to say that after a time the quarrel was brought to
an end hy a combination of forces against the Sidi Chief, and then con-
tinues = Inthe terms of peace which were made on that occasion “the
said Viceroy did confirm the said surrendering up of the Government of
this island to  Bishop Maurice and his successors and did concede the
whole right which the advowson | patronage] of TPortugal and the
Archbishop of Goa had theretofore exercised in the administration of
the ehurches of Bombayv, on condition that the English State should give
their hearty and effectual and. .. in the conquest of Collaba of Angria.”

If there be any underlyving teuth in this statement, it would amount
to no more than an acquiescence in the inevitable. as it is unthinkable
that the Portuguese authorities should  surrender their patronal or
ecclesiastical right in the way described in the text.

CHAPTER II.
SOME FURTILER TROUBLIES (1728 —1769).
COVERNMENT ALLOWANCE STOPPED, 1733,

Tue next Viear-A\postolic was Fre Pedvo d’Aleantara of the Holy
Trinity (the second Peter of Alcantara).  lle was nominated in 1728 and
conseerated in 1732, and ruled the vieariate till his death. It seems that
when installing the Viears-Apostolie, the English Government had under-
taken to subsidise them with a paltry sum (Mirabile dictu 1) of Rs. 40
per month; but that even this miserable pittance was stopped on the
death of Tre Maurice in 1726,  Hence we find that in a Consultation of
Jan. 19th, 1733, a memorial was read from “Peter of Alcantara, Ap. Vie.
of the Mogul Empire, of the kingdom« of Bijapur and Golconda and the
island of Bombay,” representing that whereas the Hon. Company had in
1718 invited and admitted to the spiritual government of the four R. (..
churches of Bombay the Rt. Rev. Maurice of Santa Theresa (Bishop
Anastasia (?) of the Carmelite Order; at the same time granting him
permission to ordain, depute and appoint parochial missionaries of his
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Order subordinate to his jurisdiction for the administration of the said
churches) confirming to him the free undisturbed exercise of his religion
as theretofore, with liberty to erect and build within the eity an episcopal
house and chapel; which he did.  Tn return the Viear-Apostolie and his
missionaries did take a formal oath of perpetual allegiance to the Crown
of Great Brituin and to the Hon. Company. obliging themselves to a
vigilant care of the 6,000 R. (. subjects of this island, ete.-—In considera-
tion of this agreement the Hon. Company did approve and adivit the
estublishment of the said bishop and . . . . granted him a stipond of
Rs. 40 which, having been stopped at the death of Fre Maurice in 1726,
was asked to be continued to his suceessor.  The Bourd agreed to place
the petition among the adviees then pro]m.nn«r to be =ent home (p. 525).
Fre Pedro died at Bombay January 23vd, 1715,

THE VICAR-ATOSTOLIC IN EXILE, 1748,

The next Vicar-Apostolic was Fre Lunocent of the Presentation, who
had resided at Sankery near Karwar from the year 1725 and was appoint-
ed Viear-Apostolic in 1716, and came to Bombay in 1718, About him
the History of the Diocese of Mangalore (p 78) informs us that “*Soon atter
his appointment he visited Surat and lived there seven nonths with the
Capuchin Fathers; but the very day he set foot in Bombay (Novembar
Ist. 17T18) he was expelled by the English governor.  He took refuge in
Bandra, which with the whole island of Salsette had heen wrested from
the Portuguese by the Mahrattas ; and there he dwelt in the house of &
poor Christian till the beginning of 1752, This exile from Bombav and
subsequent perseeution was the outcome of an unhappy difl ‘rence with
his religious brethren of Bombay, beeause he held himself to be superior
of the regulars as well as Viear-Apostolic.  [On this subjeet see below].
He and his suceessors were deprived of & Government pension in con-
sequence of this unpleasant quarrel. Wihile at Bandrea he conceerated,
with the permission of the Archbishop of Goa, Father Flovencee ol Jesns
as Vicar-Apostolie of Verapoly in the Chureh of 8t Andrew, on April 31st,
1751, He returned to Sankery in 1752 where he died the following vear.

CAUSKE OF THE EXPULSION.

There is a good deal of obscurity about this expulsion affair in Bom-
hay.  Niebuhr, who visited Bombay in 1763, seems to allude to it in the
fullm\nw passage s - The Catholies, a seanty remainder of the Portuguese,
ated a great number of Indians their converts, are much more numerous
than the Protestants, They have abundance of priests, as well Kuropeans
as Indians who attend their studies at Goa.  To suparintend this herd the
Pope named some vears ago a Bishop of Bymbay ; but the Governor of
the island sent him away, docLumﬂf that they neaded not Catholic priests
of so high a rank.”

The original decision of the Governiment to keep the Viear- Apostolic
out of the island is recorded in a Consultation of J anuary 27th, 1748, when
we read “There being reason to apprehend that there is a Romish
priest at Tellicherry who wants to come hither und take up his residence
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on the island in quality of a bishop, it is agreed that the chief and factors
be ordered peremptorily to refuse his passage on any of our ships until
they have orders from us to the contrary. In case at any time any
Romish priest should want to touch here for proceeding elsewhere they
are to permit thereof if they think proper” (Materials Vol. ITI, p. 530).
This “Romish priest” was the Vicar-Apostolic Fre Innocent of the Pre-
sentation, who, as we have scen akove, was expelled as soon as he entered
the island in November 1748.
A DOMESTIC DISPUTE, 1744,

The History of Mangalore attributes this expulsion to “an unhappy
difference with his religious brethren in Bombay, because he held himself
to be superior of the regulars as well as Vicar-Apostolic ”’; while Niebuhr
says that he was sent away because the Government “needed not Catholic
pricsts of so high a rank.” This gives us a clue which, when followed,
seems to solve the mystery.

Under the rule of Fre Pedro d’Alcantara the second, there had arisen
a disagreement between the Carmelite bishop and his own Carmelite
clergy. The point at issue seems to have been a domestic one, wviz.,
whether the Vicar-Apostolic, besides his episcopal jurisdiction, possessed
also the 1ight to act as religious superior. From certain documents in our
archives, we gather that therc was a tendency on the part of the religious
to regard themselves in the light of ordinary parish-priests, subject to
the bishop in diocesan matters, but free from the personal control of any
local superior. The authorities in Rome settled this point by asserting
that the missionaries-regular were still under the religious control of a
superior regular, and this superiorship was vested in the person of the
one who happened to be bishop for the time being.

The question came up in the following manner: 1In 1744 one of the
Carmelites appealed to Government to prevent the Vicar-Apostolic from
removing him from a parochial post. The Vicar-Apostolic referred the
matter to Propaganda, who replied that according to previous decrees of
1732 and 1733, the Vicar-Apostolic was not only Diocesan, but also had
the authority of a Superior Regular and must be obeyed not only in
parochial but also in religious discipline. The Congregation also decreed
that recourse to a lay judge was altogether illicit and forbidden, and
subject to ecclesiasticel penalties ; and they ordered the missionaries to
render obedience to the Vicar-Apostolic, as also to his Vicar-General in
case of absence. [Note in volume of Propaganda letters p. 41-42 without
date]. It seems asif Government, which preferred dealing with the clergy
individually, rather took sides with the recalcitrant missionary against
his ecclesiastical superior, and so wished to get the Vicar-Apostolic out
of the way, “as they needed not Catholic priests of so high a rank.”
He1n70e the exclusion of Fre Innocent of the Presentation on his arrival
in 1748.

Fre Innocent, as we have seen, after living in retirement at Bandra
for over three years, left there in 1752 and went down to Sunkery (Kar-
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war) where he died the following year.
THE EXILE CONTINUED.

His successor, Dom Sebastian Piacentino of St. Margaret, was no-
minated to the Vicariate in 1751, but died on the voyage to Bombay.
After him came Fre John Dominic of St. Clara, who received his ap-
pointment in 1757 or 1758. When on an apustolic visitation to Bombay
and Surat in 1761 he administered the sacrament of confirmation to
the Christians of Bassein, Damaun and other parts at the request of the
Archbishop of Goa-—an incident showing that whatever views the Arch-
bishop may have had regarding the Vicar-Apostolic and his jurisdiction,
- at least he was willing to make use of his services where convenient to
himself.

We gather from the Mauritius MS. that this Vicar-Apostolic also
was not permitted by the English government to reside in Bombay ;
and it was by special permission only that he was even allowed to pass
through the island. The History of Mangalore alluding to this event says
that “In 1761 acceding to the request of the missionaries he visited
Bomibay, which had been without a bishop for thirteen years. But he
was soon expelled by the Governor at the instance of an English coun-
cillor. Not long after, when there was a change in the personnel of the
Bombay Government, he visited it again and obtained from Govern-
ment a large portion of the old factory property at Sunkery.” (p. 82).

PROPAGANDA TO THE RESCUE.

Meantime Propaganda was trying to conciliate the British Govern-
ment on the matter. We have a letter from the Congregation to the
Vicar-Apostolic, dated September 15th, 1764, telling how efforts had
been made with the Court of London to secure permission for a per-
manent residence in Bombay. No reply being forthcoming, they had
written again, and would forward the answer as svon as received.
After discussing a new mission just founded at Surat, they instructed
the Vicar-Apostolic to make it his residence so long as he was excluded
from Bombay.

In another letter dated September 20th, 1770 they congratulated
the Vicar-Apostolic on having obtained permission to pass through the
island. Meantime he appointed one Fre Thomas of Poitiers as his Pro-
Vicar. We read that on his second visit to Bombay, he administered
confirmation in the island and (again with the permission of the Arch-
bishop of Goa) also in Bandra and Thana. This scems to have been
in 1769. Otherwise he spent most of his time either in Surat or the
Karwar Mission. He died on a journey in 1772, and his remains were
afterwards translated to Sunkery (Karwar) in 1775.

RELIGIOUS INTOLERANCE, 1751-1763.

The hard treatment experienced at the hands of Government hy
these two Vicars-Apostolic can perhaps be partly explained by a spirit
of antagonism to Catholics which was in the air at this time. Thus
we read in the Diary of January 27, 1751, that “The chief and factors
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at Tellicherry have sent Ensign Roloffstas to Anjengo to relieve Ensign
Edgerton, because Ensign Edgerton and his Captain Lieutenant are both
staunch Roman Catholics, and therefore not fit to be trusted with an
outfort. They therefore thought it best to separate them. The act
was approved” (Materials Vol. III, p. 530). .

The same policy took a more sweeping form the next year ; for we
read that in 1752 the Court of Dinectors, “finding that among the Military
Officers of Bombay there were several officers of the Romish religion,
ordered that they should be discharged from the service ; and such as are
British subjects are to be sent to England, as we will on no account permit
of their continuing in India” (Materials Vol. TTT, p. 171).

Niebuhr writing in 1763 informs us that “though toleration of worship
is generally permitted, Government allows not the Catholic priests to
give aloose to their zeal for making proselytes. When any person chooses
to become Catholic (Roman) the reasons must be laid before Govern-
ment ; and if they are judged valid he was then allowed to profess his
conversion” (Cited in Miscell. of W. Tndia, p. 19).

Whether this religious intolerance was the cause of the exile of the
Vicars-Apostolic, or whether it came from the quarrels then prevailing
in the mission, which caused Government to regard the whole thing
as rather a nuisance, we cannot say. C(ertain it is that the domestic
affairs of the Church in Bombay were in anything but a happy condition.
It seems incidental to human affairs to get into a bad way from time
to time ; and the Church of Bombay seemed now to bhe passing through
this phase of its existence. Such occurrences are not edifying ; but at
least a study of them has the advantage of an object-lesson to posterity,
and on that account demands a place in our history : —

) JURISDICTION TROUBLES, 1761.

While the Viear-Apostolic was excluded from Bombay, certain
troubles in the matter of jurisdiction seem to have arisen, both inside
and outside the island of Bombay. Somewhere or other in the Vicariate
the Archbishop of Goa was sending his priests—whether to Surat or
Bijapur or Golkonda or Karwar we have no hint or clue. But in any
case the Vicar-Apostolic must have written to Rome about it, for in
the same letter from Propaganda already quoted (Sept. 15, 1764) we
read the following :--

“As regards the controversy which has arisen through the Archbishop
of Goa sending priests to places under the jurisdiction of the Vicar-
Apostolic : since it is not specified what places, and how or by what title
they belong to the Vicar-Apostolic, or whether he has been in legitimate,
pacific and uninterrupted possession of them, we cannot decide in so
delicate an affair till the exact facts are given, as there is no record of
the matter in our archives.”

Something too must have occurred to disturb the peace of Bombay
island, though again we possess no information about the facts. For
the same letter continues as follows ;—
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“As regards the island of Bombay and its pertinences subject to the
English dominion, the enclosed note will show what has been already
determined by the Congregation, as a guide how to act on future
occasions, vz: When the Archbishop of Goa can exercise jurisdiction
without hindrance from the Masters of the place [-—the English Govern-
ment| you must not oppose him in any way, but you must merely supply
by way of help those jurisdictional acts-which the said prelate is not able
to perform. It will however be well, nay necessary, that in this parti-
cular matter you proceed with great prudence and c1rcumspect10n—— as
it is not desirable in present circumstances to engage in quarrels and
discords with the aforesaid Archbishop, whose jurisdiction is very vast in
the Indies, even by force of several apostolical constitutions.”

The Note of Propaganda enclosed in the letter runs as follows:—
“The Island of Bombay once belonged to the Archdiocese of Goa, being
possessed by the Crown of Portugal. But later on it was given to the
English, who have guarded it with such jealousy that (according to
what the Carmelites report) they allow no interference even in spiritual
affairs, nor access of any Portugucse clergy. Consequently the FEnglish
Government brought in the Vicar-Apostolic of the Great Mogal, who be-
gan to reside there. On which matter the Archbishop of Goa had re-
course to Propaganda, who in 1723 gave orders to the Vicar-Apostolic,
that when the said Archbishop could exercise his jurisdiction there,
the Vicar-Apostolic and his missionaries should depart. However since
the Archbishop was never able to exercise any jurisdiction nor any
other ecclesiastical acts, Propaganda never forbade the Vicar-Apostolic
to reside there, or to exercise episcopal functions, although Propaganda
always recognised that the Island of Bombay belongs to thg Archdiocese
of Goa.”

On March 31st, 1770 Propaganda writes: “Regarding certain dis-
orders which have arisen in Bombay on account of the double jurisdiction :
For the present it is best to find a modus vivendi, acting with circum-
spection and prudence ; referring the disturbances to the Archbishop of
Goa, and suggesting to him means how to make things go in peace and
harmony.”

A MYSTERY UNEXPLAINED.

From the tenor of these documents we might infer that some scheme
was then afoot for reintroducing the jurisidiction of Goa into the island.
That there was a certain distrust of the jurisdiction of Vicar-Apostolic
among the clergy, we have already seen in the document published in the
previous chapter; and there is another document still to come which
seems to show that some kind of understanding with Goa prevailed
among the older clergy, and that orders and instructions were coming
thence into the Island. But beyond these faint indications of “some-
thing” going on beneath the surface, we have no clue, and must leave the
matter unexplained in the hope of some further light turning up to
solve the mystery,
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CHAPTER II11.
YET FURTHER TROUBLES (1770—1772).
AN UNDATED DOCUMENT (1770 ?)

IN connection perhaps with the jurisdiction-troubles mentioned in
the previous section, there is in our archives a manuscript w1thout date,
except that the reference to J ohn Domingo [a Santa Clara] as “present
bishop” necessarily places it between 1755 and 1772. It is to be noted
that John Domingo was the second Vicar-Apostolic who was expelled
from Bombay, and was only able to visit it for a short time in 1761
and again about 1769, the effective ruling of the island being deputed
to a Vicar-General. From its tone and manner we imagine it must
have been drawn up by some Government official or Sccretary, based
on information collected from some of the clergy or laity, or both, with
a view of submitting it to the Governor-in-Council. Its chief interest
here is to reveal the existence of Portuguese influence intruding itself
into the island by means of clergy of Goan sympathies; and also the
harking back to Goa of some of the native clergy, who had been ordain-
ed by the Archbishop, but had submitted to the Vicar-Apostolic in 1720
in order to retain their posts in the churches. Further comments on
the document are reserved till after its perusal :—

Articles to be considered and proposed for the requlation and better
government of the Roman Catholics of Bombay under the protection of his
Brittanic Majesty and the United English East India Company :—

Many disorders having gained ground among the Roman Catholics,
owing in great measure to non-compliance and utter neglect of obedi-
ence to the orders issued by the President and Council in the year 1718
in the time of Governor Boone ; the following articles are proposed as
a means of entirely putting & stop to the same, and rendering them good
subjects and obedient to the Government : —

(1) That the Governor and Council will be pleased to reinforce the
former orders given by Governor Boone in the year 1718.

(2) That no other person may be deemed superior of the Padres
and Roman Catholics aforesaid than the present Bishop, Senhor John
Domingos, and his surcessors; and that they may neither apply for
nor comply with any orders from another, as has been sometimes done
to the Archbishop of Goa.

(3) That the natives of Bombay may not he appointed or ordained
Padres hy any other than John Domingo and his successors, the proper
Bishop of Bombay. 1f they are |appointed or ordained by any other
authority], that they may not be permitted to settle in Bombay, and in
case of disobedience forfeit their effects ; because at their ordination they
make oath to obey and follow the orders of the Bishop who ordains
them—therefore if ordained by the Archbishop of Goa they deem them-
selves obliged to obey [him]. The Bishop of Bombay’s authority would
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therefore be infringed.

(4) As the number of Padres in the island at times is really un-
necessary after the orders above-mentioned are reinforced, the mission-
aries will not want more than six native Padres to assist the Vicar
without the Gates [Esperanca] ; two for the chapel within the town ; two
at Mazagon ; and four at each of the churches of Mahim [18inall ?];
and these to be such only who are appeinted thereto by John Domingos
and his successors, and ordained by them ; and should it be necessary to
call in a stranger to make up the number aforesaid, application to be
made for that purpose to the Hon’ble Board for a licence of inhabiting,
and to the Bishop for a licence to continue in the churches of Bombay.

(5) One of the Padres appointed to assist the Vicars within the
town and out of the Gates shall in rotation attend every week in the
Hospital except Padre Currat (Curate ?); and should they refuse so to
do, to be subject to such punishment as the Hon’ble Board shall think

roper.
P p(6) That the native Padres alone shall be entitled to the benefits
of the churches of Bombay, they being appointed and ordained by the
Bishop of Bombay, John Domingos and his successors as aforesaid.

(7) The former orders being reinforced, no Kuropean or country
Padres to be suffered to inhabit the Island but by special licence from
the ITon’ble Board ; which licence shall not be granted until the Vicars
first inform the Board of their persons, characters, and what business has
brought them to Bombay.

(8) That no public ceremonies or processions shall be made at the
churches after sunset.

(9) Whereas much disturbance has at times arose,between the
native Roman Catholics in regard to the ceremonies of the churches,
that the Hon’ble Board would therefore strictly forbid all manner of
persons whatsoever to interfere in these points with the Vicars or Mission-
aries, but decently to comfort [conduct ?] themselves and submit to the
orders given by the Bishop through them.

(10) That neither European [or] native Padres, or Roman Catholic
inhabitants, shall be permitted to send money for Masses or charities
off the island to other places or other churches, or make any manner of
feasts at churches out of the island ; as the same occasions much money
to be carried off the island without permission from the Bishop aforesaid
or his Vicars.

(11) That the European Missionaries do take proper care of the
education of the children of the Romans, to render them good subjects
to his Majesty and faithful servants to the Iion’ble Company. The
manner of conducting and managing a school for this purpose to be
formed by the said missionaries, subject to the approbation of the
Hon’ble Board.

(12) That it be recommended to the Bishop to be punctual in
seeing the above regulations and orders duly carried into execution ;
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and the Vicars of Bombay to render account to the Hon’ble Board in
case the Roman Catholics do not conform or are guilty of disobedience.
COMMENT ON THE DOCUMENT.

As regards the general tenor of this document we observe the follow-
ing points: (1) It strongly supports the authority of the Vicar-Apostolic
Fre John Dominic of St. Clare, and obedience to him in all things.
(2) It favours the rights of the native secular clergy but without dis-
respect to the Carmelites. (3) It aims at excluding outside clergy from
the island and from the churches. (4) It condemns references and ap-
peals to the Archbishop of Goa, and repudiates his interference in the
island. (5) Tt favours education of the faithful. (6) Fmally it favours
(Government control over Church aflairs as a means of securing proper
order, and espccially of excluding intrusion and interference from Goa—-
bearing witness to the fact that such intrusion and interference was
going on.

Whether this document was adopted by the Court and put into
eflect is not clear. The Viear-Apostolic, writing to Government much
later (1789) seems to imply that it was. For he says: “You will find in
the records, Hon’ble Sir, that the llon’ble Company not only confirmed
but highly approved of the establishment the Carmelites in this island ;
and you will also find that so late as the year 60 or thereabouts, their
jurisdiction was again confirmed in the person of Senhor .fohn Domingos
as the then Bishop of Bombay and his successors, who was solemnly
invested with spiritual authority over the Roman Catholies of thig
island ; and all clergy not ordained by him [were] absolutely forbid to
reside here upon pain of confiscation of their effects.”

This is clearly a quotatmn from the foregoing *“Articles (o be con-
sidered and pmposed ete.” On the other hand it is difficult to under-
stand such a confirmation of the authority of the Vicar-Apostolic at a
time when he was forbidden to reside in the island.  PPerhaps however the
cflorts of Propaganda in 1764 to get the Vicar-Apostolic reinstated had
been successful and this enactment was an outcome of the reconciliation.

CLERICAL RIVALRIES, 1770.

Besides the domestic quarrel of 1774-1748 and the jurisdiction-
troubles of 1764-1769, both previously related, we read of other forms
of contention :~ -First a.nong the regulars themselves ; secondly between
the vicars and their flocks ; and thirdly between the secular and regular
clergy. The first of these evils s portrayed in a government paper of
1770 published in the Gazctteer (Materials Vol. 111, p. 534) :—

“At a consultation of the 3rd July 1770 the Board read a petition
from Padre Francisco Xavier complaining of his having been superseded
in the Vicarage General of this island at the instigation of the President.
The President thereupon observes to the Board that ever since the
appointment of the said Padre Xavier to the post of Vicar-General on
this island, which happened some months ago, he has heen almost con-
tinually pestered with complaints from Padre Pedro, Vicar of Bombay.
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or Padre Reginaldo, Vicar of Mahim, or their respective parishioners.
These complaints the President understanding to have proceeded as
well from the said Francisco Xavier being a young man, and in their
church standing several years below the Viears of Bombay and Mahim,
also because of undue practices made use of by him in conjunction with
one Padre Clement to their prejudice, by which the patent was unjustly
obtained from the Bishop, the President took the opportunity of the
said Bishop’s calling here on his way to Surat in the month of November
last [1769], to desire and entreat him to make a strict and impartial
inquiry into the merits of their several allegations. As the aforesaid
Padres Pedro and Reginaldo had further represented the said Padre
Clement to be a man of bad character and one who interfered in con-
cerns with which he as an ecclesiastic had no business, and which the
President having heard in general from Mr. Wrench and other gentle-
men as well as Padres who had resided at Basra or Bushire, Mr. Jervis
only excepted who always spoke well of him, induced the President
further to desire the bishop to remove the said Clement, especially as
he was said not to be of this mission. This last the Bishop acknowl-
edged, and gave the President hopes that he would comply with. Short-
ly after the Bishop proceeded on examination as above desired, and
having acquainted the President that both Padres Pedro and Reginaldo
had been most reputably acquitted, he had given them certificates under
his hand accordingly. Afterwards when the President saw these certifi-
cates, looking upon it but as a piece of common justice due to the
injured Padres, he proposed, provided the Bishop had no material objec-
tion, the Bishop should grant the power and authority of Vicar-General
to Pedro the oldest of them, who always appeared to the, President a
very quiet man and against whom he had never received any complaint ;
which is more than he could say of Reginaldo or Francisco. In reply the
Bishop, having assured the President that, on his offering him the Vicar-
ship, Pedro had declined it, and proposing Padre Jacento then at Surat
for the post of Vicar-General as the best expedient for settling these dis-
putes, he being the oldest of their Order, the President acquiesced.
Afterwards the Bishop, having appointed one Padre Angelo to relieve
the said Jacento at Surat, requested the President to furnish the said
Padre with a lctter to the Chief of Surat, which he complied with as
per copy now read. From this explanation, together with the Presi-
dent’s most solemn assurance that the nomination of Padre Jacento
for Vicar-General was a voluntary thought and proposal of the Bishop,
the Board decided that the President used no compulsive means what-
ever with the Bishop in favour of the appointment of Padre Jacento, and
resolved that Padre Francisco Xavier’s complaint of the injustice he
has received be referred to the Bishop. And that a letter be wrote by us
to the Bishop assuring him he always has been and will continue to be
at full liberty to appoint whom he shall judge most proper for the
office of Vicar-General.”
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LAITY AGAINST CLERGY, L772,

The second form of dissension appears in the following entry
(Materials Vol. 1II, p. 535) :—

“At a consultation of the 10th March 1772 the Board received the
following petition of the Bombay and Mahim vereadores for and in
behalf of all the Roman Catholic subjects of this island. That betwixt
the petitioners and their Vicars®have arisen a great disconcord and,
differences on account of the following” ambitious exorbitance of the
said Vicars: (1) That they intend reimbursing all the effects of the
churches and oppressing the poor people on account of money. (2)
That they have said that by the authority granted them by your Gov-
ernment, they were constituted absolute arbitrators of the popular
liberty. (3) One of them, namely Fre Angelino, publicly stated that
the said authority is a key which they have in their power; and that
this Government had their hands locked by it regarding them the Padres.
(4) That under this system they the said Padres unanimously do threat-
en the poor people to pay ready and entire obedience to their com-
mands, subjecting them to a slavery without remission, as the Jesuits
did and do practise in the new Portuguese and Spanish colonies.* As
the said Padres are so insolent against “the poor people, your petitioners
humbly beg your Honour will be pleased to suspend the complaint of
the said Padres until the next meeting of this llonourab!: Board, these
petitioners having their just and needful reasons to represent to your
Honour.

PUBLISHING PAPAL BULLS, 1772.

“At the same time Mr. Shaw lays before the Board copy of a pub-
lication which he acquaints us the Padres have preswmed to affix on
their church, enforcing sundry bulls of the Popes, and. under pain of
excommunication, enjoining their flock to observe the regulations there-
in mentioned. This Mr. Shaw esteems an high contempt of Govern-
ment and therefore desires the Padres may be cited before the Board
to answer it, more particularly as there are in the records of the Board
the strictest orders that no publication be issued but by its directions.
Mr. Shaw further begs leave to move that the voice of the people may
be heard. On due consideration of these petitions it is resolved that
the Padres and their narishioners attend before the Board after the de-
parture of the Hampshire when enquiry will be made into their com-
plaints. In the meantime the Secretary is to cause the publications to
be pulled down, and to secure that, without the authority of Govern-
ment, none in future be permitted to be affixed.”

MISSION PROPERTY, 1772,
A third dissension, this time purely domestic, seems to have arisen
about the proprietorship of certain Bona Lcclesiastica of the mission,

* On the abusos prevalent among the Clergy of Goa, here alluded to, sco authentio
gzotixilgnts under the ycars 1658 and 1669 in Bullarium Patronatus, Vol. II, pp. 92,
{ ] (]
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whichsome of the Carmelites claimed for their Order. The question was
settled by Rome quoting (on August 17, 1772) a previous decree of
Clement X1 in 1716, to the effcct that the ** Spolia Archiepiscoporum,
Fpiscoporum et Vie. Apostolorum” pertained not to the order but
to the Congregation of Propaganda for the use of the mission.

On the death of Fre John Dominic in 1772, ¥re Charles of St.
Conrad was appointed to succeed himi (May 15, 1773). And whether
the British Government had come to an agreement with Propaganda, or
whether they tacitly withdrew their opposition, at least all obstacles
to the Vicar-Apostolic residing in the island seem to have ccased. In
tesponse to his request Propaganda permitted the secular priests of
the Vicariate to use the Carmelite liturgy for sake of uniformity (May
30th, 1778). lle also renewed and made use of the special privilege
of ordaining sub titulo missionis any suitable subjects drawn from any
diocese without the dimissorial letters from their respective prelates or
superiors —“provided they were not subjects of the King of Portugal.”
Fre €harles administered the Vieariate of Verapoly during a vacancy
there (1780-1781) and then, returning to Bombay, died in 1785, In his
time arose the question of extending the jurisdiction of the Viear-
Apostolic into Salsette, to which we must now give attention.

CHAPTER 1V.
THE QUESTION ABOUT SALSETTE (1771—1783).

Durinu the carlier period of our history (from 1534 to 1739) the coas’
lands immediately round Bombay island were all in the possession ol
the Portuguese (Chaul, Karanja, Salsette, Bassein and northwards to
Damaun) while outside this Poriuguese domain the Mahomedan powers
prevailed-- to the north the Bahadur of Gujerat, castwards and south-
wards the Sultan of Bijapur. In 1627, however, Sivaji was born.  Under
his leadership the Mahratta people were organised to throw off the yoke
of the Moslems ; and at his death in 1680 much of the Mahomedan area
just described had become independent, under leadership which later on
developed into the Mahratta Confederacy. This Confederacy gradually
spread its sway over the whole of the Mogul Empire, and from 1687
designs were entertained of driving out the Portuguese, and perhaps
cven the English.

THE LOSS OF SALSETTE.

But it was only in 1737 that this purpose was put into effect. For
in that year the Mahrattas, massing their forces, swept down upon
Basscin and Salsette. The Portuguese, who were miserably lacking in
men and supplies, made overtures to the English for help. The English,
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anxious at once to enjoy the amity of the Mahrattas and at the same
time that of the Portuguese, were carefully watching the situation ; and
while undertaking to furnish the Portuguese with supplics, managed at
the same time to furnish the Mahrattas with lead for the making of
bullets., Before 1739 the Mahrattas had taken Thana and Versova and
overrun Salsette, so that nothing of it except Bandra remained in Portu-
guese hands.  During their incursions many of the churches were destroy-
ed, and the missionaries retired td Bassein, Bombay or Goa to await the
passing of the storm. On account of the danger which would threaten
Bombay if Bandra should fall into Mahratta hands, the English urged
that its fortifications should be blown up. This was undertaken by the
English engineers with the agreement of the Portuguese. The ramparts
at the foot of N, 8. do Monte and those at the college of St. Anne were
broken down, and cven the Jesuit College itsell was not spared.  Upon
the Jesuit Fathers of Bandra complaining of this, the reply given by the
English was that “the college conld not possibly subsist after its defences
had heen removed.”  The superior of the college nevertheless opposed
its demolition so vigorously that the English engineers were for the time
forced to desist -remarking that “the power and influence of the Society
was 50 greal that they dared not carry out the orders even of the General
of the North”; and so thy resolved in council “to try and bring the
Padres to veason.”  Ultimately however the college was destroyed, so
that at the present day not a trace of it remains (Materials Vol. I, p.
204)*,
THE LOSS OF BASSEIN,

In the same year (1739) the fort of Bassein fell ; and its churches
and those of the neighbourhood were partly destroyed.  When the first
onslaught was over, the Mahrattas calmed down and agreed to honourable
terms of capitulation. They allowed that free passage should be given
to noble families and to Christians who desired to leave ~-many of whom
took refuge in Bombay ; also free passage to all the religious orders, and
to priests in general who did not wish to remain; that the Christians
ghould enjoy liberty of worship ; that the privileges of three churches
in Bassein should be preserved, besides one in the distriets and one in
Salsette ; that these churches should have curates subject to the Primate
of India, for him to settle their proper jurisdiction ; and finally, that

* It seems that the Jesuits had promised to contribute for the war 4,000 xeraphims
““out of their great capital in Bombay,” but had failed to kecp their promise, The
Portuguese authorities thercupon asked tho English to compel the Jesuits to fulfil their
obligation. The Government replicd that according to British law they could use no
other means than those of persuasion on those who had taken refuge under the protaction
of the crown ; but that no doubt whon the Jesuits returned to the jurisdiction of the
Portuguese, justice would take its due course (Muterials, Vol. I, p. 222). This occurred
in 1739, and the Jesuits referred to were apparently those who had left Bandra for Bom-
bay on the destruction of their college. Considering that the “great capital of the Josuits
in Bombay’' had been confiscated by the British twenty years before, and that all their

property in Salsctic had been lost to the Mahrattas since, there is & delicious irony in
the whole incident
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images in the churches should be allowed to remain. This treaty was
signed the same year, and the terms were honourably carried out.
(Materials Vol. I, p. 213).

Tiefentaller, the famous Jesuit geographer, who passed through the
district in 1750, informs us that when Bassein was taken by the Mahrattas
in 1739, the Portuguese nobles and all the regular clergy left for Goa.
The ordinary people remained, a natives priest taking charge of their souls
with the approbation of the Mahrattas. Iowever, most of the families
afterwards went away, and settled in Bombay. Bassein (he says) never
counted more than 3,500 inhabitants, though in the surrounding country
there were 30,000—among whom some were Christians. At Thana a
native priest was also in charge of the Christians, as in all the other towns
and villages of Salsette which had been conquered by the Mahrattas. In
Trombay there were two churches—one at the creek [Maroly], the other
on a mountain; but both nearly destroyed. e also mentions “the ruins
of the former Jesuit church of Bandra with its landed estates now in the
hands of the Mahrattas.”

Ten years later than this (in 1760) Perron, visiting the same parts,
mentiony the presence of curates at N. 8. da Concei¢ao at Thana and
at Poisar, whom he calls “Pretres Canorins” or Canarese priests ; their
manners free-and-easy and unlike those of Kuropeans. He says that
“the Mahrattas have left the Christians part of their churches, and
the greatest liberty to practise their religion ; hence the feasts are cele-
brated with the same pomp as at Goa, without risk, and even with the
respect of the gentiles.” Ile mentions the “ chief Franciscan” as being
at Surat ; also the Vicar of Kurla —with whom he smoked cheroots after
dinner. In another place he says that after the Mahrattas kad come, the
monks and other white fathers retired to Goa. The cures Canorins oc-
cupied the debris and the churches under a Vicar General of Canorin, who
lived at Kurla with some distinguo scholasties of the Franciscan school
(Da Cunha, p. 196).

We may complete this account by mentioning that Chaul and Karanja
were also lost to the Porfuguese in 1710 or shortly after. The Mahratta
sway extended itself over the whole coast-line both north and south of
Bombay ; and except for the small territories of Damaun and Diu, the
Portuguese regime was obliterated from the land.

SALSKTTE TAKEN BY THE ENGLISH.

In 1774 an attempt was planned by the Portuguese to retake Salsette ;
but they soon found the English engaged in a similar design. On the
Portuguese protesting that this effort on the part of the English was
against the terms of amity, the English replied that as they had lost
Salsette 37 years agoe, and made no attempt to retake it for that time, it
was as good as abandoned, and therefore fair game for another power.
The English actually managed to wrest Salsette from the Mahrattas in
the same year, 1774, and the district of Bassein in 1780,
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ECCLESIASTICAL JURISDICTION.

In 1775 or 1776, shortly after the English had taken Salsette and
Karanja from the Mahrattas, the Vicar-Apostolic, Fre Charles of St.
Conrad, wrote to Rome asking the permission of Propaganda to enter
into the spiritual government of those islands, where the English invited
him to take charge of the churches. The treatment of the subject by
Propaganda, which extended ove~ a space of four years, is shown in the
following summary of their letters :- -

Sept. 28, 1776.- -With regard to the question of extending jurisdic-
tion into Salsette, the Cardinals think that the matter should be in the
first instance broached personally by the Vicar-Apostolic dealing directly
with the Archbishop of Goa. He should not ask for the island to be
“detached” from Goa, but should obtain a “delegation.” By this com-
promise the jurisdiction of Goa will be saved. and the Knglish Govern-
ment at the same time satisfied.

July 8, 1777. -The same principles which regulate the exercise of
jurisdiet on in Bombay will regulate also for Salsette and Karanja [4.e.,
only to act where the Archbishop of Goa is prevented |. The ministra-
tions of the Vicar-Apostolic should be arranged in such a way as not to
be displeasing to the Archbishop, and limited strictly to what is neces-
sary. “Try and secure a delegation, so that you act as dependent on
him.”  Propaganda has written to the Nuncio of Lisbon asking him to
represent the facts to the Court, so that they may pass the matter on
to the Archbishop of Goa, asking him to condescend to delegate his
authority over the Islands (Salsette and Karanja) to the Vicar-Apostolic
till other arrangements can be made.

May 30, 1778.—Propaganda regrets that the Archbishop has shown
himself jealous of his own authority, and not heen amenable to the
Vicar-Apostolic’s prudent snggestions.  The 8. Congregation however is
negotiating the matter, and holds out hopes that the influence of the
Court of Portugal will be brought to bear on him.

August 28, 1779.—The Raja of Canara (or Sunda) has adopted the
same policy as the Knglish, of not admitting Portuguese priests or re-
cognising the Archbishop of Goa. But as those places also belong to
Goa, the Vicar-Apostolic cannot undertake care of them without infring-
ing his right. [1e should therefore ask the Archbishop of Goa once more
for faculties, ‘‘and we feel confident that under the circumstances he
will not refuse. In case however. he does refuse, the IHoly See gives
you the powers to exercise extraordinary jurisdiction, for such time as
the respective Governments are determined that no one else shall work
in Bassein and Canara.”

CONSENT NOT GIVEN.

The consent of the Portuguese authorities, which was asked for
directly by Propaganda in 1777 and again apparently in 1779, was never
obtained. Their attitude is represented in a letter written (15 March
1780), by the Secretary of State (Lisbon) to Goa, which says that the
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Papal Nuncio “has suggested that Iler Majesty (the Queen of Portugal)
should order you that in case the Vicar-Apostolic, established in the
Mogul Empire, applies for faculties to govern the Christian communities
of Bassein and other territories to the north of Goa, as also the extensive
region of Canara, Your Grace should not deny him the requisite powers,
The Nuncio alleges as a reason for this singular request, that even
though the said countries belong to the jurisdiction of the Archbishop
of Goa, the native potentates do not want these communities to he
governed, in matters of religion, by the said Archbishop, nor by mis-
sionaries appointed by him for these churches....You should therefore
take such measures as may be needful, but in such a way that neither
the said communities be totally deprived of pastors, nor the Royal
Patronage and the ample jurisdiction of the Primacial diocese be di-
minished in any way: nor should you allow any noveltics from which
the least harm may follow.”

This request scems to have stirred up the authorities of Goa, not to
grant, the faculties to the Carmelites, but rather to render the conces-
sion unnecessary, by providing Padroado missionaries for the countries
in question (Salsette, ete. and Canara) and by appealing to the ruling
powers there 1o allow them to minister to the Christians.  Hence the
Governor of Goa replied to the Recretary of State (Jan. 1, 1781) as
follows -

“1 have co-operated with the Bishop Administrator of the diocese,
helping him in everything for the maintenance of the Royal Patronage;
not only by ordering the Royal Treasury to contribute to the mission-
aries the customary subsidy, but also by writing to the chiefs, rulers
and governors of those foreign territories where there are missions,
asking them to protect the said missionaries, and not to withhold from
them the free and open exercise of the Catholie religion and the ad-
nministration of the sacraments” (quoted in D’Sa, Hist, of Diocese of
Damaun, p. 107-108.)F

THE CLERGY OF SALSETTE.

We have not ro far found the Vicar-Apostolic making any use of
the extraordinary jurisdiction granted to him over Salsette. As a matter
of fact, the native clergy had been in unmolested possession of their
churches throughout the Mahratta domination (1739-1774), and remained
in unmolested possession under English rule from 1771 onwards, The
English Government, while repudiating the authority of the Archbishop
of Goa in the abstract, dealt with the priests and congregations on an
individual basis, and did not concern itself with ccclesiastical technical-
ities, Hence they were quite ready to allow the Salsette clergy to con-

Sta Catharina, appointed Bishop of Cochin and Administrator of Goa, passed through
Bombay on his way to Goa (in about 1783) some Carmelites of Bombuy came to see him
and expressed tho hupe that as he was of the same Order he would settle amicably the
dissensions between the two jurisdiotions. To this he replied:—¢Rev. Fathers, I was
already a Portugucse before I became & Carmelite,”
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tinue in their churches so long as the people were satisfied with them,
and so long as no contentions arose through the interference of the
Archbishop of Goa.

THE SEMINARY, 1775.

The first (tentative) proclamation of Government in 1718 gave to
Fre Maurice “ample liberty to remain and exist on this island with six
priests that you shall nominate. & .with the Presbyters your subjects.”
The six were to be Carmelite friars, while the Preshyters were secular
priests already serving the churches under the Portuguese Franciscans ;
most of whom, if not all, remained and gave their allegiance to the
Vicar-Apostolie, while those unwilling either retired from office or left
the island.

In the (undated) “Adbridgment” we find a number of sccular priests;
under the Vicar-Apostolie, divided into two sets : the older ones ordained
by the Archbishop of Goa, and a few younger ones ordained by the
Vicar-Apostolic.  The former were so doubt{ul of the validity (or at least
liceity) of the Vicar-Apostolic’s jurisdiction that they seem to have
secretly secured faculties and dispensations from Goa; and they suc-
ceeded in injecting like doubts into the minds of the younger priests
ordained in the Vicariate.

In the “Articles to be considered” (dated perhaps about 1769) we find
figures showing that the secular priests were too numerous, and the
suggestion that 18 would be sufficient. Such was the abundance of the
clergy that besides the Carmelites (not more than b in number) they could
afford to have six native assistants at Esperanga, two at the Fort Chapel,
two at Gloria Church, four at Salvacio and four at St. Michacl’s, Mahim,
| From various.indications we find that a Carmelite always held the post
of a parish priest, and the secular clergy were always assistants till the
Holy See ordered it to be done otherwise in 1787].

1t is not clear at what date the Vicar-Apostolic hegan to secure voci-
tions for the priesthood. Already in 1717 he held faculties to “ordain
candidates [rom other dioceses sub titulo missionis, and without dim-
issorial letters from their respective Ordinaries.” We know that these
faculties created a great commotion among the Padroado bishops at that
time, which may perhaps have caused the Vicar-Apostolic to be cautious
in using them. Whether he actually ordained any priest before 1764
we do not know ; but we cane across a note casually somewhere saying
that “on account of the disloyalty towards him of priests ordained in
Goa, the Vicar-Apostolic began in future to select local subjects and
ordain them himself.” This “disloyalty’ ascribed to the Goan priests was
probably the trouble which arose about 1764, and which otherwise
remains unexplained. Hence the application to Rome in that year for
a renewal of faculties, which was granted on August 24th, 1765. The
Ordination book of the Vicariate dates its first ordinations in 1775. This
shows that the first candidates must have begun their studies in about
1770—which is just the date we should expect. After four ordinations
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in 1775, the numbers vary, 1,2, or 3 al a time, giving a total of 19
priestsin 25 years (1775-1800). Some of them were natives of Bombay
island, others from different parts of Salsette.

In 1775 or so the Vicar-Apostolic wrote to Rome proposing to build
a seminary in Bombay. Propaganda replics (Sept. 28, 1776) that they
cannot as yet entertain the idea of building ; but let a house be rented,
and the 8. Congregation will pay the rent. ** Specify what funds you will
require to support twelve candidates. Meantime let the Fathers take turns
in teaching and directing the establishment.” They promise that Antonio
Pinto da Gloria, now being educated in Rome, will be sent out next
year, and he can then take charge of the teaching.  In order to secure
a succession of teachers send two wore pupils to Rome. Tf you succeed
in your scheme, and get help for the institution from the faithful, we can
then think of a better plan.”

The first bateh of priests seem to have been very poorly trained (and
no wonder, since there were no schools at all then, and everybody except
those taught at home in the better families must have been illiterate).
Hence they found it practically impossible to say the Breviary. On
being asked for a dispensation from Rome, Propaganda replies (Sept. 28,
1776) “As regards the ignorant priests who want to drop the office on
account of lack of education and ignorance of Latin ; Instruct them in
patience ; and in future be careful to ordain only those who have know-
ledge as well as piety.” TIn 1778 the indult was given to allow the
secular priests to use the Carmelite instead of the Roman ordo, for sake
of uniformity. In the same ycar the permission “to ordain candidates
from other dioceses without patrimony and with dimmissorial letters from
their own Ordinaries” was rencwed, but with the restriction :—“Provid-
ed they are not subjects of Ilis Faithful Majesty the King of Portugal.”
(30, May 1778).

After this for some years we hear nothing about the senunary,
except that Propaganda sent a subsidy regularly for the rent of the
howse. In 1785 however we find Father Antonio Pinto da Gloria in
Bombay, and in receipt of a salary from Propaganda for teaching in
the seminary. He wishes however to have the parish of de 8. N, Salute
{==Salvagio] which is vacant; in which case he will continue to teach
but will sacrifice his salary -and this arrangement is approved. After
this there scems to be nothing particular to record about the seminary
during the period under consideration.
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CHAPTER V.
VARIOUS EVENTS (1740—1786)

WE must now go back a little to take notice of some details of
archeological interest regarding the churches of Bombay island during
this period.

THE FORT GRAVE-YARD, 1740,

We have already mentioned that the first Vicar-Apostolic, on
reaching Bombay in 1720, first lived in a private house ; but later on
(perhaps in 1726) he bought or built a house for himself in the fort, to
which a private chapel was attached—afterwards to develop into the
Fort Chapel under the title of Our Lady of Mount Carmel. Somewhere
near it there was a Catholic cemetery within the limits of the town wall
near to a public road. In 1740 the Vicar-Apostolic represented to Govern-
ment the inconvenience of this place, and obtained a site in exchange
for it outside the walls. (Materials Vol. III, p. 567). We have failed
to discover where the old cemetery lay, and also the spot to which it
was transferred. We may, however, conjecture that the new grave-yard
was somewhere in the district of Sonapur, which was more extensive
then than now, and comprised the plot on which the Klphinstone High
School and 8t. Xavier’s High School now stand.  Within the memory of
those still living, a cemetery with a cross stood just at the south-west
corner of the Elphinstone playground, and was removed for the erec-
tion of that building in 1872. Probably this was the new cemetery
referred to in the minutes of 1740.

PAREL CHAPEL, 1750.

After lying abandoned for thirty years, the chapel and grounds at
Parel, confiscated from the Jesuits in 1719, were utilised for secular
purposes.  For we read, under date 1750, that “the Governor has a very
agrecable country-house which was originally a Romish chapel belonging
to the Jesuits, but was confiscated for some foul practices against the
English interest in 1719. It is now converted into a pleasant mansion-
house with additional buildings and improvements. (Materials Vol.
IT1, p. 576). The only portion of the original building remaining seems
to be the chapel, on which an upper storey was raised. (Maclean).

Twenty years ago (1906), the interior of the Chapel and sacristy
could easily be identified ; but since then structural changes have obscur-
ed recognition. There only remains a marblo tablet at the entrance which
runs as follows :—This building, once a chapel in the possession of the
Jesuit Fathers, from whom it was acquired (sic) in the year 1719, was
subsequently used as an occasional residence by the Governor of Bombay.
In the year 1803 it was occupied by Sir Jas. Mackintosh, 2nd Recorder of
Bombay. From 1829 it was the permanent residence of the Governor,
till it was abandoned after the term of office of Sir Jas. Fergusson (1880-
1885). From November 8th to November 15th, 1875 His Royal High«
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ness the Prince of Wales, afterwards His Majesty King Edward VII,
occupied a room in the building.”
TIEFFENTALLER’S DESCRIPTION, 1750,
Tieffentaller, visiting Bombay in 1750, thus describes what he saw :
—“At the fortified town there are two Catholic churches; the one
of Our Lady inside the town [Fort Cha,pd] the other a great one
outside [N. 8. d’Esperanca]. The batefooted Carmelites hold services
there. To the principal church just mentioned b:long three other parish
churches [Gloria, Salvag@io and Mahim]. Mahim is a village with a
Catholic church. Opposite are the ruins of the former church of Bandra
and its landed estates, now in the hands of the Mahrattas. Another landed
estate near to the city with a church is at Parella, the revenues of which
belonged to the college of Agra; but it is now fallen into the hands
of the English. The number of the Catholies in the city, not including
the villages round, is about 1,000, The Catholic Church [of N. 8.
QEsperanga] is also visited by pagans, many of whom bring there
presents to Our Lady, and admire the magnificence of the Catholic
worship. 1llere also is a pagoda with pictures of horrid monsters—a
bull with 100 arms and half-bull half-man, ete., terrible to see. (Probably
the Mumbadevi temple). Sunday is observed not only by the English
but also by the labourers and merchants, who are not allowed to sell on
that day. Crimes are punished in the English manner by the gallows,
ete.”
EXPANSION OF BOMBAY.

This leads us to a very interesting point which must be introduced
as a digression. One of the first endeavours of the English from the
first had been to render their possession of Bombay safe from foreign
attack. Surrounded by many enemies—the Portuguese, the French, the
Dutch, the Angrias, Sidis and Mahrattas —they were constantly sub-
ject to the greatest alarms. They managed by degrees to place round
the island a nwmber of small forts [at Chowpatty, Breach Candy,
Worli, Mahim, Dharavi, Sion, Sewri, Mazagon, etc.]; but their chief
anxiety was for Bombay proper. Their first work was to build on the
site of the Portuguese “Great llouse” a strong castle with ramparts
and ordnance heavy enough to resist all attack—which they did in
such sort that the Dutch on one occasion went away bafled, finding
that it was “as stark as the diel.” Around this Castle [still standing
behind the Town Hall] there grew up gradually a group of docks, ware-
houses, offices and courts. In 1670 the first street in the Fort was
planned corresponding to the present Bazaar Gate Street, and ground
was pegged out for the formation of a town. In 1718 this area was
completely surrounded by a weak and hastily-built wall. At the same
date the Anglican Church of 8t. Thomas (now the Cathedral) was finished
and opened, and the thoroughfares of Church Gate Street and Apollo
Street formed. By degrees the area within the walls was filled up, and
the walls themselves were gradually strengthened by raveling and
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a ditch, the construction of which was in full swing by the year
1740. An extension running out to the outlying fort of St. George
[on the site of St. George’s Hospital) was commenced in 1755. The
fortifications ran from the Government Dock Yard along Rampart
Row, Esplanade Road and lHornby Road to the present Victoria Ter-
minus, and then turned round along Fort Street to the sea. There
were threc entrances—Apollo Gate close by the present Scottish Church ;
the Church Gate close by the Floral Fountain; and the Bazaar Gate
at the end of Bazaar Gate Street opposite the Terminus. The whole of
this war-like paraphernalia was removed in 1863, and the space utilised
for streets—the present Rampart Row, Hornby Road and Fort Street ;
but foundations were laid bare by the cxcavations recently made in the
Government Dock Yard, at the General Post Office and in the gardens and
under the new wing of the European Hospital—besides a small powder
magazine now abutting on Frere Road, which then stood on the shore
of the Harbour before the eastern reclamation was made.

THE TRANSFER OF ESPERANCA, 1760.

Another precaution adopted by the Government was to make a
clearance all round the ramparts—to which measure we owe our present
oval and maidan outside the Fort. In 1739 a space of 400 yards was
first fixed upon, and gradually cleared by the demolition of houses,
the levelling of sandhills and the cutting down of trees. The church of
Esperanga was among the buildings to be victimised. It stood just
outside the Bazaar Gate, and well within the 400 yards limit—close to a
large tank shown in some old maps just about the middle of where the
Victoria Terminus now stands. Reserving fuller particulars for a de-
tailed monograph, we need here only say that in 1760 Government
issued a special order to the Padres to remove their church—offering to
pay all expenses, as well as to arrange for a new plot of ground further
away from the walls, and allowing them the services of the “Christian
Militia” for the work of demolition. The new site was found some-
where in the present Maidan—probably where the great cross stands
near Marine Lines—and the new church was erected upon it. It seems
that the old Mumbadevi pagoda (probably that described by Ticffen-
taller) was also removed about this time to Pydoni in the centre of
the present native town.

ESPERANCA ¥S. FORT CHAPEL, 1770,

The removal of Esperanga Church from the Bazaar Gate to what
we now call Marine Lines, which took place shortly a'ter 1760, became
the occasion of n dissension in 1770, the details of which must now be
related.

For the third time we have to repeat that the Vicar-Apostolic upon
his arrival in 1720 took up residence in a private house ; but presently
(perhaps in 1726) he asked and obtained leave to set up a house of his
own, with a private chapel attached, to which the neighbouring faithful
were admitted for Mass. The great distance of the new Church of
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Esperanga from the Fort caused the Vicar-Apostolic to enlarge this
chapel, and in December 1767 to eclevate it into a parish church for the
Fort arca (=Our Lady of Mount Carmel, Medows Street, popularly called
the Fort Chapel). Out of the funds of this chapel Rs. 1,484 had been
contributed towards the building of the new church of Esperanga ; and
when in 1770 the Vicar-Apostolic ordered that interest should be paid on
this sum, the parishioners of Esperanga Church raised a complaint not
only against this claim, but also against the Fort Chapel being placed on
the independent footing of a separate parish church. It was (they said)
really no more than a private house to which the people close by were
admitted to Mass and confession, and it ought to remain subordinate to
the Vicar of Hsperanga. The Viear-Apostolic replied firmly that the
chapel in town was always the property of the Carmelites, in which the
Vicar-Apostolic had from the first resided as on his own property ; and
that it did not depend upon the parishioners or Vicar of Esperanga. He
insisted on the payment of the interest, but whether he got it we are
not told.

PAROCHTAL COMPLAINTS, 1786,

Sixteen years later, in 1786, the “Inhahitants of Bombay” marshalled
a long list of complaints against the administration of the churches in
gencral and Esperanga Church in particular. It was addressed to Fre
Victorino de Sta Maria, who during the vacancy of the See was Vicar-
General or Pro-Vicar-Apostolic. Their points were : (1) Absenteeism of
the Carmelite parish-priests, [presumably for lack of men]. (2) In con-
sequence, the curates (native clergy) were overworked ; hence the sug-
gestion that they should be put in charge of the churches in preference
to foreigners. (3) The appointment of native wardens -in preference
to Kuropeans. (1) Renewed protest against the Fort Chapel being an
independent parish chureh. (5) That the priests should first fulfil their
duties of saying the parish Mass at a suitable hour before going out else-
where to “houses” for Mass—a hLit presumably at the Fort Chapel. (6)
Complaints against the administration of the parish funds. (7) About
ccremonies of marriage. (8) About stipends for Masses. (9) Negligence
of the wardens to keep the church clean and neat and in repair. (10) Bad
account-keeping.

To these many complaints the Vicar-General returned a somewhat
defensive reply on April 6th, 1786, which gave so little satisfaction that
on June 23rd a body of twenty-two parishioners sent in a counter-comment
in a tone of great acerbity, warning the Vicar-General against imitating
the ruinous policy of King Roboam, and threatening him vaguely with the
consequences of provoking his sons to rage. Their frequent citations of
the Council of Trent and constitutions of popes and declarations of canon-
ists showed that they had some priest or priests at their back. They
end in expressing certainty that they shall have “entire execution of
[their] pious wishes,” and so “shall have no occasion to be obliged to
procure redress in the tribunal of the justice secular”—and in the interim
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they sign themselves: ‘ Your Reverence’s the most honourable and
obscequious people”’—Antonio Barretto and fifteen others.

To this somewhat molodramatic diatribe the Vicar-General gave a
conciliatory reply (Aug. 5, 1786) settling several points on the lines re-
quested, and leaving the others over till the appointment of a new Vicar-
Apostolic.

A PADROAMDO OATH, 1782.

Some time before 1778 the Padroado authorities had drawn up a
bond to be signed on oath by Propaganda missionaries proceeding to
the Kast via Lisbon and Portugal [Why any of them went that way is
more than I can say—perhaps for lack of other means of transport]. It
was imposed as a condition for receiving the benefit of the regium
placitum, and took the following form :- -

“On 8th March 1782 before Martinho de Mello E. Castro (Min. and
Sec. of State for Foreign affairs) there appeared [threce Capuchins] who
with the permission of Her Majesty embark as missionaries : the first
two to the missions in the Empire of the Great Mogul, and the third to
those in Madras. They promise to comply with and observe the orders
of Her Majesty, not to undertake or do any act directly or indirectly
prejudicial to the Royal Patronage which Her Majesty fosters in all the
missions of Asia. They thus affirmed toto pectore and swore on the Holy
Evangel. In truth of which they signed this bond along with the said
Minister and Sccretary of State” [Here follow the three signatures].
(Quoted in Godinho, p. 19).

It seems that the question of this oath had previously been referred
to Rome; for in & collection of decrees summarised by Fre Pedro
d’Alcantara, we find the following item: 1778. Jen. 6. “In regard to
the oath to Crown and Patronage of the King of Portugal [imposed] on
all the East Indies by that Court and presented to the missionaries, S.
Cong. de Propaganda has declared that it cannot be taken.” [Ale. Vol.
). 113).

} Nevertheless, this or some similar form of oath continued to be
cxacted. Forin a letter of Propaganda dated February 18, 1786 to
the Vicar-General in Bombay we read : “The consecration of Father
Angelino [the prospective Vicar-Apostolic] is delayed on account of an
oath claimed as of right by the Archbishop of Goa. It is to be hoped
that the difficulty will be removed.” [The difficulty was solved by the
sudden death of Fre Angelino in Europe ; and Fre Victorino of St. Mary,
to whom this letter was addressed, received appointment as his suc-
cessor in the Vicariate (Letter, Oct. 6, 1787).

DETACHIIMENT OF HINDUSTAN, 1784.

In 1784 the Holy See separated Hindustan from the Vicariate and
gave it over to the Capuchins of the Thibet mission. These Capuchins
had made Patna their centre as early as 1707, whence they had started
for Lhassa. Here they founded a mission which, however, after many
vicissitudes had finally to be abandoned in 1745. They also tried Nepal;
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but here again the mission had to be suppressed in 1769. After that
they concentrated their energies on Behar and Bettiah with Patna as
their headquarters.

For the purposes of this history Hindustan meant the Mogul centres
of Agra, Delhi, Lahore and other places of less importance. Various
efforts to found missions there had been made by the Jesuits from Goa,
and with the beginnings of success (1480-1591, 1595, 1615, ete.) But the
expulsion of the Jesuits from the P«ntuguese dominions in 1759, and
the ultimate suppression of the Order in 1773, put an end to this enter-
prise. The Vicar of the Great Mogul sent a missionary or two to take
care of the abandoned Christians; but the Carmelites were few in
number, and too far away to eflect anything. Therefore the Vicar-
Apostolic of the Great Mogul suggested to Rome that the interior parts
of his mission should be given to the Capuchins of Patna, as being
nearer and closer in touch. This suggestion was accepted by Propaganda,
who on May 17th, 1784 issued a resolution to that effect (Ale. Vol. p. 47).
One or two Carmelites remained at their posts till a new batch of
Capuchin missionaries arrived ; and the last of them was only withdrawn
in 1801. The vast area thus taken charge of by the Capuching was
afterwards gradually divided up into several vicariates which later on
became dioceses : Agra 1820 ; Patna 1845 ; Allahabad 1886 ; Lahore 1886 ;
Ajmere 1891 ; Simla 1910. And so Hindustan passes out of our history.

THE CURTAILED VICARIATE.

After the separation of Ilindustan there remained to the Vicariate
outside Bombay island only the following mission centres: (1) Bijapur
and Golkonda to the cast; (2) Surat to the north; (3) Karwar to the
south ; besides which there were the beginning of developments at (4).
Broach northwards and (5) Coorg southwards. Notes on these places
are being accumulated for use later on.

SECULARS AND REGULARS, 1787.

The next Vicar-Apostolic, Fre Angelino of St. Joseph, was appointed
in 1785 but died before he could come to India in 1786. His successor,
Dom Fre Victorino of St. Mary, was nominated in 1787, and consecrated
at Verapoly in 1789. From a decision of Propaganda dated the first
year of his rule we gather that the Carmelite fathers, besides dissensions
among themselves and with their parishioners, as previously recorded,
had also given dissatisfaction to the secular clergy. The latter havmg
complained to Rome, the Congregation replied on October Gth, 1787
enclosing a decree of Sx,pt 10, 1787 couched in the following terms :—

“Whereas it has become known that abuses have crept into the
City of Bombay—that all the parishes are occupied by Missionaries
regular, and that sometimes one parish-priest holds two parishes to the
spiritual prejudice of souls and the temporal prejudice of the sccular
clergy—the Sacred Congregation, adhering to the constitutions of the
sacred canons, at the instancoe of his Eminence Cardinal Carrara, has
decreed and ordered that in the distribution of parishes the secular
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priests shall be preferred to regulars ; but in the absence of a proper
secular priest it shall be lawful for them [the regulars] to assume the
charge of souls. Secondly, that henceforward no single parish-priest
shall retain the charge of two parishes. Thirdly, that of the two parishes
held at present by Father Victorinus of the B. Virgin, and by Father
Charles of 8t. Peter, Discalced Carmelites, one shall promptly be given
to the priest Antony Pinto da oria, and the other to such secular
priest as the Vicar-Apostolic shall judge most fit in the Lord.”

e e —

PART 1V.
THE REVERSION TO GOA (1786—1789).
CHAPTER T.
THE REVERSION PROPOSED (1786).

Down to the year 1786, we have seen how the authorities at Goa
submitted to the inevitable, allowing the Vicars-Apostolic to work in
the island, and even to some extent accepting their ministrations outside
it in those districts which were destitute of clergy. lowever, at about
the date of which we are writing (1786) a movement was initiated with
a view of restoring the Portuguese jurisdiction in Bombay island ; and
it iy this movement and its effects which now come under our considera-
tion,

The Mauritius MS. introduces the subject in the following terms :—
“The Church of N. 8. da Ksperanga had been occupied (successively) by
14 Carmelite missionaries during a period of 70 years. These missionaries
were generally looked on with great satisfaction by the Christians at
large. But Sir Miguel de Lima,* who was reputed the head and chief
of the native Portuguese in Bombay on account of his great influence
with the English government, began to persecute both the Vicar-Apostolic
and his migsionaries as usurpers of the archi-episcopal jurisdiction of
Goa.” The MS. ascribes this “persccution” to an incident in which Sir
Miguel asked a distinguished Protestant friend to stand god-father to his
new born daughter. When this was forbidden by the Vicar-Apostolic on
grounds of canon law, Sir Miguel grew angry and threatened to bring
about his expulsion from Bombay. ¢Sir Miguel then wrote to the

* Sir Miguol de L'ma e Souza scems to have been the ownor of the most part of
Mazagon, In 1572 the island of Mazagon had been granted in perpetuity by a Portu-
guose royal patent to the e Souza family (Kdwardes p. 35). It was this family which
founded the Gloria charch at an eurly date. The Caljutta branch of the Souza family
contributed largely to the rebuilding of the church in 1810 (Edwardes, Note page 38).
The name “Migucl de Lima e Souza’ apparently indicatos connection by marriage ; but
otherwise we have no details of the family. The main street of Mazagon is still called
Do Lima Streot. -
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Archbishop of Goa, and they both requested the King of Portugal to
remonstrate with the King of England, urging him to restore the churches
of Bombay to the jurisdiction of Goa, and to expel the Carmelites out of
the island ; and various means were used in Bombay itself to win over the
native clergy to that side.” We do not however believe that the recovery
of Goa jurisdiction depended greatly on local influences. The Padroado
authorities had never acquiesced in tk.2ir loss of jurisdiction in Bombay,
and were only waiting for some occasion for an attempt to recover it.
The negotiations of Propaganda in 1778-1780, to enable the Vicar-
Apostolic to extend his jurisdiction into Salsette, apparently gave to
Goa the opening required : “ Instead of asking us to give up Salsette,
rather give us back Bombay and get rid of the Vicar-Apostolic alto-
gether,” seems to have been the attitude adopted. 1lence if Sir Michael
de Lima was really the local instigator of the movement, at least the
ground was already well prepared.

We possess in the archives several official documents relative to the
event, the substance of which we shall now produce.

WALPOLE’S LETTER, 1786.

The first is a letter from Walpole, the English envoy at the court
of Portugal, to the Marquis of Caermarthen—dated Lisbon January 5th
1786—which narrates the preliminary negotiations of the whole affair:—

“My Lorp,—Monsicur de Mello, 1Ier most Faithful Majesty’s
Sccretary of State for the Department of the Foreign Colonies, has men-
tioned to me the following affair :~-

“ That by the Treaty concluded on the marriage of King Charles the
second and the Infanta of Portugal, Bombay was ceded to Great Britain,
with the Reservation to the Roman Catholicks of the full enjoyment of
their Religion in the same manner as before ; that consequently the
Spiritual jurisdiction in regard to the nccessary functions requisite for
the exercise of the Roman Religion remained by the stipulation of the
Treaty with the Archbishop of Goa, within whose Diocese Bombay and its
Dependencies for that patticular purpose has always been acknowledged
to be, and continued so till the Vicar General within the Dominions of
the Great Mogul or Bishop in partibus usurped a Jurisdiction which [he]
now [exercises] over the Roman Catholicks settled at Bombay and its
Dependencies. That a late Nomination of a |Father ? Friar ?] of that
country to be Vicar General within the Grand [Mogul’s] Dominions,
which in the Official Proceedings required [some] confirmation at this
Court, has excited an enquiry here into the extent of the Exercise of
this Office, and has afforded this Court the information above-mentioned,
in regard to the authority which has becn usurped by the Bishop
[in partibus]in derogation of the Jurisdiction of the Archbishop of Goa.
That accordingly the Pope’s Nuncio at this Court has been spoken to upon
the Subject, [that] the authority of the Vicar General or Bishop in
partibus [be] disallowed, and it is required that the Archbishopof (toe’s
Spirityal Jurisdiction should not be encroached upon.
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¢ The Gentlemen of the Nunciature at this Court do not controvert
the Right of the Archbishop of Goa to Spiritual jurisdiction over the
Roman Catholicks at Bombay and its Dependencies, as within the Diocese
of the Archbishop of Goa, but allege that from the year 1718, or 1720,
the Government of Bombay, having been on ill-terms with the Archbishop
of Goa on account of improper persons having been introduced by the
Archbishop of Goa into the Benefices or Ecclesiastical functions of that
Religion, the Vicar General or Bishop in partibus was obliged in duty and
Conscience to take upon him a jurisdiction which the Roman Catholicks
called for in the failure of the Exercise of that of the Archbishop of Goa;
but that they do not pretend to exercise that jurisdiction as of right, but
only through necessity—as they allow that the Archbishop of Goa has
alone the proper jurisdiction ; and therefore when his jurisdiction shall
be allowed of and received at Bombay, that of the Vicar General or
Bishop in pattibus will cease and determine [i. ¢., come to an end.]

“This is the state in which this business appears, upon which I
have learnt from those of the Court of Rome as well as the Portugueze
Minister. .

“ But Monsicur de Mello, in answer to the pretence which the
gentlemen of the Nunciature have plausibly advanced, of the dissatisfac-
tion of the Government of Bombay at the improper exercise of the
Spiritual jurisdiction by the Archbishop of Goa, says that the Governor
of Bombay ought to have rejected the Persons improperly nominated by
the Archbishop of Goa, as he may do as often as such occasions offer :
and therefore the reasons alleged by the gentlemen of the Nunciature are
nugatory, and are offered merely as motives to justify the retaining [of]
jurisdiction which the Vicar General in the Grand Mogul’s Dominions or
Bishop in partibus has usurped at Bombay.

“In consequence of this subject being mentioned to me by Monsieur
de Mello, with a considerable degree of carnestness and desire of this
Court that the Archbishop of Goa may be restored to his spiritual juris-
diction at Bombay by virtue of the stipulation of the Marriage Treaty,
I think it my duty to state the matter to your Lordship ; being persuaded
that her most Faithful Majesty will be duly sensible of his Majesty’s
Attention to this subject. And I flatter myself that your Lordship will
be pleased to receive 1Jis Majesty’s Commands to empower me to assure
the Secretary of State that proper measures will be taken towards
accomplishing what will be so agreeable to her most Faithful Majesty, by
causing thenecessary Instructions to be given to the Governor of Bombay
for the purpose of restoring to the Archbishop of Goa the spiritual juris-
diction necessary for the cxercise of the Religion of the Romap Catholicks
settled within the Government of Bombay.

“I have the Honor to be,
“ROBERT WALPOLE, etc.”
INSTRUCTIONS FROM THE DIRECTORS.
Then follows a letter of instructions sent by the Court of Directors
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in London to Bombay, and dated July 21st, 1786—a portion of which
runs as follows :—

“We have received the copy of a letter from Mr. Walpole, His
Majesty’s Envoy Extraordinary at the Court of Portugal, to the Marquis
of Carmarthen, one of His Majesty’s Principal Secretaries of State, on
the subject of a Jurisdiction stated to be assumed by the Vicar-General
within the Mogul Dominions over the Catholic Inhabitants of Bombay
to the prejudice of the Aichbishop of Goa, and contrary to the stipula-
tions of the Treaty which passed between the Courts of England and
Portugal, when Bombay was ceded to the former upon the marriage of
His Majesty Charles the second with the Infanta of Portugal; and it
being her most faithful Majesty’s desire that the Archbishop of Goa
may be restored to his Spiritual jurisdiction at Bombay, we direct that
you take the proper measures for restoring to the Archbishop of Goa
the Spiritual jurisdiction necessary for the exercise of the Religion
of the Roman Catholicks scttled within the Government of Bombay,
agrecable to the copy of Mr. Walpole’s Letter herewith transmitted ; by
which you will observe that from the year 1718 or 1720 the Government
of Bombay had been on ill-terms with the Archbishop of Goa on ac-
count of 1mproper persons having been introduced by the Archbishop
into the Benefices or ccclesiastical functions of that religion, but that
our Government ought to have rejected the persons improperly nominat-
ed by the Archbishop, and which you may continue to do as often as
such occasions offer.”

THE 'TRANSFER ANNOUNCED, 1789,

More than two years were allowed to lapse before these instructions
were put into effect. At length, on February 18th, 1789, the following
intimation of the coming change was conveyed to the Vicar-Apostolic :—

The Reverend Padré Vicar of the Catholic churches,
In Bombay and its Dependencies.

Sir, -~-The Reverend Archbishop Primate at Goa having claimed the
jurisdiction over the Catholic churches under this Government, and con-
sequently the nomination of Priests to officiate therein, The Hon’ble
The President in Council has been pleased to admit His Reverence’s
claim, and has commanded me to apprize you that he expects all the
present Incumbents will evacuate their benefices on the arrival of such
Priests as the Archbishop may send from Goa to supply them ; and this
notice you will be pleased to communicate accordingly to those whom
it may concern.

. I a, Sir, ete.
18th February, 1789. WiLLiam Page, Secy.

PETITION AGAINST THE TRANSFER.

The next document is a petition from “the inhabitants of the island”
headed by one Mr. Michael Firth of Mahin, and presented to the Gov-
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ernment towards the end of February :—

To The Hon’ble Major General William Medows, President and Gov-
ernor, etc.....

The Roman Catholic inhabitants of this Island most humbly repre-
sent unto your Honour in Council the extreme grief and affliction which
they experience from the intelligence they have that this Hon’ble Govern-
ment intends surrendering up thespiritual Government of the Catholick
churches of this Island to the Archbishop Primate of Goa.....

No one will doubt that the spiritual Government over these churches
did formerly appertain to the Archbishop of Goa ; but from the year 1720
he lost all his claim over these churches because the Hon’ble Government,
having driven out of these churches the Reverends Portuguese Priests. ...
and having at the same time given over the Government thereof to
Bishop Mauricius de Santa Thereza. . ..for him, his successors and his
Friars or Monks Carmelites to officiate in the churches of this Island ;
this gave occasion for the Portuguese State to declare war with that
of the English, and which war was carried on so as that the Portuguese
made themselves Masters of the Fort of Worley : in retaliation of which
the English State procceded to Salsette and made themsclves Masters
of a certain Fort called St. Jeronimo situated in the River of Tannah.
This war did last from June till September following, at which time his
Excellency Dom Joseph Lampayo arrived from Lisbon at Goa as Vice-Roy
of Goa and Captain General of the Statein India. As soon as his, arrival
was announced at Bombay, the Hon’ble the then President in Council
did immediately send two Gentlemen as Ambassadors to treat with the
said Vice-Roy the terms of Peace; and in the Capitulation which took
place on that occasion the said Vice-Roy did confirm the said surrender-
ing up the Government of this Island to his Excellency the said Bishop
Dom Mauricius and his successors, and did concede the whole right which
the adowson of Portugal and the Archbishop of Goa had theretofore
exercised in the administration of the churches in this Island at Bombay,
upon condition that the English State should give their hearty and effec-
tual aid in a new enterprisc which he designed to undertake, ....in the
conquests of Coollaba belonging to the Prince of Angriah ; that the Eng-
lish State did faithfully execute all that was on that occasion promised
in respect to the succours, and the Records of your Hon’ble Government
bear testimony thereof. The said Vice-Roy of Goa having thus in the
name of his Monarch given over the whole right or claim which the
Archbishoprick of Goa ever [had] over the churches of this island, and
having at the same time confirmed to the Bishop Dom Mauricius and
his successors the peaceful possession of the Administration in this Island,
what right of jurisdiction can now be claimed by the Archbishop of Goa to
the spiritual Government in this Island ?....

It is exceeding great matter of concern to the Inhabitants Memorial-
ists,....because they wish to be under a Prelate subject to his Britanick
Majesty in order to avoid censure as they heretofore experienced ; be-
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cause upon every occasion of disunion that had place between the two
Estates, the Roman Catholick inhabitants of this Island used to suffer
the censure of being disloyal to the Crown of the Britanick King, the
English Gentlemen supposing them attached to the Portuguese; but
since this Ilon’ble Government delivered up the spiritual Government of
these churches to the Bishop and Friare Carmelites, exempting the
Roman Catholicks of all subjection to and communication with the Arch-
bishop of Goa, they are to this day freed of all imputation of infidelity.

The Memorialists are averse to the spiritual Government of the Arch-
bishop Primate of Goa for this further reason, that they see plainly the
continual disorders, scandals, quarrels and [dissensions ?] which prevail
in the places where the said Primate has his authority, such as in
Salsette, Basseen, and other countries in the southwards ; and because
the conduct of the Portuguese Priests is so intolerable that they have been
the cause of the ruin of many families at Goa, as your Honour in Council
will, from the disorders which lately happened at Goa, be verified that
many families were brought to condign punishments for crimes against
their Monarch’s Crown ; that with such people the Petitioners Inhabi-
tants wish not even to have the least communication, much less can they
reconcile themselves to live under their Government.

The Friars Carmelites live here on alns which the Petitioners In-
habitants are to provide them ; but the Petitioners from this hour pro-
test that not a rea will be given to the Padrees sent by the Archbishop
of Goa "to officiate in the churches here, and your Memorialists would
desire to avoid disturbances which must follow from such an innovation,

May it please your Honour in Council to take the premises [4. e..
foregoing statements] into your serious consideration, ete.

GOVERNMENT'S REPLY.

To this petition Government replied on March 4th :—

M. Michael Firth, Chief of Mahim.

Sir,—The petition preferred to the Board by Sundry Catholic
inhabitants of Mahim having been taken into consideration by the
President in Council, he dircets that you signify to them in reply, that
the claim of the Archbishop of Goa to the jurisdiction of the Romish
churches under this Government having been sanctioned by the Hon’ble
The Conrt of Divectors, who have expressly ordered that it shall be
admitted, it is not in his power to set aside their commands ; but that
he will not- fail to transmit a copy of the Petition in question to the
Company for their notice.

I have the honour ete.
5th March, 1789. Mr. Secretary Page.
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CHAPTER II.
THE REVERRION CONTESTED (1789).

MeaNTIME the Archbishop of Goa had appointed one Father John
Antonio de Silva his Vicar General and Visitor in these parts, with
instructions to take possession of the churches in due course. Father
de Silva therefore addressed the Vicar-Apostolic as follows :—

To his Excellency, D. Fr. Victorio de Sa Maria :—

This morning T have done myself the honor of waiting upon your
Lordship to congratulate you on vour safe arrival, and to wish you joy
of your Episcopal dignity ; but not finding you at home T requested the
Revd. And. de Silva to present you with my respects.

This is to let you know that His Iixcellency the Archbishop of Goa
and Primate of the Fast has appointed me Vicar General, in consequence
of a correspondence hetwesn his Excellency the Governor of Goa and
the President in Council, to take charge of the churches upon this Island,
with everything belonging to them ; but this being holy week, if Your
Excellency pleases you may continue with the ceremonies of the same.

I am, cte.,
April 3, 1789. John Antonio de Silva.

To this letter the Vicar-Apostolic replied at once saving that he had
not the least objection, but asked for time to settle accounts with the
parishioners, and concludes : “I shall he much obliged to you if you’ll
conie and live with me and make the house your own. I request vou
will not deprive me of that pleasure.” (April 4, 1789).

PETITION FROM THE VICAR-APOSTOLIC.

The Vicar-Apostolic next proceeded to draft a letter to Government
in the following terms :—

To the Hon’ble Major General William Medows, ete.

Hon’ble Sir,

That being absent from the Island of Bombay wmercly to be confirm-
ed a Bishop, in consequence of a Bull from Rome under date the 9th
of November 1787—-posterior probably to any notice having been taken
of the Bombay churchex in Portugal—it was with concern and regret
T understood, on my return here, a resolution had been communicated
to me ag Vicar General, that the Company had thought proper to rein-
state the authority of the Archbishop of Goa over the churches of
Bombay, and dismiss the Carmelites, after the said Archbishop had lost
his jurisdiction since 1718--when Gov. Boone, for reasons no doubt upon
record, and therefore well known to your honor, thought proper to en-
trust the spiritual government of the Catholicks of this Island into the
hands of the Carmelites. In consequence of which resolution, applica-
tion was made to His Holiness the Pope for his confirmation of it ; who
in the year 1720 not ounly confirmed it, but sent from Europe six Carmel-
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ites Friars to officiate here, and has ever since repeatedly sent others to
relieve them agrecable to the custom observed from Rome.

That my predecessors and myself have purchased places for religious
worship and been at great expenses to edify and furnish them,

That being appointed a Bishop without any solicitation from me so
fate as the 9th November 1787, by a Bull from the Consistory College
of Cardinals,—and no notice having arrived from thence annulling the
same—I am under no smell perplexity to understand the legality of dis-
possessing me of what so great authority has been pleased to invest me.
For by all Ecclesiastical Taws-—-and T should imagine by the English
Ecclesiastical Laws—a benefice once conferred is conferred for life, so
that without [some crime] being committed dispossession cannot legally
take place.

That deriving my authority from the superior of all Roman Cath-
olicks, T know not how to relinquish my station—That however desirous
I and my collcagues may be, and are, to pay implicit obedience to the
orders of the Company, I have ever been taught to believe that my
obedience depended [not] on civil actions, [but] ecclesiastical ones : being
answerable in discharge ol the high trust reposed in me to none but
His Holiness the P'ope.  To him I must answer for my conduct, to him
I am amenable for my flock in spiritual matters, and from him T have
right to expect notice that [ am to be deprived of my dignity, In-
stead, T have not been acquainted with [it] other than [by] your Honor’s
letter through your Secretary.—That 1 most dutifully make my situation
and doubt known, as I must give account to the Pope of every matter
concerning the churches put under my inspection-—That ever since my
residence, the Carmelites have peaceably and dutifully comported them-
selves towards God and this Government. Therefore without crimes
laid to our charges I know not how we can be driven from our stations,
which the generality of the inhabitants during my alsence have done
us the honor to aprrove.

If however it is your Honor’s unalterable resolution to deprive us
of our benefices, with all becoming submission we shall obey your orders;
requesting at the same time a suspension of them until we can settle to
the satisfaction of our parishioners the aflairs entrusted by them in our
hands ; as during the present holy season we cannot enter upon the con-
sideration of such business.

1 have the honor ete.
7th April 1789. Dom Vicrorinus, Bishop.

On April 156h Government made the following reply :—Most Ilus-
trious and Reverend D. F, Vitorio :—

The Hon’ble the President in Council, having taken into his con-
sideration the letter you addressed under the 7th of this month, has
been pleased to comply with your request by allowing you and your
Brethren Carmelites until the 15th of next month to settle your con-
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cerns with your parishioners ; on which day however he expects you will
punctually surrender charge of the churches to the most Reverend Padre
Joao Antonio de Silva, Vicar General and Visitor deputed by His Excel-
lency the Archbishop of Goa to receive them.

I have the Honor to he, ete.
16th April, 1789. WitLiam PacE, Secretary.

PETITION FROM THE LAITY.

Meantime, finding their former petition so far ineflectual, “ the
people of the island’* proceeded to draw up & second dated April 19, 1789,
from which a few extracts only need be printed :—

That your Memorialists understand that this relinquishment of them
to the Portuguese has proceeded from some claim made by the Court of
Lisbon in virtue of the marriage compact by which this Island was sur-
rendered to the Crown of England in 1661 ; but which claim, independ-
ent of its being too obsolete now to merit attention, was amply and fully
discussed here about seventy years ago, and this very marriage compact
was then quoted by Governor Boone to shew that the Portuguese had
no right to any ecclesiastical jurisdiction, but were only suffered to
continue here by courtesy.

That it must be a matter of surprise and wonder if new lights and
new constructions should be put on this marriage compact now, to what
was entertained then ; and that, after the Portuguese Priests were expell-
ed this Island for treasonable practices by Governor Boone and his
Council with the approbation of the East India Company in the year
1720, and the Court of Lisbon submitted to it, that that Court should
at this distance of time make a claim to the jurisdiction.—And it is what
thesc Memorialists cannot account for, that such a claim, made under
such circumstances, and which affects them beyond the power of words
to express, should be admitted and assented to.

That in a case like the present, wherein all their religious prejudices
are to be violated, and when they are placed under a Church and Priests
whose severe ecclesiastical jurisdiction they abhor, and under the control
of the Portuguese nation, that they cannot reconcile with their situation
as subjects of England ; these Memorialists feel themselves compelled
boldly to address you and tell their grievances, and to say that by the
marriage compact Bombay was given up wholly to the British Crown;
with a reservation simply for the benefit of the inhahitants, and which
in common decency was stipulated, that they should be permitted the
free exercise of the Roman Catholick Religion, but not a word [about
keing pluced] under the spiritnal Government of the Portuguese. . . .

That leaving the odious subject of the Portuguese priests, your
Memorialists will mention their present pastors, the Italian Carmelites.
These were formerly invited to this place by the Government in 1718,
invested in a solemn manner in 1720, and took an oath of allegiance.
Their lives and manners have been a contrast to the Portuguese, never
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guilty ot even susperted of treasonable practices, esteemed by the English,

and heloved on account of their mild administration in ceclesinstical
matters and their amiable conduct in private life. Loving and reverenc-
ing such pastors from earliest infancy, your Memorialists must be afflicted
at seeing them displaced, and the Portuguese instituted in their room ;
a calamity that, though at present threatened, they hope your llon’ble
Court will prevent. ~—Apr|l 19th, 1789.-

PETITION FROM THE CARMELITES.

Nine days later a further appeal to Government was made by the
Carmelite Missionaries themselves in the following terms :—

Hoxn’BLE SIR,

Having received a notice to vacate our benefices in order to make
way for Portuguese priests to be placed in our stead by His Iixcellency
the Archhishop of Goa, we humbly beg leave to address you and to call
vour humane attention to our distressed situation.

The Carmelites having been established here for seventy years, and
upon the good faith and by the solicitation of the Fast India Company,
we justly imagined when we received our benefices that they were con-
ferred once for life, and that we were in the same situation as other
clergy who have livings in Roman Catholick countries, and in Great
Britain. To our inexpressible concern and affliction, however, we are
given to understand that we are to be dispossessed. Tt is not for us,
Hon’ble Sir, to contest the power that you have to do this; but we
will confide in your justice and humanity that you will not take our bread
from us without making us an adequute allowance for our support. We
came from Italy total strangers in this country to hold our benefices,
and were at a considerable expense to get here; and if we are to he
dispossessed of them, we hope that we shall not be thought unreasonable
in expecting that you will scttle on us, until His Holiness the Pope’s
pleasure is known, an income equal to what we now cnjoy, and provide
us with a passage to Kurope.

Though, Hon’ble Sir, His Excellency the AI‘C}lbl\hOp of Goa is to
be invested with the spiritual jurisdiction of the churches of this Island,
yet we humbly conceive that it does not follow that he is authorized
thereby to dispossess the present incumbents of their livings, provided
they are men of unblemished characters and willing to acknowledge his
superiority. Itisan invariable rule, we believe, all over the Christian
world, for priests to hold their livings for life, unless convicted of be-
haviour unbecoming their sacred functions. If this is the case with us,
we are unworthy of the least consideration ; but if otherwise, why are
we to sufler the most injurious treatment : to be deprived of our liveli-
hood, as if guilty of the most atrocious conduct, and banished from our
flocks who have given us the most ample, most honourable, and in our
present circumstances, most cordial testimony of their approbation ?
It is sufficient, we humbly suppose, Hon’ble Sir, for His Excellency the
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Archbishop of Goa to have the Patronage of all livings, and to present
to them as they become vacant. We profess ourselves ready and willing,
in conjunction with our superior the Bishop, to acknowledge his jurisdic-
tion, and subject to it to perform our duty as parish priests in the same
manner as heretofore until we are otherwise disposed of by his Holiness
the Pope.
We have the honour to be. ete.
[S1¢®ep BY THREE CARMELITE FATHERS).
28th April, 1789.
GOVERNMENT INTERVENTION.

Next day the Government, while forwarding to the Vicar-Apostolic
a copy of the instructions from England with Walpole’s letter (both
already given above), expressed itself willing to take up their cause with
the Archbishop of Goa :—-

Most Reverend Nir,

At your reverence’s request I am permitted to enclose for your notice
extract of the Company’s instructions to this Government relative to
the claim preferred by the Archbishop of Goa, together with copy of a
letter from the British Ambassador at the Court of Lisbon to His Bri-
tannick Majesty’s Sccretary of State on the subject.

The President in Council has given due consideration to the letters
addressed to him, as well by your Reverence as by your Brethren the
other Friar Carmelites under yesterday's date ; and being disposed, as
well from the arguments you have adduced in support of your preten-
sions to be continued in your benefices, as from the testimony of a
numerous part of the Catholic inhabitants in your favour, to interpose
his good offices with the Archbishop in your behalf, commands me to
acquaint you that he will signify to his Excellency’s Vicar General your
acquiescence to submit to his jurisdiction, and will strongly recommend
to His Excellency to continue you in your respective benefices.

I have the honour to be, etc.
29th April, 1789. WiLLiam Pacg, Sceretary.

In accordance with this purpose Government next turned to the Goan
Vicar General, forwarding to him the letters received from the Carmelite
Bishop, to be placed under the consideration of the Archbishop of Goa : —
Reverend Sir,

I have in commanc from the President in Council to enclose for your
notice copies of letters addressed him by the Carmelite Bishop and Friars
resident here, which he requests you will be pleased to transmit to the
Archbishop of Goa ; at the same time signifying to him that, as the
present incumbents have expressed their willingness to submit to the
jurisdiction of His Excellency, it would be highly acceptable to this
Government if His Excellency could content himself with filling up the
benefices as they fall vacant, leaving the present possessors the enjoy-
ment of them during their lives. He is induced to recommend this the
more strongly to His Excellency’s consideration, as he is well assured
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that the Catholic inhabitants in general residing under this Government
are well affected towards their present pastors, whom he understands are
men of irreproachable character ; and he has reason to believe that an
acquiescence on the part of His Excellency to what is herein proposed
will prevent much dissatisfaction among the inhabitants signally averse
to a change of priests

1 have the honor to be, cte.

30th April, 1789. Wu. Pagk, Secy.

CHAPTER III.
THE REVERSION ENFORCED (1789).

Tuk reply of the Goan Vicar General, dated May 4th, ran as fol-
lows : —

To His Kxcellency Major General William Medows, ete.
May it please Your Excellency,

1 have lately had the honor to receive from the Sccretary of your
Ton’ble Council a letter under date of the 29th of the last month, with
two transcripts of supplications addressed to Your Excellency by the
Right Reverend the Bishop Friar Victorio, and three Friars Regulars
of the Order of Carmelites: that is to say, Friar Charles, Friar Peter,
and ¥riar Raymond ; in which letter your said Secretary has signified
to me Your Excellency’s desire, that I should remit the Transcripts
aforesaid to His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa, in order to preserve
to those Friars Regulars the respective benefices over which they pre-
side at present, for their maintenance under the legal jurisdiction of
the most laudable Archbishop of Goa, of their Acknowledgment and
submission to which they make profession.

In consequence of this letter, I humbly beg leave to assure Your
Excellency of the faithful and willing diligence with which I am ready
to make known your desire, and remit the letters and transcripts
aforesaid to the said Archbishop as soon as I shall find a proper oppor-
tunity ; and 1 have an assured hope that Llis Execellency will, in his
great wisdom and piety, so dispose and order those matters as shall be
most for the service of God, the exoneration of his own conscience,
and the spiritual good of the faithful inhabitants of this lsland profess-
ing the Holy Roman Catholic Faith and Religion, according to the
duties of his sacred function; for I am well persuaded of the high
esteem and honor he will pay to the pleasure of so great and famous a
personage as Your Excellency, the protector of the Restitution of his
legal jurisdiction in fulfilling the orders of the Court of Directors of the
Hon’ble East India Company of London.

I should alrcady, most Excellent Sir, have transmitted to the Arch-
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bishop the matters committed to me, if the publications had been pre-
sented properly and sincerely : whereas on the contrary the said Friars
Regulars have wasted the time assigned to them, or they might before
this have presented to His Kxcellency the Archbishop their recognition
of his authority and obtained his Resolution on the subject.

For when the Friars Regulags aforesaid, in the supplications they
have presented, set forth that willingly and with readiness of mind, as
was their duty, they recognized the jurisdiction of his Excellency the
Archbishop, and promise to pay obedience to him as their lawful
superior and prelate ; it is absolutely necessary by the words of the
canons that they should, in the book of my commission, set forth and
subscribe on oath the terms of this their recognition and obedience to
the said Archbishop and his successors, as also to the Vicar Gencral
deputed by such Archbishop according to the manner prescribed ; and
in testimony of such recognition, assist at the solemn publication of my
commission and actual possession in the name of the said Bishop. in
the Mother Church of the Blessed Virgin Mary of Esperance (Hope)
of Bombay, to be performed on the 15th day of this present month
(May) according to the orders of Your Excellency signified to me and to
the said Bishop Victorio by the letter of your Secretary of the Lith of
last month of April.

And though 1 do not conceive it to be according to ihe Canonical
Laws for these Friars Regulars to hold parochial benefices on account
of their Monastic Vows, and because of their ignorance of the language
of the natives, specially when there are secular priests fit and proper
for the purpose, as it 1s ordained by many laws; so neither is it true
that all benefices are conferred for the life of the incumbent and his
maintenance ; for they are manual, and the incumbent removable at
the pleasure of the superior. But it is not my duty to enter more at
large into this matter at present.

In the meantime it is my intention to obey the desire of Your
Excellency, and to provide for the said Friars Regulars, out of the
churches which they now occupy, on the 15th day of this month, as soon
as the said act of publication, possession and delivery of the jurisdiction
shall be duly performed; and to confer upon them the archiepiscopal
jurisdiction for the [interim], so that they may cxercise the parochial
offices and take care of the salvation of the faithful until the Archbishop
shall be made properly acquainted with Your Excellency’s desire, and
make provisions for the purpose.

In a word, it is my duty to inform Your Excellency that the Arch-
bishop has appointed [me] in my commission to the Mother Church
aforesaid, for my residence and the performance of my office of his Vicar
General and Visitor in this Island, with succession in the said church
to my successors in the said office, that so his deputy might live decently

and proceed in the discharge of his duty.
And whereas Friar Raymond, who now occupied the Church of the
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Salvation at Mahim, is not even of the Mission of this Island, but of
Malabar, from whence he came hither to transact some business with
an intention of returning thither—as I have learned by a letter of his
Bishop of Varapoli, The Right Reverend Ludovici Maria de Jesus, written
to Miguel de Lima e Souza, a merchant of this place-—to which mission
of Malabar he is bound to return immediately, that he may fulfil the
duty of his ministry, there being a great want of clergy and particularly
of missionaries. Provision therefore will be made from this Church of
the Salvation for the aforesaid Friar Peter now acting as vicar of the
said Mother Church, designed for me ; which Friar Peter, it is said, is
also of the mission of Dhelly.

These matters, most Excellent Sir, T have with all humility thought
proper to lay before vou ; your resolution relating to which 1 beg to know,
that I may remit that, together with what has been committed me in the
last letters of vour Seeretary, to His lixcellency the Archbishop of Goa.

I have the honor to subscribe myself, ete.
Pr. Joao ANTONIO DE SILVA,
4th May. 1784 Vicar General and Visitor.
GOVERNMENT TO TIIE VICAR-APOSTOLIC,

Government on May 6th communicated this letter to Bishop Victor-
inus in these terms :—
Most. Reverend Sir,

His Excellency the Archbishop of (oa’s Viear General having under
the 4th of this month addressed a letter to the President in Council, 1
have in charge from him to enclose copy thereof, and to acquaint you
that. as he doubts not but yourself and the other Friar Carmelites are
sincere in your professions to submit vourselves to the spiritual authority
of the Archbishop, he presumes you will feel no hesitation to confirm
such your recognition with the solemnity proposed by his Reverence
the Vicar General, as being consonant to the rules prescribed by the
Romish ritual. and what indeed appears to the Hon’ble President to be
highly reasonable.

He desires it may also be given you to understand that, although
he has interested himself with His Excellency the Archbishop in behalf
of the Friar Carmelites to preserve to them their present benefices, he
nevertheless expects that you do implicitly surrender the churches on the
day already announced | 15th instant| to the Delegate of His Excellency.

1 am lastly commanded to inform you that, it being confidently
asserted by the Vicar General that Friar Raymond, incumbent of the
Church of Salvation, has never been regularly inducted to the said living,
it is necessary you should call upon him to produce the powers by which
he has assumed possession of it since, if he cannot controvert that
assertion, the Hon'ble President will not interpose to prevent his being
ejected.

1 have the honor to be,
Gth May, 1789, WiLLiam Pack, Secy.
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The Goan Vicar General himself, 3 days later, wrote to the Vicar-
Apostolic as follows :-—

Most Illustrious and Revd. Fr. Victorio, etc.

His Excellency the President in Council has been pleased to inform
me, by his Secretary’s letter dated Tth inst., that he has given the neces-
sary orders to Your Excellency, a A, COpy of Whl('h he has sent me, that
the churches [without] shifting or delay shall be surrendered on the day
appointed [15th inst.| on which my commission will be published.

As to-morrow will be Sunday, Your Excellency will be pleased to
order to publish at the mecting of the flock, that on the aforesaid day I
will go to publish my commission in the church of Na. Sa. de Esperanca,
take possession of the jurisdiction in the name of His Excellency the
Archbishop Primate of Goa, and of the other churches ; intimating the
same unto the incumbents of the said churches, that they may attend
at the said acts of surrender, possession and publication, and comply
with the determinations of Ilis Excellency the Governor in the said
surrender ; giving notice also unto the Revd. Padres and Brotherhood to
assemble and attend with the usual ceremonies upon such oceasions.

[ have the honor to be, etc.
JOHN ANTON DE SIiLva.
Mazagon, May 9th, 1789,

THE VICAR-APOSTOLIC 'TO ((OVERNMENT.

Meantime Bishop Vietorinus was engaged in framing a reply to the
contents of the Goan Vicar General’s letter, which he forwarded to
Government on May 11th :- -

To the Hon’ble Major General William Medows, ete.

Hon’ble Sir,

It is with inexpressible concern that I am once more under the
necessity of troubling you with an address : but I flatter myself vou will
permit me to make some observations on the letter from his Reverence
the Viear General of His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa, a copy of
which was conveyed to me by your Secretary ; and I trust that what 1
shall now urge will meet with your approbation, as it is consonant to
the rules and usages of our church. Permit me first to renew in behalf
of myself and my clergy my sincere and ready obedience to the jurisdiction
of His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa as Metropolitan of his diocese,
notwithstanding the groundless and ungenerous insinuation to the
contrary, of his Reverence the Vicar General in his letter to your honor.
Having solemnly pledged myself to your honor to pay due obedience to
the authority of the Archbishop of Goa, until the determination of His
Holiness the Pope could be known —an Jact] which proceeded from a
desire to pacify the minds of my flock, and from motives of gratitude for
their repeated testimonies of attachment to me, and in consideration of
which you were graciously pleased to recommend our continuance here
to His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa—I waited patiently in expect-
ation of His Excellency’s order to me, as Bishop of this diocese, to publish
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the restoration of his jurisdiction over the churches of this Island, nor
ever expected the sincerity of my declaration to be called in question ;
or that I, a consecrated Bishop and prelate of this diocese, should be
called upon by an inferior priest to set forth (according to his words)
and subscribe on oath the terms of my recognition and obedience to the
Archbishop and his successors, as also to the Vicar General deputed by
such Archbishops according to the marner prescribed : and in testimony
of such recognition assist at the solemn publication of the said Vicar
General’s commission and actual possession in the name of the said
Archbishop, thereby degrading my own dignity and acknowledging his
[the Vicar General’s| superiority.

That I have no objection to subscribe my recognition of the Arch-
bishop’s authority in its fullest extent | again avow : but T must beg leave
to decline taking any oath, as I know of none that is prescribed by our
Canons but those I have already taken in the course of my ministry, a
repetition of which is surely unnecessary. At the time I devoted mysolf
to the service of the church I took an oath of obedience to my superiors ;
and as the Archbishop is now to be esteemed in that light, of course my
oath with respect to him is in full force. I cannot conceive, therefore,
what oath the Vicar General wishes to administer to me, unless the one
that was so highly offensive to this Government when the Carmelites were
introduced to supply the places of the ejected Portuguese. But if, Hon.
Sir, you have any doubt of our fidelity, we shall without hesitation take
the oath prescribed by this Government, a copy of which I now have the
honor to enclose, as first administered to Monsr. Mauricius. [See former
section under date 1720].

The church of Esperance shall be open to receive the Vicar General
on the day appointed ; but I beg leave humbly to represent, Hon’ble Sir,
that if I am to be continued as Bishop of this diocese the Vicar General’s
Commission must cease of course |t.e., ipso facto] after the publication of
His Excellency’s jurisdiction ; for he can exercise no authority, but what
he derives from me, who am answerable to my superior for the manage-
ment of my diocese. Otherwise I would be an insignificant cypher ;
for I can never condescend to receive any orders from an inferior.

In answer to the assertion of the Vicar General that it is uncanonical
for Friars Regulars to hold parochial benefices, it will only be necessary
to observe that the present Archbishop of Goa is himself a Carmelite ;
that the Bishop of Meliapore or St. Thos. is an Augustinian Friar; and
1 could produce many other instances both in Europe and India if neces-
sary. 1 may also observe on this head, that if such an irregularity as
his Reverence insinuates really existed, it could hardly have escaped the
notice of the several popes who have reigned for these 70 years past, and
who undoubtedly would not have sent out persons unqualified for the
purpose of their mission.

His Reverence the Vicar General has been much misinformed ; I
should be sorry to put a harsher construction on his assertion respect-
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ing Friar Raymond. He was sent here expressly at my desire, in con-
sequence of the death of my Predecessor the late Bishop and of Friar
Clement, and was confirmed in the appointment I made him by the Hon.
Rawson Hart Boddam, then Governor of Bombay. And I have now a
letter from the Right Reverend Bishop of Verapoli, Luis Maria de Jesus
(which I shall produce to your honor if you think proper) authorising me
to return or retain the said Fria Ra,ymond as I thought most con-
ducive to the good of religion. r‘Z.nd 8o far from there being a want of
clergy on the Malabar Coast, as his Reverence so confidently asserts,
the Bishop of Verapoli, with whom I was lately for the purpose of my
consecration, informed me that two missionaries were now on their way
to India, one for Bombay the other for Malabar ; but that I might keep
both if I thought it necessary—for it is well known, that though clergy
are sent out for particular missions, yet they are distributed by their
superiors to those places where they are most wanted.

As to Friar Peter, he was sent out expressly for Bombay, which
will most evidently appear by a letter he reccived a few days since from
Rome.

Permit me, Hon’ble Sir, to point out an evident appearance of
insincerity and duplicity in the Vicar General’s letter to your honor.
He there says it is his duty to inform your honor that the Archbishop
has appointed him in his commission to the Mother Church for his
residence and the performance of his office of Vicar General and Visitor
in this Island, with succession in the said church to his successors in
the said office ; but why did he not reveal this part of his commission
upon his first arrival ¢  On the contrary he expressed great impatience
to get possession of these churches that he might return immediately to
Goa; and I believe 1 may venture to say [that] this part of his com-
mission would not now appear, had not your honor recommended us to
His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa ; the benefit of which recommend-
ation he hopes to render fruitless by the above-mentioned appointment,
which is so highly derogatory to my dignity, and would probably be the
cause of so much disgust, and could be subversive of the established order
of church government were I to submit to it.

[ have the honor to be, ete.
11th May, 1789. [VicToriNus, Bishop.]
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CHAPTER 1IV.
THE REVERSION EXECUTED (1789).

As regards the oath to which Fre Victorinus objected, Government
expressed itself willing to free him personallv from it, but required it to
be taken by the three Carmelite Missionaries who wished to retain their
posts in the churches :-- P
Most Reverend Sir,

The Hon’ble the President in Council, in consideration of the reasons
assigned to him in your letter of the 11th instant. is pleased to dispense
with vour taking the oath proposed by the Vicar General and Visitor on
his receiving charge of the churches. But to preserve good order among
the Catholic inhabitants, which a disputed authority between yourself
and the Viear General would be subversive of, the IHon’ble President
thinks fit to direct that you forbear to exercise any spiritual function
whatever until the Archbishop shall decide respecting yourself and the
other Friar Carmelites ; whom you will instruct to receive the Vicar
Feneral to-morrow, assist at the publication of his commission and
surrender of the churches, and take the oath of subjection to the Arch-
bishop and his Delegates.

[ have the honor to be, ete.
L1th May, 1789. WinLiam Pacg, Secy.
THE VICAR-APOSTOLIC TO GOVERNMENT.

The Vicar-Apostolic on receipt of this note replied next day as
follows :—

The Hon’ble Major General William Medows, cte.

Hon’ble Sir,

In obedience to the orders contained in your Secretary’s letter of
the 14th inst., 1 have made the necessary dispositions for resigning my
Episcopal jurisdiction, and the clergy under me their benefices, at the
time specified [by| your Honour; but [ hope [ shall not be thought
troublesome or impertinent in offering at the |same] time the following
observations to your consideration :—

If, Hon’ble Sir, you will condescend to refer to the records of the
Hon'ble East India Company, vou will there find the Carmelites were
solicited by Governor Boone (a copy of whose orders I have now the
honor to enclose you) in the year 1718 to replace the Portuguese clergy
who, for reasons of State, no doubt necessary and also recorded, were
dismissed from all ecclesiastical jurisdiction on this Island ; that in con-
sequence of this solicitation, application was made to His Holiness the
Pope for his permission to accept it ; who not only gave his consent,
but in the year 1720 sent out a number of priests sufficient for the
ecclesiastical duty of this Presidency, and has ever since regularly sup-
plied all vacancies occasioned by the various contingencies of Nature.
You will find in the records, Hon’ble Sir, that the Hon’ble Company
not only confirmed, but highly approved of the establishment of the
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Carmelites on tkis Island ; and you will also find that so late as the ycar
60 or thereabouts, their jurisdiction was again confirmed in the person of
Senhor John Domingos as the then Bishop of Bombay and his succes-
sors, who was solemnly invested with spiritual authority over the Roman
Catholicks of this Island, and all clergy not ordained by him absolutely
forbid to reside here upon pain of confiscation of their effects.* After
such fattering marks of favor awd approbation, shown to us both by
the Company and their Government and continued to us for a space of
seventy years, we cannot but feel ourselves sensibly aflected by our pre-
sent injurious treatment ; injurious, permit me to say, as we have con-
ducted ourselves with fidelity and attachment to this Government, and
have zealously inculcated the same sentiments into our respective flocks ;
yet are now ordered to resign our benefices, and of course our livelihood,
not having any other provision to depend on, in a country wherein we
are entire strangers ; though not one instance of misconduct has ever
been alleged against us. I appeal, Hon’ble Sir, to your own feelings
on this occasion, and to your justice and humanity, to render our pre-
sent calamity as light as possible.

Though His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa is to be invested
with spiritual jurisdiction over this Island, yet 1 humbly conceive it
does not follow that he is in consequence authorized to dispossess the
present clergy of their livings, particularly as they are willing to hold
them in subordination to his authority, and to perform their duty as
heretofore until they are otherwise disposed of by His Holiness the
Pope. Nor can I help thinking that there is great reason to conclude it
was not the intention of the Hon’ble Company that they should be dis-
possessed ; for otherwise the Company would have particularly mentioned
that circumstance in their orders {o this Government, and have acquaint-
ed the Pope with their intentions, in order to give him an opportunity
to withdraw his clergy from hence.

His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa ought surely to be satisfied
at having his authority acknowledged, at having the Patronage of all
livings and the power of presenting them as they become vacant ; {for
he cannot be ignorant that in all Roman Catholick countries (and [we]
have been told it is the same in Great Britain) church livings are con-
ferred for life, unless the incumbent betrays a conduct unbecoming his
sacred function, in which case he is deposed by ecclesiastical authority.

If the alternative already mentioned, of acknowledging the essential
jurisdiction of His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa, so just and reason-
able I humbly conceive in itself, is not admitted, I flatter myself,
Hon’ble Sir, you will not think me and my clergy unreasonable in ex-
pecting an allowance from Government equal to their living as a sup-
port and maintenance until they are otherwise provided for ; and that
if they are ordered to Europe you will [be so] good as to provide them

*See doouments ‘‘An Abridgment” and ‘‘Articles to be considered” already pube.
lished in a previous seotion.
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with a passage. As to myself, I have no claim upon this Government,
being allowed a pension from Rome for the support of my dignity. I
only plead in behalf of my clergy, who are destitute of the smallest
provision, and can only look up to you for support.

I am, Hon’ble Sir, etc.
15th May, 1789. Dom Vicrorinus, Bishop.

THE TRANSFER EFFECTED.

This was on the 15th of May, the day on which the churches were
ordered to be handed over to the jurisdiction of Goa. The transfer
duly took place without opposition or disturbance.

The Vicar-Apostolic himself, who had resigned his poqltlon entlrely,
was not present. But as it had been agreed that the three missionaries
(Fre Raymond, Fre Peter and Fre Ch.u'los) should retain their parochial
posts in the churches pending the decision from Goa, they had to attend
the ceremony and subscribe to the following form of oath :—

“ On the 15th May 1789, in this Parish Church of N. 8. da Esper-
anga of Bombay, present the Most Rev. Desembargador Vigario-Geral
and Visitador of Bombay, Joiio Antonio da Silva, with me Padre Vicente
Joaquim de Menezes his Secretary, there appeared the RR. FF. Carlos
Jose de 8. Pedro, Raymundo de 8. Jose, and Pedro dc Alcantara e S.
Antonio, Carmelites of the Fropaganda Fide, and declared before the said
Most Rev. Desembargador Vigario-Geral and Secretary that they of
their sincere and free will recognised the spiritual jurisdiction of His
Grace the Most Rev. Archbishop Primate of Goa over the Roman Cath-
olic churches of this island and its dependencies. and promised to faith-
fully submit to the authority of the said Most Rev. Archbishop Primate
of Goa, and to obey him and his successors, as well as the said Vicar
General and his successors deputed by the said Most Rev. Archbishop
Primate to reside in this said island, in all matters and things pertaining
to or concerning Ycclesiastical Right and duties of parish priests ; and
to better confirm this their recognition they, the said Fr. Carlos Jose de
S. Pedro, Fr. Pedro de Alcantara e S. Antonio and Fr. Raymundo de S.
Jose swore on the Holy Gospels and signed their names on this deed of
oath, placing their right hands and touching them in the presence of the
said Rev. Desembargador Vigario-Geral and Visitador, and of me the said
Secretary, and the witnesses that were present: Padre Joao Antonio da
Silva, P. Vicente Joaquim de Menezes.—Pe. Jose de Moura.—Pe. Sebas-
tiao Pereira.—Pe. Jose de Jesus Maria.—Pe. Joaquim Pereira de Abreu.
—Pe. Manoel Oliveira.—De. Lourengo Manuel de Siqueira.—Pe. Domingos
Ferreira.—Fr. Raymundo de 8. Joseph.—Fr. Carlos Jose de S. Pedro.—
Fr. Pedro de Alcantara.”

The arrangements of the Goan Vicar-General for the disposition of
the benefices having been communicated by letter the same day, the
(overnment acknowledged and approved of them as follows :—
Reverend Sir,

I have in command from the Hon’ble Board (now sitting) to acknow-
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ledge receipt of your letter of this morning’s date, and to signify to
you their entire satisfaction at the measures you propose taking with
respect to the disposition of incumbents for the [several] churches and
providing for the temporary residence of Friar Yeter; and they do not
question but your proceedings in sequel will be such as to meet the con-
currence of Government, and consequently their support.
~ I have the honor to be, etc.

15th May, 1789. WiLLiam Pace, Secy.

REPLY FROM GOA.

Meantime the representations of the Carmelites and their plea for
continuance of their benefices having been put before the Archbishop of
Goa, that prelate on May 25th, 1789, wrote to the English Government
in these terms :—

To His Excellency Major General William Medows, ete.
Hon’ble Sir,

Your honour has laid me under so many obligations by your restoring
my jurisdiction over the churches of Bombay (that was usurped for many
years) that even less would be sufficient to render me quite subservient
to your will and that of your council. But asI am convinced that the
Court of Lisbon would pay no regard to the remonstrations of the Rev.
Padres of the Propaganda Fide; and as I am acquainted with the dis-
putes that arose hetween the Apostolical Nuncio at Lisbon and the
Secretary of State, who [according to] his Majesty’s Decrees, had orders
to expel them from every place under the jurisdiction of the Portuguese
Bishops ; and finally, as I have informed Her Majesty how your Excel-
lency has protected my jurisdiction over these churches, of the letter
which your honour has wrote me upon this subject, and of that to the
Govn. Captn. Genl. of Goa, in answer to his request in the name of her
Majesty ; so that at present it is not in my power to make the least
alteration in this affair.

For the accommodation of the Padres until they have reccived
instructions from Rome to go home, or to retire to some other place, I
have told my Desembargador to make them an offer of my Palace, or
the lodge at Chimbel [near Goa] with some other offers ; and if none of
these be agreeable to them, I think that the whole of them might live in
any one of the churches, except that of Na. Sa. de Esperanga, as that is
the proper place for the residence of the Vicar-General to superintend
the government of the other churches. My Minister will lay all this
before your Excellency.

With the greatest pleasure I shall execute your command in every-
thing that gives you pleasure.

I have the honour to be, etc.
ARCHBISHOP-PRIMATE OF THE EasT.
Goa, May 52th, 1789.

This was supplemented five days later by another letter from the

Archbishop :—
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To the Hon’ble Major General William Medows, etc.

I had the honour of receiving your letter dated May 27th, wherein
you inform me with what is done in respect to the Bishop and other
Padres Carmelites, and the orders that you have issued for that purpose.

In my letter of the 25th of May to Your Excellency, (as I sincerely
wish and ought to comply with your desires, and execute your com-
mands as far as lies in my power) I have given my determinations which I
imagined were most agreeable to your pious intentions ; for it was not in
my power to do otherwise, for the motives which I have alleged in the
said letters.

I have made an offer of my palace for the accommodation, or the
lodge of the Carmelite Padres at Chimbel—where they shall want for
nothing till such time as they receive orders from Rome to go home, or
to retire some other mission where there is no prelate to govern. Should
it be too late in the season for them to come, they may live with the
parish priests, which will not incommode them much ; but if they should
be of any expense to them (viz: the parish priests) T promise to defray
all the expenses they should beat. T concluded that if none of these offers
pleased them, two of them might live in one of the churches, and the
third live with my Desembargador.

Here, Hon’ble Sir, are the bounds of my power; nor can I possibly
extend them further, since I have eommunicated unto Her Majesty all
that was done in consequence of your letters in answer to mine, and the
requests made [to] Your Excellency by the Govr. and Captn. Genl. in
Her Majesty’s name.

Your Excellency now may act in that manner which will be most
agreeable to yourself, and command me, who am always ready to serve
your honor.

I have the honor to be, ete.
ARCHBISHOP-PRIMATE OF THE EasT.
Goa, 30th May 1789,

Copies of these documents were then forwarded by Government to
the deposed Vicar-Apostolic :—

Most Illustrious and Rev. D. F. Vitorio de Santa Maria :—

I have in command from the Hon’ble the President in Council to
enclose for your notice copies of two letters which he hasreceived from His
Excellency the Archbishop of Goa ; agrecable to the tenor whereof he
desires the Friars Carmelites will signify to him, which of these three
propositions made by His Excellency they are disposed to accede to.

I have the honor to be, ete.
10th June, 1789. WiLLiaM PAGE, Secretary.

To these proposals Bishop Victorinus replied as follows :—

To The Hon’ble Major General Wm. Medows, etc. :—

I have had the honor of receiving from your Secretary the answer
of His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa to the proposals you were so
good as to make in favour of the Carmelites belonging to this island.
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I have consulted them with respect to the three proposals made by
His Excellency; but they beg leave to decline them as too humiliating
for their acceptance, even in their present embarrassed situation. They
at the same time unite with me in a continuance of their most unfeigned
thanks for the instances of favour you have already shown them.
I have the honor to be, etc.

19th June, 1789. N D. F. ViTor1o bE SANTA MARIA.
PART V.
VACILLATION AND COMPROMISE (1790—1794)
CHAPTER 1.

AFTER THE REVERSION 1790.

As soon as the Vicar-Apostolic had declined to accept any of the
three proposals of the Archhishop of Goa, Government gave up further
cfforts on behalf of the Carmelites, and communicated their decision to
Bishop Victorinus in the following short note :-—

Most Illustrious and Rev. D. F. Vitorio de Santa Maria :—

Your letter of yesterday’s date has been laid before the Presid-
ent in Council, who commands me to acquaint you that as you have
rejected the propositions held out to you by His Excellency the
Archbishop Primate, he [will] intimate to the Vicar General that he is
at liberty to nominate such incumbents to the several churches as
he may think qualified to fill them;and it is his express desire that
neither your Reverence nor your Brethren the TFriars Carmelites give
or encourage the smallest opposition or obstruction to the Vicar
General in exercising the jurisdiction he has assumed in quality of

representative of the Archbishop.*
1 have the honor to be, etc.

20th June, 1789. WiLtiam PacE, Secretary.

* The Mauritius MS. says that “tho English Governor proposed to the Archbishop
of Goa to execute the orders of the Court of Directors on one condition, viz., that
the Archbishop should not remove the Carmelite Fathers from ths Parishes. The
Archbishop accepted this proposal and promised to carry it into eflect literally, if the
three Carmelite Fathers who were thue to continue in office took oath of allegiance to
the Archbishop. But before the expiry of six months the Archbishop removed the
Carmelite Fathers from tho four churches, and native priests were placed in their
stead. Later on the Governor informed the Court of Directors that the Archbishop
had failed in his promise of employing the Carmelite Fathers in the churches ’; and
this was put forward as a reason why the Government should cencel the jurisdiction
of Goa and restore the churches to the Carmelites, All these statements, which
appear to be derived from a MS written in 1847 [Vicariate Files XII at end], are cntirely
wrong. The above correspondence shows that the Archbishop firmly refused to allow
the Carmelites to remain in their posts, and Government itself accepted this decision.
Hence the Fathers who on May 15th were allowed (ad interim) to continue in the
churches, had naturally to retire into private life as soon as the verdict of the

Archbishop was known.
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This brings our available documents on this subject to a close.
The Mauritius MS. without giving any of them, sums up the epizode
in the following terms :—

“The missionary fathers who then took oath were Fre Iedro
d’Alcantara of St. Anthony (afterwards Vicar-Apostolic of Bomlkay);
Father Charles Hyacinthus of St. Peter ; Fre Raymundus of St. Joseph
(who became subsequently Vicar-Apogiolic of Verapoly). The Vicar-
Apostolic, being thus deprived of the churches of Bombay, retired
to his Fort Chapel, leaving the Archbishop in full liberty to do as
he thought proper. . . . The Carmelite Fathers [also] retired to
the house of the Vicar-Apostolic (Fort Chapel) where they lived
without exercising any art of spiritual jurisdiction, and awaiting
orders from Rome to go elsewhere. All the native priests educated,
instructed and brovght up by the Vicar-Apostolic. . ..yielded obedience
to the Archbishop, with the exception of only one—a native of Bassein
named Father Fernandez, who remained faithful to the Vicar-Apostolic
cill his death. The other priests joined the Coan priests, who were
led by Sir Miguel, and tried their best to expel from Bombay the
Carmelite missionaries and their bishop...or to induce them to leave
of their own accord. One of them, who rented a house close to the
Fort Chapel, erected an altar there and collected tlie people together
for service. He also petitioned the Government to consign to him
the chapel and house of the hishop, alleging that both belonged to
the Portuguese. The Vicar-Apostolic was then compelled to show the
title-deeds of the grounds, as well as other papers and books containing
the accounts of the expenses incurred for building both chapel and
house. This is the house which is called “the Convent of the
baretooted Carmelites at Bombay,” both by Propaganda and by the
suthor of the Effemerologio Carmelitico.”

THE FORT CHAPEL DISPUTE.

With regard to this dispute ahout the Fort Chapel, which com-
menced in July 1789, we have a very bulky collection of doenments.
The following letter of the Viear-Apostolic, detailing the origin of the
discussion, will be of interest as illustrating the manners of the time :—

To The Hon’hle Major General Wm. Medows, ete.

Hon. Sir,

After the frequent occasions I have already had of troubling
your honor, it is with extreme reluctance that I am obliged once
more to address myself to vou; and destitute as I am at present, to
entreat your protection and support against a repetition of such
indignities and insults as 1 have already received.

After submitting in every particular to the determinations of
His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa, notwithstanding I had reason
to expect, on account of the recommendation you did me the honor
to make, more respectiul tieatment than I have experienced—I
flattered myself that I and my brethren would have been permitted
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to remain quiet and undisturbed in our house in town, until other-
wise disposed of by vur Superiors. But in this expectation I find I
was deceived ; for on Sunday last a Dominican Friar was sent to
me by his Reverence the Vicar-General, who said he had an order
from your honor constituting and appointing Padre Andrew de
Silva to administer the Sacrament in the private chapel belonging to
our said house, and that Padd de Silva was to be accommodated
with a room in my house as formerly, when the churches of the
Island were under my jurisdiction.

Had the chapel and house been the property of the publick,
the Vicar-General might with propriety have made the above men-
tioned appointment ; but as the case is otherwise, his behaviour was
insidious and deccitful towards your Honour, and disrespectful and
uncivil towards me. Though 1 was only favoured with a verbal
message from the Vicar-Ceneral, and though the message was de-
livered in a tone of authority totally regardless of my private
property ; yet out of respect to the order he said he had received
from your llonour I instantly complied with his requisition, and his
commission to Padre Andrew de Silva was accordingly read in the
chapel.

Such a civil compliance to what was required of me, T had
reason to expect, would have screened me from an. ill-treatment.
But in this I was also deceived ; for being confined to my house by
indisposition, I was intruded upon by the following persons: Joseph
Pereira and Richard Pereira his son, George llorbexk, Caitano Baretto,
Manuel Figarido, Caitano Cabrall and <ome others, who with an
incivility and insolence never before experienced by me, deman:ed
my plate. hoth that for the use of my house and also my chapel.
This I refused as being the private property of myself and my
fraternity; but at the same time assured them that if any person
could prove a property in any part of it, it should be instantly
restored. Not saiisfied by thit arswer, they insulted me with
many gross and indecent speeches; in particular, that 1 wes sent
here to preach the Gospel, and not to enrich myself and withhold
the goods of others. Alter this insulting behaviour they left me, and
T was visited by Mr. Tod, who came, I can only suppose, by their
desire, in order to intimidate me into a compliance with their
demands, and who acted on this occasion in a character I conceive
he had no right to assume. He took an inventory of my plate
without my knowledge or permission—which 1 signed at his desire,
though I am totally ignorant by what authority Mr. Tod acted in
so magisterial a manner.

Though I have received, Hon. Sir, such indignities and incivi-
lities as would justify me in shutting the door of my chapel; yet
as I am unwilling to impede the celebration of any of the secra-
ments of the Church, I have resolved (and I hope my resolution



112 VACILLATION AND COMPROMISE (1790—1794)

will meet with your approbation) that the use of my chapel shall
be permitted upon a proper application to myself; that the keys of
the chapel shall be delivered to me after the service is over; and
that Padre de Silva shall provide himself accommodation elsewhere,

I entreat, Hon’ble Sir, your forgiveness of this further trouble,
and your protection and support against any future ill-treatment
whilst I have the honor to remain undér your Government.

I have the honor to be, etc.
7th July, 1789. [DoM VicTorINUS.]
GOVERNMENT INTERVENES.

In consequence of this appeal Government, on July 11, 1789, ap-
pointed a committee consisting of Messrs. Henshaw, Bruix and
Smyth to investigate into the rights of the case. A statement of
claims was made by the Vicar-General Joan Antone de Silva, based
altogether on pleas of canon law ; (2) A statement by Sir Michael de
Lima e Souza based on the history of the chapel : that contributions
were made by the faithful to purchase the land and house; that
the chapel was filial to Esperanga and a public chapel for public
use ; that if the title-deeds were in the name of the bishop, this
did not prove proprietorship, because it was the custom to have
them in the name of the bishop even if the property was secured by
the contributions of the people, ete., etc.; (3) A statement of the laity
taking the same lines. On the side of the Vicar-Apostolic we find
no documentary statement, but only a few notes denying certain
detailed assertions of the other side. Nor have we any report of
the Committee showing the grounds of their decision. Nevertheless
the verdict, in favour of the Vicar-Apostolie, was given in a letter of
Government to the ‘“Vicar General and Visitor” as follows :—

Sir,

I have in charge from the President and Council to signify to
vour Reverence that the Committee, appointed in July last to
investigate the titles of the Friar Carmelites to the town chapel, its
plate and vestments, having reported to him the result of their
inquiry, it is his decided opinion that the said chapel, etc., is the
property of that Fraternity. It is therefore his desire that you desist
from making any further claim thereto; contenting yourself with
the spiritual jurisdiction of it if it suits the convenience of His
Excellency the Bishop Dr. F. Victorio to let the divine services be
performed therein as heretofore.

I have the honour to be, etc.
27th Oct., 1789. Wu. PagE, Secy.

A copy of this letter was forwarded to the Vicar-Apostolic for
information, and so the incident was closed. We gather that the
Goa clergy did not after this intrude themselves upon the Fort
Chapel, but opened a house close by in which they held services for
the public. .
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THE ATTITUDE OF ROME.

On July 3rd, 1789 Fre Victorinus wrote to Rome giving an
account of all that had happened. The letter, as was usual in those
days, took eleven months to reach, and Propaganda replied at once
(July 31, 1790) in substance as follows :—

“The Cardinals have leagnt of the change which has taken
place in the spiritual government of Bombay. But as it was arranged
by an understanding between the two courts of Lisbon and London,
there was no need to protest; since it was always the principle of
the Congregation that as soon as the Knglish Government was
willing to allow the Archbhishop of Goa to send priests into Bombay,
which was a part of his diocese, our missionaries as well as the
Vicars-Apostolic should ccase to exercise jurisdiction, and should
leave the ficld open to the Ordinary. Hence (the Congregation
continues) you have done well in not putting any obstacle to the
decree of the English Government ; and also you did well in referring
the question of the Hermitage (Fort Chapel) to the Government, as
regards your legal posscssion of this property. Since you received
a favourable verdict, retive to that convent, and abstain from all
jurisdiction over souls, except so far as powers are given to you by
the Archhishop, and are allowed by the privileges of religious.

“All other religious [Carmelites], not needed in the island can
be sent to Surat and Malabar. You want to send Fre Peter of
Alcantara to Delhi. But since that district was given to the Capu-
chins of Tibet [in 1784] do not intrude there, but direct your zeal
to other missions of the Vicariate which would otherwise be
neglected. Your Vicariate is not merely for Bombay but extends
to Karwar, the Deccan and Golkonda. Karwar used to be a
flourishing mission, and had a good house. But perhaps the greater
comforts of living in Bombay caused it to be given up.* Therefore
profit by circumstances and re-open Karwar; and use Peter of
Alcantara there instead of at Delhi. You have in Surat and Karwar
a large field for gaining souls, which is the sole aim of the Con-
gregation.”

These instructions were duly carried out ; and so by the end of 1790
all the Carmelites (excent Bishop Victorino himself) had disappeared
from Bombay. The whole of the spiritnal jurisdiction of the island
was in the hands of the Archbishop of Goa, and the churches were
manned by secular clergy under his jurisdiction.

NOTE ON SIR MICHAEL DE LIMA.

The Mauritius MS. has a fine crop of sensational things to relate
in connection with the transfer of the jurisdiction to Goa, which we
summarise as follows :—(1) That Sir Michael de Lima invited the

* This gontle sarcasm seems to have been undeserved. The anarchy which
followed on the annexations of Hyder Ali (1764) and of Tipu Sultun (1784) had

resulted in the break-up of that mission, Nearly all the Christians had been deported
to Seringapatam, and the rest had fled away:y A ad been depor
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secular clergy to dinner, and forced them, when over-heated with wine,
to promise ebedience and submission to the Archbishop, who promised
to native priests the parishes occupied hy the Carmelites. (2) Sir
Michael is also said to have promised the bishopric of Bombay to one
of them, and even ordered in a set of episcopal pontificalia from Europe ;
—which were afterwards bought by the Vicar-Apostolic, and preserved
ad fuluram rei memoriam et signum perfidiae. (3) One of his followers
behaved rudely to the Vicar-Apostolic and tried to drive him out of his
housc. But he was punished for his sacrilegious act by losing all
his goods some days after, while boarding a ship, and had to save
his life by swimming, and afterwards to heg from door to door,
and to receive maintenance from the Vicar-Apostolic, and only survived
his disgrace a few months. (4) A relative of Sir Michael came furiously
to kill the Vicar-Apostolic with a pistol, but shot his own mother
instead, and went mad, and hid in a jungle, and ended a week after in
hanging himself on a tree. (5) Sir Michael at the cost of 43,000 seudi
built a splendid college in order to keep up a supply of priests for the
Goa jurisdiction. The college was opened solemnly, but before a year
was out the Prefect, Sir Michael’s nephew, died, and the rest of the
students fell sick and the college was closed. (6) A priest of the Goa
party exhumed the bones of Fre Charles of 8t. Conrad from their grave
in Salvagio and buried the corpse of a woman there instead; but the
sacristan reverently hid the hones of Fre Charles, and later on delivered
them to Fre Pedro d’Alcantara, who replaced them in the same grave
with a tombstone which still exists. (7) Later on, after the jurisdiction
had heen restored to the Carmelites in 1791, it was Sir Michael de
Lima that instigated Government to divide the churches in 1794.
(8) Finally, when Sir Michael de Lima was on his deatbbed in 1810
he called Fre Pedro d’Alcantara and another priest, and with penitential
tears begged them to commend his soul to God, being full of remorse
for the mischief he had done.

Outside the Mauritius MS. we have not found any record of these
events. The author of the MS. seems to have transcribed them from
an old document written apparently in 1847, and therefore sixty years
after the event [Vicariate Files XII at end]. How much truth there
is in any of them we have no means of judging.
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CHAPTER 11,
THE REVERSION REVERSED, 1791.

No sooner had the Carmelites withdrawn and the Goa jurisdiction been
established, than the Government began to find out that the new state
of things was a cause of dissatisfaction to at least some portion of the
Bombay community. As this secmed to be of sufficient importance. to
call for action by the ruling powers, Government on January 12th, 1790,
wrote to the Vicar-Apostolic :-—-

Most Illustrious and Reverend D. F. Vitorio.

The President in Council, understanding that many of the Catholick
inhabitants of this Island [refuse] to acknowledge the spiritnal jurisdiction
of the Archbishop of Goa and of his Delegate the Vicar General, has
judged proper to issue a publication of which has ordered me to enclose
you a copy, and to [request] you to be particularly circumspect not to
encourage any of the people in such contumacious conduct.

I have the honor, ete.
12th January, 1790. WiLLiam Pace, Secy.

The publication referred to, which was openly published a month
later, ran as follows :—

A Proclamation.

The President in Council hereby commands that all Catholicks inhabi-
tants on this Island do consider themselves under the spiritual jurisdic-
tion of His Excellency the Archbishop of Goa and of his Delegate the
Reverend Padre Ignascio (fomez, Vicar General; and whoever shall
presume to refuse obedience to the said Vicar’s authority or to obstruct
him in the exercise of his functions will be proceeded against by Govern-
ment with the utmost severity.

By order of the Hon’ble Governor in Council,
12 February, 1790. WitLiam PacE, Secv.
PETITIONS AGAINST PADROADO,

Instead of putting a quietus on public feeling, this measure seems
only to have made matters worse, so that the feeling in favour of the
Propaganda jurisdiction began to issue in several petitions to the
Government. Of these only one has been preserved in our archives, so
faded that decipherment is in places dificult; the main drift, however,
is still discoverable :---

A petition to have the Goa occupation reversed, organised by six deputies
of Mahim and six of Bombay representing the whole people :—

With a great inexpressible grief and concern we do move to lay
before this Hon’ble Court the fatiferous misfortune into which in this
present year 1789 have fallen the Roman Catholic inhabitants of this
island by a forged letter sent to Portugal in the names of the R.C.
inhabitants on this island of Bombay and Mahim, requesting spiritual
power from the Archbishop of Goa upon the churches of this island, of
which was issued an order from the Hon’ble Court to this Government
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to deliver over to Archbishop of Goa the charge of the churches....
The inhabitants, being informed of this unexpected order, petitioned
Government on March 3 of the same year requesting the preservation
of the Carmelite Friars, because they were serviceable, advantageous
and of great tranquility to the R. C.inhabitants. But observing that
their petition took no place. ...they constituted their deputy attornies
....six from Mahim and six from Bombay....They again petitioned
the Hon’ble Court to suspend this order. .. .till the Hon’ble Court should
be informed of all circumstances and just reasons....[in spite of which
the churches were delivered over the Archbishop] with the universal grief
and concern of all....causing every one great displeasure. [They go
on to ask for the Vicor-Apostolic to be restored]..But the Vicars of the
churches shall be natives of this island and not strangers....”
F. W.D’Cruz, IaNAcio DE SILva, ete.
5th March, 1790.
RECALL OF THE CARMELITES.

As the delivery of the churches to the Archbishop of Goa had heen
done under orders from England, Government submitted these repre-
sentations to the Court of Directors, with the following result :—

Extract of a letter from the Hon’ble the Court of Directors dated
15th December 1790 :

“We are concerned to find from the papers you have transmitted to
us, that the execution of our orders of the 21st July 1786, for restoring
to the Archbishop of Goa the spiritual jurisdiction over the Roman
Catholic churches upon your island, has given great cause of uneasiness
to the inhabitants of that persuasion. Our orders upon this subject
were founded upon the requisition of the Court of Portugal; but as
we find the inhabitants of the Roman Catholic religion within your
Presidency are uniformly averse to the exercise of the jurisdiction of
the Archbhishop, and that such jurisdiction was relinquished in a formal
manner, we feel disposed, though unwilling to interfere in religious
matters, to comply with their unanimous wishes, and to allow them
to exercise their religious worship under the jurisdiction of the Carmelite
Friars, as they have been used to do for above half a century past; and
desire you will make all the parties acquainted therewith.”

The Bombay Government proceeded to carry out these instructions
in due course :-—

A Proclamation.

The Hon’ble the Court of Directors of the English Tast India
Company having been pleased to order that the ecclesiastical jurisdic-
tion of the Roman Catholic churches under this Government shall
be withdrawn from the Archbishop of Goa and be restored to the
Carmelite Bishop and Friars of the apostolic mission, the President in
Council has accordingly resolved that the said restitution shall take place
on the first of the ensuing month ; from which time he hereby enjoins
all the Catholic inhabitants of Bombay, as well as the several factories
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and settlements subordinate thereto, to pay due obedience in spiritual
matters to the said Bishop on pain of incurring the severe displeasure of
Government.

By order of the Hon’ble the President in Council.

2nd August, 1791. JoHN MoRRis.
RECOVERY OF THE CHURCHES.

Thus all the churches of the' island came again into the hands of
Propaganda. “On September the 1st, 1791, Fre Victorinus went in pro-
cession amidst great festivities to take possession of Esperan¢a Church
in the Fsplanade; and all the churches in the island were restored
to the Carmelites. Father Agostino Antonio de Silva and 15 other
native priests of Goa sworeobedience to the Vicar-Apostolic as their
lawful prelate and superior ; but four of the priests and other adherents of
Sir Miguel’s party did not submit.” (Mauritius MS.)

The form of oath by which the secular clergy gave their allegiance
to the Vicar-Apostolic on this occasion is given in a document of 1847
(alrcady quoted) as follows :—

“We the undersigned promise and swear obedience and submission to
the illustrious Signor the Vicar-Apostolic and his successors, and we
recognised him as our legitimate prelate and superior, and in pledge of
which we have made this present declaration.” Bombay: In the
Church of N. S. D’KEsperanca, 1st September 1791.

[Signed] J. Antonio de Silva, Vicar General ol the Archbishop of
Goa |and 15 others].

A PROTEST FROM (i0A.

As soon as the news reached Goa, the Archbishop, Manuel de Sta
(latharina, wrote a letter to the Viear-Apostolic (dated Oct. 6th, 1791)
of which the following is the substance : -

“ 1 cannot abstain from manifesting to your Lordship on the present
occasion my strong feelings—not so much on account of the violation
of my jurisdiction (although that would be a worthy motive to excite
the zeal of a prelate) as in order to satisfy my conscience, and to
defend, from strange pastors without legitimate mission, the flock which
God has confided to my care from the day when I swore to Ged to
render an account for each soul confided to me in the whole of my
diocese.

“For a long time I have lamented from the bottom of my heart, to
see this unhappy portion of my flock of the island of Bombay snatched
from its proper pastor, without pasture, without instruction, without
any form of Christianity where only the name remains, and (what1 have
felt most) without any one to teach them the rudiments of their
faith and other duties of the Christian religion, on account of the pro-
found ignorance of the ministers who direct them. If your Reverence
were to reflect seriously on events from the time when a certain
Maurice [Fre Mauritius of St. Teresa in 1720] maliciously intruded
himself, up to the time of my taking possession of this flock [in 1789]
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you would find verified the words which Christ said through St. John:
* He who enters not by the door....the same is a thief and a robber.’

*“1f God had been pleased to listen to the fervent prayers of some
of my sheep, there would have been a removal of those fictitious
obstructions that were deliberately fabricated [in 1720] and maintained
down to the time of my taking possession, [in [789], with a success
well known to your Lordship. ‘

“It bhas now come to my knowledge, not without great grief, that
your Reverence has again taken possession of my jurisdiction on Sept.
Ist, having the boldness to revoke it by a public document. Who
would have believed it, Most Illustrious Sir? Who among Catholics
could imagine that an intruding Prelate would come and revoke the
jurisdiction of the proper Pastor ? Let nct vour Reverence pretend
to defend that act (which is condemned by every law), by suying that
Government has so decreed ; that there is an obstacle to my juris-
diction! and on that account you, as Vicar-Apostolic, can take posses-
sion of my churches. That is the policy which has ruined all the
missions of Asia, and will put an end to Christianity just so far as the
Pope, after being properly informed, fails to recall the Propaganda Mis-
sionaries or Vicars-Apostolic from dioceses that are governed by their
own pastors.

“The great contradiction which (though palliated by specious words)
your Lordship and your companions has made to my jurisdiction, is a clear
proof of the passionate sentiments with which vouand yoursare actuated.
The various allegations which were made before the Council, e.g., that
the churches were held [by your Carmelites] for life; that they could
not be taken by anyone else without the order of the Pope; that
there were no means of applying to Italy; that they [the Carmelites]
who held the churches were willing to br under my jurisdiction ;
and that finally you succeeled by various means to corrup my very
houschold with certain promises —all that, and more which I pass over
in silence, clearly reveals to the world the bias with which such
missionaries maintain their positions in these parts, the grounds on
which they act, the interpretation they put on the determinations of the
Holy See, and on those decrees of the Conuregation concerning the
jririsdiction of the Viears-Apostolic—which define when they ought to act,
and which cancel their powers when there is no just impediment such as
death, old age, seclusion, suspension or permanent exclusion of the proper
bishop, or when those impediments were studiously created, asis notorious
in the present case.

This method of procedure, Illustrious Sir, is not that of a Viear-
Apostolic, who should only have in view the glory of God and the
salvation of souls; it is not that of a shepherd, who should stamp out and
not foment schism between the lambs and their own prelate; it is
not giving life to the lambs, but rather depriving them of it; it is
sacrificing and condemning them for ever.” (Neg. Ext. I, 245, 246 where
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the letter is described as one of “true religious unction.”)

A week later (Oct. 15, 1791) the same prelate addressed an equally
strong letter to Pope Pius VI, denouncing the resumption of the chur-
ches by the Vicar-Apostolic, and urging that the Holy See should
order him out of the island. To this letter the Pope replied on January
23rd, 1793 by the briel Jam Dudum, of which the following is a
translation :—

THE BRIEF “JAM DUDUM.”

To our venerable Brother Emanuel Archbishop of Goa :—Already
several times the Archbishops of Goa and the minixters of his most
faithful Majesty |the King of Portugal] have forwarded complaints
regarding the jurisdiction conceded by us to the Vicars of the Great
Mogul in the island of Bombay— as if it had been in our mind to take
that jurisdiction away from the aforesaid prelates [of Goa]. On each
occasion we have always given the same answer, viz., that nothing on
our part stands in the way of the Goa Archbishop exercising the fullest
jurisdiction in that island ; and that while he is exercising it, no one
else should be allowed to acquire from us the least part ol it. As a
matter of fact, after the year 1718, when the Fnglish expelled all the
Portuguese clergy—the Jesuits first, afterwards the Franciscans, and
finally the vicars of the metropolitan—that unfortunate Catholic com-
munity, possessing no leader and no rulerin the way of eternal salvation,
stretched its hands out to the throne of the universal pastor, begging
for some one to break the bread of the Gospel to them. Thereupon,
as the English had no objection, the faculty was granted by this
Apostolic See to the Vicars-Apostolic of the Great Mogul to undertake
the pastoral care of the Catholics of Bombay island, until such time
as the quarrel between the English and the Portngue.so should be set
at rest, thus allowing the Archbishop of Goa to resume his former
jurisdiction.

That you, Venerable Brother, should have made every effort to
remove this impediment arising from the British Government, in order
to reinstate the jurisdiction of the Goan See, is & matter which elicits
from us all praise ; and we were delighted to hear of your success. For
what could be more desirable than that a See should enjoy the full
power to rule its own suhjects ?  And for what reason has this Apostolic
See instituted its missionaries and Vicars-Apostolic except this—that
they should help and serve under the bishops wherever they exist and
enjoy liberty to exercise their powers; and, that where through some
impediment they happen to be unable to do so, the missionaries and
Vicars-Apostolic should be able to step into their place, and by the apos-
tolic authority take charge of souls? TFor how otherwise could the
Holy See have brought itsclf to assign to the faculties conferred upon
missionaries and vicars a preference over proper and legltlmate jurisdic-
tion, unless compelled to do so by some external necessity ¢

Nay mwre, it ought not to be unknown to you how much we



120 VACILLATION AND COMPROMISE {1790—1794)

regretted to hear for the first time from your letters that, by a new
decision from the Courtof London, the Goan jurisdiction had again been
taken away. We were glad that you wrote to us complaining of
this, feeling grateful whenever you do anything calculated in sny way
to alleviate our anxieties. As to the fact that, after you have been
ejected, we do not also eject our Vicar-Apostolic, Bishop Victorinus—
that would, we consider, be contrary alike to Christian charity and to
justice. Kor if that were done, the inhabitants of Bombay would
again be without shepherd or leader, and would remain as wandering
sheep under a heterodox Government.  Have you not yourself acknow-
ledged that, as soon you resumed the spiritual charge of the island,
Bishop Victorinus was at once deprived of all ecclesistical authority?
On your vwn confession, therefore, Victorinus never really usurped from
you your jurisdiction ; but, as it were, administered it for you by
vicarious authority from us, until such time as you should be able to
resume it. Why then do you wish that, since you yourself cannot
act as pastor in Bombay island, no Catholic pastor should be there at
all? Has Christ been divided by you, so that, since the people of
Bombay arc unable to obey the jurisdiction of the Archbishop of Goa,
you would deprive them of all nourishment of the Christian religion ?
Has any Goan Archbishop been crucified for the Bombayites ? Or
have they been baptised in his name ?

Thus is it that the Apostle Paul rebuked the Corinthians when
schisms arose among them, and each one said : ‘I belong to Paul;” ‘I
belong to Apollo,” and ‘I helong to Cephas.” His meaning was that,
no matter who preached the Gospel, it was Christ alone that should be
preached, and all without distinction should be accepted and listened
to. Therefore in the Epistle to the Philippians he says :—‘Some preach
Christ in a contentious spirit, and without sincerity, thinking that they
are oppressed by my control. But what are the facts ¢ So long as
Christ is preached, whether under pressure or under an impulse of truth,
I am glad, and continue to be glad.’

Hence, Venerable Brother, you ought to rejoice to find that the
missionaries are scattering the seed of the Gospel and spreading the
Catholic faith as widely as possible—not in a contentious spirit, nor one
of hostility to your jurisdiction, but commissioned by this Apostolic See—-
thus taking your place in these remoter regions. Ifence your com-
plaints about certain calumnies and underhand practices, said to be
the cause of the split between the English and the Portuguese, are in
vain. It is no business of ours to know about them or to examine
into them, since our sole object is to look after the well-being and safety
of the Catholic faithful as far as it lies in our power. Therefore if at any
future time the English Government opens the way oncemore to the
exercise of your powers in the island of Bombay, then no one else but
vourself shall act as pastor there. But so long as this is not possible,
the charge falls to us of seeing lest the sheep, deprived of their shepherd,
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wander from the way of salvation.

We do not doubt, Venerable Brother, that you will take this
reply in the spirit in which it is made, viz., in view of the salvation of
souls committed specially to your care. And as a pledge of our fatherly
benevolence, we extend to you our apostolic blessing, etc.

Dated January 23ed, 1793, Prus v
ATTITUDE OF PROPAGANDA.

The attitude of the Holy See as expressed in the foregoing brief is
reflected in two letters of Propagunda, written to the Vicar-Apostolic
about the same time :—

April 13, 1793 (Alcant : p. 49 out of place). A Letter to Bishop
Victorino [it reached Bombay after his death] in reply to his letter of
1792, which told of the retaking of the churches by the Carmelites on
Sept. 1, 1791 : “Your action according to the instructions two years ago
is approved. Wecannot help disapproving of theobstinacy of the Arch-
bishop in circnmstances under which he is debarred from exercising
jurisdiction.  Still we must inculcate on you the greatest possible
moderation and prudence. For sweetness and dissimulation will better
help to end the division, than perfervid eagerness in contradicting and
persecuting those of the opposite party; since a sinister interpretation
is put on excessive zeal in maintaining one’s own authority.” The Vicar-
Apostolic is recommended to treat Pinto da Gloria* with friendliness
rather than confront him harshly, ete.

July 5, 1794. In reply to a letter of Fre Pedro d’Alcantara (Vicar
General during the vacancy) dated 18th July 1793 : The 8. Congregation
announces the death of Fre Angelino, the Vicar-Apostolic elect, which
has just taken place in Europe, and says that he [Fre Pedro
d’Alcantara] is hereby appointed to the Vicariate in his place. The S.
Congregation goes on to praise him for having, on the recovery of the
churches in 1791, given them to secular pricsts and not to Carmelites.
“ This will attach their affections to the Vicariate, and will draw the
people closer, and will remove occasions for splits and quarrels.” “As
regards the endeavours of the Archbishop of Goa to re-enter the
churches, you have our previous instructions given to Fre Victorino ;
and ay we see you express yourself in accordance with them, there is
nothing to add except that you should regulate your conduct on those

lines [viz., to act only where and so far as the Archbishop of Goa is
excluded].”

* Antonio Pinto da Gloria, the pupil of Propaganda who was sent out in 1785
to teach in the seminary, weat over to the Goa party in 1789, became its leader, and
later on was appointed Vicar-General by the Archbishop of Goa.
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CHAPTER III
THE COMPROMISE 1793-1794.

Doy Victorinus died on May 3lst (alias September 20th) 1793
that is, two years after the restoration of Bombay to the Carmelites.
Dom Fre Pedro d’Alcantara of St. Anthony, ( the third Peter of Alcan-

tara ) who had been his Vicar General] and remained as administrator
during the vacancy, was nominated as his successor, under the title of
Bishop of Antiphellis in Lycia, on June the 3rd, 1794 ; but the bulls of
his appointment only reached Bombay on June 15th, 1795. He was
consecrated on November 29th, 1795, by the Vicar-Apostolic of Verapoly,
and returned to take possession of the Vicariate on January 24th, 1796,
He was thercfore only Vicar General administering the Vicariate when
the events recorded in the present section took place.

As we have scen, the restoration of the Carmelites only led to {resh
endeavours on the part of the votaries of Padroado to reverse once more
this official decision. The Government, caring little about Catholic eccle-
siastical alfairs in their internal aspect, and concerned only for public
tranquility, had in the first instance imagined that the desire for the
Padroado jurisdiction was practically unanimous ; and hence the complete
transfer of the jurisdiction to Goa. They next imagined that the desire
for tho restoration of Propaganda was also practically unanimous, and
therefore reinstated the Carmelites entirely. But as soon as the Carme-
lites had been restored, and the Padroado party began to raise new pro-
tests, the Home Government tried to patch up the business by a com-
promise, the results of which form an epoch in the ecclesiastical history
of Bombay.

BEGINNINGS OF THE MOVEMENT.

As regards the beginnings of this movement, few particulars are
preserved. The B. C. Layman writes :---“This decision was now distaste-
ful to the adherents of the Archbishop of Goa. These in each parish
prepared petitions against the measure, and entrusted the same to the
late Sir (then Mr.) Mnguel de Lima e Souza, for present:tion to the
Ion’ble the Governor.  1le presented them with an earnest request that
their prayer might be favourably considered. He was politely inforined
by His Excellency that this Government was helpless in the matter, but
that they would be forwarded to the Court of Directors supported by the
recommendations of the Government.”

The document of 1847 (already quoted) adds a few details. Tt states
that “ when the Vicar-Apostolic recovered the four churches in 1791 he
put them in charge of Carmelite fathers, instead of giving them to secular
priests as the Archbishop of Goa had done. Being thus made to suffer
by the change, tho secular priests were greatly disappointed and dis-
pleased, since they had hoped to remain parish priests as before. This
alienated their sympathies, and caused them to pass over to the side of
Sir Michael de Lima, who in combination with them made a new appli-



THE COMPROMISE (1793) 123

cation to Government, giving it to be understocd that the people were
not willing to have Carmelite missionaries as their pastors.” The MS,
adds that the petition sent up contained ‘“but few names of living per-
sons and many of dead ones,” and that the large numbers of “signatures”
created a false impression—a trick familiar enough, God knows, and
whether actually perpetrated or not we have no means of finding out now.

RESPONSE OF GOVERNMENT.

Be this as it may, the pro-Padroado agitation produced a marked
effect on the authorities in London, who were not long in making up their
mind to a compromise, which they communicated to the Bombay Gov-
ernment in the following terms :—

Extract para. 35 of a letter dated the 25th June 1793 from the
Honourable the Court of Directors :—

We have taken into our consideration the several representations
from the Roman Catholic inhabitants of your Island, upon the subject
of our orders of the 15th December 1790, allowing them the exercise
of their religious worship under the jurisdiction of the Carmelite Friars,
These orders were issued under an idea of an almost unanimous aver-
sion of the inhabitants to the exercise of the jurisdiction of the Arch-
bishop of Goa. But we now find that a very large proportion of them,
and those some of the most respectable, are averse to the spiritual
direction of the Carmelites. So as it is immaterial who may officiate
in the Roman Catholic churches of your Presidency, provided the
inhabitants of that persuasion are satisfied, and that the Pastor and
his flock conform to the orders and Regulations of Government, and
conduct themselves in other respects as good and faithful subjects.—In
order therefore to reconcile all parties, and to conciliate the minds of
the various inhabitants of that persuasion, we direct that two of the
four Roman Catholic churches of Bombay be served from among the
Carmelite Mission, and the other two by the Portuguese Priests. They
will thus be at full liberty to exercise their religious worship under
the direction of such Pastors as they may think proper. And in
case, from an undue assumption of power on the part of either, or from
any other cause, any dispute shall arise, the same must be adjusted by
you with the utmost impartiality, and paying every attention to the dis-
position and wishes of the parties, which must always be consulted
on religious subjects so far as may be consistent with the principles of
sound policy and good Government.

Thus Pastoral selections will of course be therefore made by the
inhabitants themselves subject to your approval and confirmation.
With respect to the Private chapels in your Island, these will be served
by such priests as their respective founders, or their successors shall
think proper to select ; subject, however, as in the case of the public
churches, to your approbation.

A true extract.
JouN Morris, Secretary, -
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A copy of this document was forwarded to the Administrator of
the Vicariate on December 6th :—

To the Revd. F. Pedro de Alcantara, Vicar General.

Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the President in Council has directed me to enclose
you an extract from the llon’ble Cempany’s Commands dated the
25th June last, for the purpose of your making the same known to the
Carmelite Mission on this Island.

1 am, Revd. Sir, etc.
6th Dec. 1793, Joun Moreis, Secy.

An announcement in identical terms was also made to Sir Miguel
de Lima e Souza.

DIVISION OF THE CHURCHES.

“On the 8th of the same month (writes the B. C. Layman,
March 1850) the adherents of the Archbishop [of Goa] held a general
meeting at the house of Sir Miguel. After reading the Government
letter and the instructions of the Hon’ble Court, a resolution was
agreed to, entrusting the arrangements for effecting the division of the
charches to the host, Sir Miguel de Lima e Souza. The Carmelite Vicar
(eneral, Fre Pedro, not approving of this arrangement, summoned the
principal parishioners of each district who adhered to his jurisdiction
to a conference in the chapel of N. 8. de Carmo (Fort Chapel); and
after pointing out the evils of a divided jurisdiction, stated his inten-
tion of relinquishing all share in the direction of the ecclesiastical affairs
of the island. They begged him to refrain from carrying out this
intention, pending an answer to a petition which they would present
to Government against the division. Meantime Sir Miguel de Lima
endeavoured to arrange the division with the Carmelite Vicar General,
but without effect. Sir Michael then appealed to Government. ...”

GOVERNMENT URGES THE DIVISION.

Government, in response to this appeal, proceeded at once to
put pressure on Fre Pedro by issuing the following instructions :—
To the Revd. F. Pedro de Alcantara, Vicar General.

Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council has directed me to acquaint
you that you must conform to the orders of the Ilon’ble the Court of
Directors and choose two churches in the following manner :—

The Carmelites to choose the first.

The Portuguese the second.

The Carmelites the third, when the fourth will devolve to the
Portuguese ; and the inhabitants are to choose their own pastors
subject to the approval and confirmation of the Hon’ble the Governor-
in-Council.

1 am, Revd. Sir, etc.
24th Jan. 1794, JonN Morris, Secretary.
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Similar communications were made to “Philip de Cruz and other in-
habitants that petition to Government,” [on the Carmelite side] and also
to “Miguel de Lima ¢ Souza and the parties of the Archbishop.”

The next event was the drafting of a further petition against the
division of the churches, drawn up by “Antonio George de (¥a and
others”’; and on January 31st Fre Pedro also put in a formal protest
against the movement, and practically declined to take any part in
it [copies not preserved). However Government would brook no opposi-
tion, and wrote back at once in the following peremptory manner :-—

To the Revd. F. Pedro de Alcantara, Vicar General.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council has charged me to acquaint
you, in reply to the letter you addressed him under yesterday’s [date],
that the Carmelites must make choice of two churches before the Tth
of this month ; othcrwise he shall he under the necessity of making
a division of the churches in the manner directed by the Hon'ble the Court
of Directors in their Commands of the 25th June 1793.

I am, Revd. Sir, ete.
1st February, 1794. Jonx Mognis, Secy.

And a similar communication was made to  Antonio George de Ga*

and the deputies of the Roman Catholic inhahitants.”
THE ACTUAL CHOICE.

The Bombay Catholic Layman (March 1850) goes on to state that
“Immediately on becoming acquainted with this decision, the Carmelite
Vicar General wrote to the Government resigning his charge of the
ecclesiastical affairs of the island ; but at the earnest intreaties of his
adherents and the recommendations of the Governor he withdrew his
resignation and submitted to the division.”

The first choice made by the Vicar General, Fre Pedro, naturally
fellon the Church of N. 8. de Esperanca, which had always been regarded
as the principal church of the mission. The letter recording this choice
has not been preserved, but the selection made by the Portuguese
party, and those subsequent to it, are detailed in the following
correspondence :—

To the Revd. Fr. Pedro de Alcantara, Vicar General.
Revd. Sir,

The Partics of the Archbishop of Goa having made choice of the
Church Salvacio situated at Mahim Woods, the Hon’ble the Governor
in Council is pleased to direct that you fix on some other church as
your second choice.

Your most ohdt. servant, ete.
7th Feb. 1794. JoHN Morris, Secy.

In making his second choice under compulsion Fre Pedro could not
refrain from repeating his offer of resignation. For on February 11th, he

* George do Ga was (o;' afterwards beoa.;no) the proprietor of th;_i;r;r;l-;e_Cl;a;ei of
8. Teresa, Girgaum, and lived in the house next door in Charney Road.
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thus writes to the Governor-in-Council : “ In reply to the order given
by the Court of Directors at Bombay on February 1st, 1794, I had chosen
two churches, viz., Esperanga and Salvagiio, where I am residing at
present., But I now propose St. Michael's instead of Salvagio.” Ho
then goes on to repeat his former request: “that the Hon’ble Board
would confer a great and special favoyr upon us, as well as the Car-
melite fraternity, if they would accept our total resignation ; because
it is quite clear that the division of the churches of this Island will
result in infinite disorders, to the grave detriment to the peace and
tranquillity of the Roman Catholics dwelling in this Island.”

But Government was not to be moved ; and so ignoring his plea
they accepted his selection, and wrote as follows :—

To Mr. Miguel de Lima ¢ Souza, Bombay.
Sir,

I am directed by the Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council to inform you
that the Vicar General of the Carmelite Mission has made his second
choice of the church of St. Michael at Mahim.

I am, Sir,
12th Feh. 1794. Joun Morris, Secy.
Gloria Church, Masagon was therefore left to the Padroado party.
AN APPEAL TO GOA.

As soon as the choice was completed Dom Pedro wrote to the Arch-
bishop of Goa (Feb. 13, 1794). He informs him of the orders of the
Court of Directors; of his protest against them, and of the reply of
Government to the effect that : “Your Reverence must conform to the
order of the Court of Directors; your Reverence must choose two
churches.” He quotes the intention of Propaganda, which orders that
the Vicar-Apostolic must in the matter of jurisdiction submit to the
orders of the Lord of the land, —and govern so long as the Ordinary
cannot govern. He adds that he has submitted to those orders, [by
making his choice of churches]. He then continues: “In these critical
and sad circumstances there is no refuge except to have recourse to
Your Excellency, as the Diocesan prelate of this Christian community
and the loving pastor of your flock.  As these Christians will be divided
into two opposing parties, ‘one of Apollo, one of Cephas,’ it is impor-
tant that there should be between Your Excellency and the Vicar-
Apostolic, an agreement tending to the perfect harmony and union of
these Christians under the obedience of one pastor, so as to prevent
the infinite disorders which will arise from having two prelates in a land
which enjoys such freedom in religion. On my part I am entirely disposed
to embrace whatever the prudence of Your Excellency may propose, for
the saving of souls and the preservation of these churches in a state
of unity. Fix the status for me as the Lord inspires you ; but be on
your guard against the counsels of certain persons who perchance may
be open to suspicion in this matter, etc.”
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A SUGGESTED COMPROMISE.

Meantime Fre Pedro has been thinking out a method of compromise
by which the evils of the division might be avoided. As soon as the
idea is matured (Feb. 20, 1794) he writes to the deputies of hoth
parties (the Carmelite party and the party of the Archbishop) saying
that he had felt such a horror at the division of the churches in
Bombay on account of the bad consequences, that he had resolved to
write to his General refusing charge of the churches which the Court of
Directors orders to be given to him. His request [asking Government to
accept his resignation] has been in vain; and therefore he is compelled,
solely with the aim of bringing the Christians to peace and unity in
obedience to one pastor, to make certain proposals at a meeting on
February 23rd at 10 a.m. at the Fort Chapel, to which he invites the
deputies.

The minutes of that meeting are not formally recorded; but an
account of what happened therein appears in a letter which Dom Pedro
wrote immediately after it to the Archbishop of Goa (Feb. 26, 1794):~—

In that letter he states that hoth parties, appointed to settle the
division of the churches, had formed the design of building new churches
which should be subjected to the prelate whom they recognise, even
though they might be in unsuitable places. But the Vicar General
had invited them to a meeting, where he made a proposal which seemed
to him to be acceptable to both parties, viz., that in o.ler to prevent
the division of the parochial churches and the disorders which must arise
therefrom, it would be well to appoint him, the Carmelite Vicar General,
to take charge of the whole of the islands of Bombay and Mahim under
the Ordinary of Goa, with the same privileges as he now enjoys from
the Holy See, until the Sacred Congregation be informed of the change
and should make due provision. He goes on to say : “The deputies of
the Archbishop agreed provided the Archbishop of Goa accepted the
proposal. The other (Carmelite) party were not present at the meeting,
and showed themselvessomewhat discontented. But if Your Excellency
will approve of this proposal, they will come round like the others. In
this way the dispute will end, and the oflences to God ; and there will
be one jurisdiction, under one pastor, who will be the Diocesan prelate,
—a thing which I sincerely desire.”

What answer was given to this proposal by the Archbishop of Goa
will appearin the sequel.
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CHAPTER 1V.
DIVISION OF THE CHURCHES (1794).

MianTIME Government would not let matters stand still ; for while
this domestic discussion was going on, they issued the following
executive orders :—

To the Revd. F. Pedro de Alcantara, Virar General.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council is pleased to direct you to
deliver up to Mr. Miguel de Lima e Souza and the Archbishop’s party
the two churches of Salvagio and Mazagon with their appurtenances,
as chosen by them.

I am, Revd. Sir, etc.
22nd Feb. 1794. Joun Morris, Secy.

As soon as the two churches of Gloria and Salvagio had been
handed over and taken due charge of by the Goa clergy, the Vicar
General on March 15th, 1794 issued.the following proclamation :—

“Fre Pedro de Alcantara de Santo Antonio, of the order of discalced
Carmelites, Vicar General of the Islands of Bombay and Mahim.

These are to make known to all the beloved residents of Salvacio
and Mazagon, that from this day hencetorward T will not exercise any
act of jurisdiction whatever within these districts, in consequence of
express orders received, under date 22nd February, from Government,
directing me to deliver over the churches of Salvagio and Mazagon,
with all their appurtenances, to Sir Miguel de Lima and other gentlemen
deputed by the Most Excellent the Lord Archbishop of Goa to receive
charge of them; and in pursuance of the special wish of the sacred
Congregation of the Propaganda, that the Vicar-Apostolic should submit
to the Governing Authority, Lord of the Land, in all matters relating to
the exercise of Apostolical functions on the Islands of Bombay and Mahim,

At the same time, in order that no one may accuse me of having
neglected my duty by renouncing my charge of these churches, 1
hereby declare that [ did all in my power, but without effect, to secure
to the Christians of Bombay the blessing of living united under the care
of one Pastor, and to avoid the pernicious calamity of living divided.

May peace, health and the grace of Jesus Christ attend all the
blessed residents. Given at the Chapel of N. S. de C'armo, under my
signature and seal, this 15th day of March 1794.”

P. Pedro de Alcantara, V.G.

Finally, in order to obviate futurc disputes or clashings of
authority, all overlapping of the two jurisdictions was officially precluded
by the following official communication :—

To Revd. Padre Pedro de Alcantara, Vicar General.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council has directed me to acquaint

you, in reply to your letters of the 29th ultimo and 6th instant, that
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the Carmelite Priests cannot exercise any power over the Portuguese
churches or chapels, nor the Portuguese priests have any authority
over the Carmelite churches or chapels, as a toleration is granted to
both these orders of the Roman Catholic Religion. ...

I am, Revd. Sir, ete.
16th May 1794. Joun Morris, Secy.

ORIGIN OF THE DOUBLE JURISDICTION,

It was this division of the churches in the year 1794 which
introduced the ““double jurisdiction ”” into Bombay island. From 1534
to 1720 the jurisdiction of Goa alone had existed. From 1720 to 1789
Propaganda had held undivided sway. In 1789 the Padroado was
restored and Propaganda rule abolished. In 1791 the Padroado was
again excluded and Propaganda reinstated. But now by the division
of 1794 the Padroado, established in half of the parishes, aund
Propaganda established in the other half, were placed in standing
rivalry and opposition. Whatever may seem to be the rights and
wrongs of the case—no matter whether it be thought better that the
Propaganda or the Padroado jurisdiction should have prevailed—this
much at least is certain : The compromise resorted to by the British
Government was from the Catholic point of view a blunder of the first
magnitude, and one responsible for a world of misery to follow.

SOME SIDE-ISSUES.

Having followed the main stream of events down tu the point, we
must now go back a little to attend to certain side-issues which arose
from the division of the churches: (1) The distribution of the
subordinate chapels; (2) The secession from Gloria Church, Mazagon,
and its consequences ; (3) The case of Cavel chupel.

THE SUBORDINATE CHAPELS.

What happened to the subordinate churches during the process of
division is as follows :-—The Fort Chapel naturally remained in the
hands of the Vicar-Apostolic. The chapel of St. Teresa, Girgawm,
built in 1773 on the property of the de Ga family, also remained under
Propaganda as filial to Esperanga. The church at Sion also went to the
Vicar-Apostolic as filial to St. Michael’'s, Mahim. The private chapel
of Cavel fell to Padroado through being served by a Goan priest, and
became filial to Gloria Church. There was a private chapel in Mazagon
at the house of Sir Miguel de Lima, which was also served by Padroado
clergy ; as well as a private chapel of St. Anne in Nesbit Lane, the
property of Mrs. Rose Nesbit, which was served by a priest of
Propaganda.

THE ROSARY CHURCH, MAZAGON.

The retention of the churches of Esperanca and of St. Michael’s,
Mahim by the Vicar-Apostolic, and the transfer of Salvagiv to the
Archbishop’s jurisdiction, were achieved without difficulty or
disturbances. But at Mazagon it was quite a different story. Except
for a few Portuguese families such as the D’Souzas and De Limas,
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the congregation of N. 8. da Gloria seems to have consisted almost
entirely of people of the fisher-caste who had their own confraternities
there. The transfer to Padroado took place quietly in March 1794.
But in April the same year (so writes Fre Pedro d’Alcantara) : “The
inhabitants of Da Gloria, which by the decree from Europe now
belongs to the Archbishop, unanimously asked the Governor to allow
them to remain under the Vicar-Apostolic as before; and the
Government allowed it, and permitted them to build a new church
and cemetery [Rosary Church]; and at the same time I (the Vicar
General) received express orders to take that church under my
jurisdiction and to bless the church which they intended to build.”
(18 Sept. 1794).
THE BUILDING OF ROSARY CHURCH.

As regards the building of the church the action seems to have
heen very prompt. There is Government correspondence dated May
1794 concerning “a piece of land asked for by the Christian inhabitants
of Mazagon for the performance of their religious worship,” followed
by a debate whether the piece of land chosen was not too large for
the purpose. A letter of Government dated May 16, 1794 also says
that “‘a piece of ground will be granted to the inhabitants of Mazagon
for burying the dead on their pointing out a proper spot to the
Collector.” In the Register of Rosary Church the first baptism recorded
is in June 1794, the carliest marriage 1811, while the earliest dated
tombstone belongs to 1798,

The new church seems to have been finished by the end of 1794.
In their exodus from Gloria church [apparently on January 1st, 1795]
they boldly carried a certain amount of church paraphernalia with
them, claiming it to be their own. This appropriation being objected
to by the Padroado party, Government wrote to the Vicar-Apostolic as
follows :—

To the Rev. Kre Petre de Alcantara,
Vicar General of the Carmelite Mission.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council has directed me to acquaint
you that he considers all the religious vests, ornaments, utensils, books,
papers, confraria and everything thereunto belonging to the church,
as the property of the church; and that they ought to be given up with
the church of Mazagon to the Portuguese Catholics in the same manner
as the Portuguese Catholics gave up their ornaments belonging to the
church of Esperanca....

I am Rev. Sir, ete.
24th Jan. 1795. Joun Mogeis, Secy.

The Vicar General conveyed these orders to the people of Mazagon,
but without securing compliance. Government therefore urged the
matter again on January 30th, and again on February 6th of 1795 in the
following terms :—
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To the Revd. Fre Pedro de Alcantara,
Vicar General of the Carmelite Mission.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council expects your immediate com-
pliance with his orders of the 24th instant, as Mr. de Souza represents
that the people of Mazagon refuse to deliver up the appurtenances
belonging to the church. .

I am, Revd. Sir, ete.
30th January 1795, Joun Morris, Secy.
To Revd. Fre Pedro de Alcantara,

Vicar General of the Carmelite Mission.
Revd. Sir,

The Hon’ble the Governor-in-Council has directed me to acquaint,
you, in reply to your letter of the 2nd instant, that as the Portuguese
Catholics delivered up with the several churches all the ornaments,
etc., belonging thereto, to the Carmelites, the Hon’ble the Governor in
Council expects that the Carmelites deliver up in the same manner
with their churches, all their ornaments, ete., to the Portuguese. But
in case they do not choose to comply with his requisition, the Car-
melites must return all the Pontificalia to the Portuguese which they
have received from their churches.

T am, Revd. Sir, ete.
6th Feb. 1795. JouN Morris, Secy.

To this last letter the Vicar-Apostolic replied, 9 Feb. 1795, stating
that he has—according to the orders of February 6th—instructed the
people of Mazagon to give over to Mr. D’Souza the church furniture
of N. 8. da Gloria ; but thev refuse to obey, alleging their right to the
property (their letters enclosed). The only way is to use violence to get
those articles, which are not in the power of the bishop, but are held
by the people of Mazagon. But this use of violence he deems unbecom-
ing to his character and office, and also not pleasing to Government.

As regards the pontificals [Bishop’s mitre, ete.] which he is ordered
to deliver up, he answers that he has not received any pontifi-
cals belonging to any Portuguese Church, but has only reccived a simple
and true superintendence of two churches which the Hon’ble Court
of Directors in Londor has assigned to him. If the Hon’ble Board
wishes that he should give this care [of the two churches] to the Arch-
bishop of Goa he would do so most promptly, and [in fact] he entreats
[Government] to accede to his request [to give them up].

What happencd next is not quite clear. It looks as if Government
must have forced the seceding Confraternity to restore the church
articles, but that they afterwards broke into the church and reappro-
priated them. Such at least is the impression created by a letter of the
Vicar-Apostolic to Sir Michael de Lima on July 16th, 1795, that he
had “just heard of the sad affair which had occurred at the church of
da Gloria ; he knew nothing of it, nor did Fr. Ignatius Noronha. He
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asked Sir Michael to name to him the authors of the sacrilegious act of
robbery, and he will show them how to punish the culprits and defend
his own flock.” Next day (July 17th) he writesagain saying that what
occurred on January 1st, 1795 was quite different from the present
occurrence, which is a real crime. He advises the Vicar of Rosary Church
to make inquiries. The culprits will not remain long concealed, ete.
The sequel is not recorded; and here, as far as our history is con-
cerned, the incident closes.

N. S. DE SAUDE, CAVEL.

One of the practical inconveniences of the division of the churches
arose from the fact that the votaries of the two jurisdictions were
scattered all over the island, and mixed up together in the different
parishes, so that many of them found themselves close to a church
of the opposite jurisdiction, and far from a church of their own
jurisdiction. The Mazagon people solved this problem by dividing oft
and building a church of their own close by; and a similar thing (though
done in a different way) happened to those near the Fort who favoured

Padroado, but found themselves in the midst of the Propaganda
parish of Esperanga. There happened however to be in their midst
a primitive private chapel at Cavel, filial to Esperanga, which could be
made use of to solve their difficulty.

The origin of N. 8. de Saude, Cavel, is best described in a Govern-
ment document of 1813, which, speaking of the time just after the
churches had been divided between the two jurisdictions, says: “In
consequence of the two churches of Salvagio and Mazagon being
inconveniently situated for the Portuguese inhabitants of Bombay, they
obtained permission of Government in 1794 to build a new church in
Bombay with & burying ground ; and, in the interim of its construction,
to make use of an old chapel at Cavel granted to them by Pedro Jose de
Moura. This chapel being old and in a decayed state, but its position
centrical (sic) it was determined to demolish it and build the intended
church on the spot ;—-which was completed, and the parishioners per-
formed their religious acts and ceremonies there unmolested, ete.”
(Laws and regulations, p. 439). While the old chapel was still standing,
and before it had been assigned by Government to the Padroado party,
a dispute arose carly in 1794, on occasion of a vacancy, as to which
jurisdiction it belonged to.  The matter was referred to Government,
who decided, on April 23rd, 1794, that “‘as both parties agree that the
chapel situated at Cavel is private property ; and as the Hon. Company
had on June 23th last directed that private chapels should be served
by such priests as their founders or successors shall think proper—As
soon as the founder of the said chapel reports to the Governor the person
he wishes to officiate wus a priest, he will officiate there accordingly.”
On April 26th one Padre Mariano de Olivares, belonging to the Padroado
clergy, was selected and approved of.

In this way Padroado secured one more place of worship which
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served as a set off to the loss at Gloria Church; and Cavel seems to
have acquired the status of a chapel filial to that church. Naturally
the Propaganda parishioners were henceforward deprived of its use—
without any great inconvenience however, as at this date the Esperanga
Church was situated at what we now call Marine Lines not far away.
How Cavel chapel was afterwards erected into an independent parish
church by the Archbishop of Goa will be told further on in our history.

PART VL

AFTER THE DIVISION (1794 -1812)
_ CHAPTER I.

VICAR APOSTOLIC AND ARCHBISHOP.

It will be remembered how Fre Pedro d’Alcantara, horrified with
the very idea of dividing the churches, first offered his total resigna-
tion to Government ; and that when the division was insisted upon, he
wrote to Goa proposing that the Archbishop should appoint him (Fre
Pedro) Vicar General to rule all the churches on his behalf. By this
means the full jurisdiction of Goa would be secured, and the evils of the
division averted. Tt took several months before the answer was given ;
and it was absolutely in the negative. Not only was the suggestion
entirely repudiated, but steps were taken to weaken the Vicar General’s
jurisdiction even over the pricsts still attached to him.  For on August
19th, 1794, D. F. Manoel de 8. Catharina, 0.D.C., Archbishop of Goa,
issued a decree by which he suspends and annuls the jurisdiction of any
priest in Bombay who does not recognise him as legitimate pastor.
It was published at Gloria and Salvagiio, and at Cavel chapel :—“Resting
on the prudent resolution of the Hon’ble Council of the Directors of
the Court of London, according to which all the Roman Catholic
Christians are free to follow the prelate which they prefer, leaving it
to their conscience to embrace the path of truth or error; by this
decree we suspend all priests and parish priests from all jurisdiction and
faculties which we have granted to them, so far as they do not
recognise us, both in private and in public, as theit legitimate prelate.
This decree to be published in the churches of our jurisdiction at Mass,
and then affixed to the door of the churches.”

THE COMPRUMISE REFUSED.

The letter from Goa which repudiated the Vicar General’s compro-
mise has not been preserved ; but its import has been embodied in a
long report to Propaganda written by Fre Pedro, on September 18th
1794, the substance of which runs as follows :—

The Vicar General in the first place writes asking tor some kind
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of declaration from Propaganda or the Holy See, which could be
published in Bombay, so as to tranquillise the Catholics, whom the
Archbishop of Goa tries to disturb by spreading opinions about the
nullity of the Vicar-Apostolic’s jurisdiction. He tells Propaganda
how he asked the Governor to accept his withdrawal from the two
churches belonging to him, but the Governor refused ; how he called
a meeting, and sent a proposal to the Archbishop to make him (Fre
Pedro) Vicar General subject to Goa. The Archhishop’s answer was
as follows: ““I cannot allow jurisdiction to the Vicar-Apostolic over
the four churches without (1) setting myself against the decision of
the Court of Directors, or at least showing myself displeased with their
orders; (2) obscuring mv own rights in my diocese. hv giving occasion
for people to think that [ mysell am in doubt as to the full extent of
my diocese; (3) going back on what I had explained to the courts of
Lisbon and Rome about the very serious [i.e., objectionable] conse-
quences resulting from the presence of the Vicar-Apostolic in Bombay ;
(4) making myself look like one of those pastors who entrust their
sheep to other shepherds so as to escape the task of feeding them. From
the proposal of the Vicar-Apostolic there follow greater inconveniences
than those which were pointed out in the two previous letters, and in the
last, wiz., that the party opposed to the diocesan will not consent to
the union of the churches under one pastor, etc.”....Dom Pedro then
explains why he had recourse to the Archbishop, ¢. ., because he could
not bear seeing the Catholics of Bombay thrown into such a horrible
state of confusion wnd disorder. Besides, it was the mind of Propaganda
that the Vicar-Apostolic in matters of jurisdiction should agree with
and accommodate himself to the Archhishop. He is ready to obey
Propaganda ; but considering the Archbishop’s answer it is useless to
take such a step [i.c., of complete resignation 7| which would result in a
complete disorder of the Vicariate. The Vicar-Apostolic then con-
tinues :— “The Archbishop prefers 1ather to sacrifice the peace of
10,000 Christians than yield his right as Ordinary for a short time, till
matters are settled.” The party of the Archbishop have written against
the Vicar-Apostolic and his missionaries, as appears from the Arch-
bishop’s letter. ‘‘Both parties are animated by passion and transported
bv fanaticism, and their lamentations deserve little credit ; and I should
be sorry if the Viear-Apostolic were condemned while innocent, and if
the calumnies were to triumph. ... There is not much hope of improve-
ment, for this people are now in full power to do what they like,
even to choose their own parish priests. The Court of Directors in
London has already declared that it matters very little who is pre-
latein Bombay. . ..That one party should go over to the other is impossi-
ble, since they form the majority (?). Each one enjoys the protection
of Government to follow any prelate he likes.”

“The only remedy lies in the hands of the Archbishop of Goa ; and
therefore I had recourse to him three times, If he were less attached to
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bis legitimate rights which he possesses as diocesan bishop, all would
soon be in order.  Or better, if the Archbishop, instead of disturbing
consciences by declaring that the administration of the sacraments by
the Missionaries Apostolic is invalid, would accommodate himself to
the times (which are surely very critical for him, as nearly all the
Christians of Bombuy are against his re-admission, and would allow
the Vicar-Apostolic to govern il his name all the churches) the said
state of division would cease at once.” The Vicar-Apostolic assures the
S. Congregation of his obedience to whatever they may decree. 1le
excuses himself for not having sooner informed the S. Congregation of
the division of the churches—which was executed on March 16th, 1791
because of the great fickleness of the Christians, which he feared would
soon bring about new changes—such as happened in case of the
Christians of Mazagon.

FRE PEDRO BECOMES VICAR-APOSTOLIC.

29 June, 1795, Fre Pedro the Vicar General acknowledges w letter
of Propaganda dated July 5, 1791 announcing his appointment as Vicar-
Apostolie, with pontifical briefs and direction for his conduct. 'The
people seem to be more quiet, expecting the arrival of the Company’s
ships with new orders of the Directors in favour of the Archbishop.
The restoration of the Vicar-Apostolic was a blow too hard for the
Archbishop, who will not leave things alone till he gets the entire
possession of the churches.

In the autumn of the same year Fre Pedro took a voyage down
to Malabar in order to be conscerated bishop by the Vicar-Apostolic
of Verapoli. The function took place on November 29th, 1795. At the
beginning of the following year he returned to Bombay to take official
pussession of his Vieariate ; and one of his first acts (Jan. 22. 1796)
was to write an account of the state of affairs to Rome. His report to
Propaganda shows that things have more or less settled down. The
Vicar-Apostolic has three parochial churches with their filial chapels
and about 7,000 Christians, who although divided into two parties,
are now quiet. He expects some changes. however, as he knows by
experience the instability of the people of Bombay. Rev. Antonio
Pinto [da Gloria] and Rev. Matthias arc at the head of the Goa
party. The Vicar-Apostolic is deeply displeased to see that those who
ought to help him at a time when he is so short of priests, are the
authors of a movement to go over to the jurisdiction of the Archbishop,
who is in no want of priests. *Tcould easily put pressure on those
priests to submit to me, but believe it better to overlook their strange
conduct in order to prevent greater evils, which would arisc from their
disobedience and their stirring up of greater dissensions.”

CAVEL CHAPEL QUESTION,

On Oct. 28, 1796, the Archbishop of Goa wrote to the Vicar-Apostolic
requesting him to proclaim Cavel chapel a separate parish church. It
seems that down to this the four parishes were strictly territorial. so that
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there was no over-lapping of the two jurisdictions ; and N. 8. de Saude,
Cavel, was only a private (or semi-public) chapel within the parish of
Esperanga. To elevate this chapel into a distinct parish church under
Padroado would mean either a division of the parish of Esperanga, or
worse still, would introduce two jurisdictions within one parish. The
Vicar-Apostolic therefore on Dec. 23, 1796 replied to the Archbishop in
the following terms :- - .

Since Cavel chapel (N. 8. da Saude) is within the parish limits of
Esperanga he cannot proclaim it a parish church, as it seems inconvenient
and unnecessary to divide the parish of Esperanga. The Archbishop
ought to approach the Governor and claim from him his right over all
the churches ; if the Governor grants it, the Vicar-Apostolic will willingly
withdraw not only from Esperanca, but from all else that is under his
power. The state of the chapel at Cavel causes the Vicar-Apostolic great
distress. The people of the parish are doubtful which of the two churches
they belong to ; and disputes and dissensions grow more and more amongst
the families. A priest required for that chapel would have to be taken
from Esperanga church, so that the greater number of the Catholics would
be almost deprived of ministers (?). How then can the Ordinary prelate
(the Archbishop )with a safe conscience introduce himself into a parish
which is actually governed by the Vicar-Apostolic according to the orders
of Government, and appropriate to himself chapels and parochial oratories
aggregated to the same parish—thus dividing the people which belong
to it, and thereby fostering disorder and schism—-when in a more gentle
and rational way he could get possession of the whole parish withoutdivi-
sion and tumult [v1z., by asking the Government to allow him to take all
the churches]. The Vicar-Apostolic believes that the orders of Propa-
ganda which refer to the entry of the Ordinary into Bombay are to be
interpreted in this sense : “*So far asthe Archbishop of Goa has the permis-
sion of the Lord of the land to provide for the churches in the island of
Bombay, the Vicar-Apostolic ceases from all acts of jurisdiction, and
withdraws with his missionaries to the house of the Carmelites in the
same island of Bombay.” The Congregation understands a complete in-
troduction of the Ordinary, and not a partial one, as was recently granted
to the Archbishop by the Directors. However in this delicate question
the Vicar-Apostolic has asked advice from the Pope, and will blindly
submit to his orders.

The Vicar-Apostolic complains that Rev. Pinto da Gloria, [properly]
a subject of the Vicar-Apostolic, who has of his own will and without
the Vicar-Apostolic’s permission seceded from his jurisdiction, is causing
priests of his obedience to go over to the Archbishop, so that there is
great want of priests ; therefore he asks leave of the Archbishop to ordain
one Ignacio, who is in minor orders, of whom he wrote a few days ago.
[This permission was refused].

REPORT TO PROPAGANDA,

April 29, 1800.—A Report sent to Propaganda summarises the si-
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tuation thus : The Vicar-Apostolic bas two churches under his jurisdiction
by order of the Court of Directors (Esperanga and St. Michael’s) ; another
also by order of the Bombay Government and at the request of nearly the
whole parish of Da Gloria, namely N. S. do Rosario. The Catholics of
his jurisdiction are about 7,000. The other two parish churches belong
to the Archbishop. The three (Psopaganda) churches are parish churches
administered by eleven secular priests; some passible and sufficient in edu-
cation, others half ignorant and barely fit to celebrate Mass and administer
the sacraments. ‘It would not be prudent to make one of my Carmelites
parish priest, because (1) the seculars ave much attached to the churches,
and (2) The English Government is quite indifferent as to who governs
the Christians, whether the Archbishop or the Vicar-Apostolic. If the
Government wishes that the Vicar-Apostolic should continue in charge
of the three churches, it is (solely) on account of the solicitations of the
people, who however are very fickle and inconstant in their resolutions.
Hence I think that one should not make too much of the jurisdiction
of Bombay, which sooner or later must fall into the hands of the Arch-
bishop of Goa, who uses all imaginable means to obtain it. The Chris-
, tians are quiet, though divided, but are not easy to govern. Tf I punish
or reprehend somebody, he goes at once over to the Archbishop, out
of sheer spite ; and is free to do so, to the detriment of good discipline.
Tence it would be desirable for the Archbishop to receive them all, as
this would at least put an end to such abuses. Three times since I am
Bishop I broached the proposal that all the churches should be given to me
on the condition that I submit to the Archbishop—-which I wished to do in
order to preventdissension. But the Christians who were under my juris-
diction opposed this my wish.” He asks what he should do if the ques-
tion were raised a fourth time.

CAVEL CHAPEL AGAIN.

The Vicar-Apostolic then proceeds to discuss the question of Cavel
chapel :—

“The Archbishop has established a parish church within the district
of the parish of Esperanca, which was given to me by order of the
Directors—a strange arrangement, to introduce into the same parish a
double jurisdiction, which T declared could not be recognised by me with-
out having asked my superiors ; and T suggested that, rather than this,
he should try to obtain [for himself]the Church of Esperanga also.” The
Vicar-Apostolic then repeats his own proposal, viz., that the Archbishop
alone should be at the head of all the churches, and that Government
should allow the Vicar-Apostolic to go to the other parts of his Vicariate
where there is greater need ; and he asks the Congregation of Propa-
ganda to permit him to do so.

ROME’S DECISION.

In a separate letter dated April 13th, 1800, the Vicar-Apostolic wrote
putting the Cavel question before Propaganda, and his interpretation of
the principles of the congregation, »iz., the distinction between a total
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and a partial restoration of jurisdiction to the Archbishop. (See previous
letter). Propaganda, in reply to this, addressed to the Vicar-Apostolic
on August 29, 1801, three documents : (1) A set of answers to the ques-
tions asked ; (2) A partlcula.r instruction on the first point, viz., how to
deal with the Archbishop of Goa on the question of jurisdiction ; and (3)
A covering letter enclosing Nos. 1 and 2.

The particular instruction corrected the Vicar-Apostolic’s interpre-
tation, and gave the true one instead. The Vicar-Apostolic is to exercise
jurisdiction only precisely so far as the Archbishop was prevented from
using it, whether as regards places or persons.  Hence if the Archbishop
is able to establish a parish within the parochial limits of Ksperance, the
Viear-Apostolic must not oppose his jurisdiction. He must also exercise
self-restraint as regards both ecclesiastics and lay people whom the
Archbishop or his priests receive under their jurisdiction. Moreover,
except after informing and seeuring the sanction of Propaganda he must
not undertake any discussions or negotiations with the Archbishop.

From this we see that Fre Pedro d’Alcantam’s principle “all or noth-
ing” was wrong ; the true principle is “wholly or in part.” Just so far as
the '\l('hlushop an advance, just so far must the Vicar-Apostolic recede.
The covering letter expresses it thus:— When the Archbishop can
exercise his jurisdietion in Bombay, which beyond dispute belongs to
his diocese, the Vicar-Apostolic must abstain from any use of jurisdie-
tion, and leave to the Archbishop the full exercise of his rights. But
when the Archbishop is impeded, in the whole or in a part of the island,
the Viear-Apostolic steps in to supply, only for those places where the
Archbishop or the persons authorised by him cannot act. ¢ Therefore
conduct voursell on these lines according to the instruction attached.”

At the same time Propaganda sent to the Archbishop of Goa and to
the Portuguese Secretary of State, a fresh copy of the brief Jam Dudum
in which the principles of the foregoing letters were clearly expressed.

Sept. 18, 1802.—Writing to the Collector of Bombay regarding a
dispute over a burial at Cavel, the Vicar-Apostolic observes that the
only means to avoid these quarrels is his total withdrawal from the two
churches given to him by order of the Government; t.e., to renounce
entirely the spiritual jurisdiction of Bombay, which belongs to the
Archbishop of Goa, in order to have one pastor and one flock. He asks
Government to aceept his resignation, “so that I may remain in future
as an individual in my house, applying myself solely to the direction of
the missions which belong to me by right.”

Dec. 3, 1803. ~Propaganda, replying to a letter of the Vicar-
Apostolic writes: ~“We Jearn that the division among clergy and laity
continues on account of the double jurisdiction, As the Government
has no difficulty in recognising the Archbishop of Gou, to whom they
have granted the free exercise of jurisdiction in half the churches,
rescrving the other half to you, we feel safe in inferring that the
Archbishop would find no opposition from Government to his exercising
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jurisdiction over the whole island, if obstacles were not put in his way
from other sources. Hence while the Sacred Congregation has been
ever careful to uphold your authority so long as the Archbishop was
prevented, we impress on you to keep well within the limits flixed by the
Holy See; never trying cither directly or indirectly to impede the free
exercise of his jurisdiction, but merely entering into places where he is
directly prevented by Government from exercising his ordinary authority,
wholly or in part. Keep also in view that your jurisdiction in the
island is purely subsidiary. These are precisely the terms on which
Bombay was granted to you by Pope Pius VI (as you will notice in
the brief of the said Pontiff: Jam Dudum, Jan. 23, 1793), to the tenor
of which you must scrupulously keep, in order to avoid the bitter
discords which are fostered there, and are the origin and source of serious
evils.”

Sept. 15, 1804.—Propaganda forwards renewed faculties for the
Vicariate in general. The Archbishop of Goa has been exhorted by the
Pope more than once, and again recently, to keep within his limits, and
not to disturb the jurisdiction of the Vicar-Apostolic [the reference here
is apparently to the outlying parts of the Vicariate]. Tt is hoped that
the new Archbishop, when he comes to a knowledge of the matter, will
be more docile to the suggestions of the Holy Father ; and that you on
your side will not disturb in any way the jurisdiction of the same
prelate.  As we have written to you on other occasions, t1y to maintain
with him a good relation ; so that each may exercise his own ministry
in mutual harmony and good order, to the edification and profit and
salvation of souls.”

CHAPTER 11,
A SURVEY AND A JUDGMENT,

Froat the foregoing documents the principles which governed Pro-
paganda and the motives which actuated Dom Pedro 1)’Alcantara, will
have become clear. But before passing on tv a judgment of the case, we
must here find place for three letters of Propaganda to the Vicar-Apostolic
of Malabar written just after the “Reversion” of Bombay to the Arch-
bishop—as they express the principles of Propaganda on the relations
hetween the Vicars-Apostolic and the Portuguese Ordinaries more clearly
than they are found elsewhere :—

Oct. 6, 1790. ““In Bombay, at the solicitation of the Fortuguese
authorities, the Court of the English has forbidden jurisdiction to the
Vicar-Apostolic, and permits the Archbishop of Goa to exercise his
jurisdiction there. Consequently it has been necessary to order Mgr. Fre
Victorino to cease from all jurisdiction in that [part of his] Vicariate, and
to withdraw to the privacy of the Carmelite Hospice in Bombay. This
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is & precedent which you (the V. A. of Malabar) must keep before your
eyes in case the British or Dutch Government should convey to you a
similar prohibition. The 8. Congregation does not wish to contend
cither with the Court of Lisbon or with the Dutch or British Govern-
ment, aud wishes to keep to its constant principle, viz., not to prejudice
the ordinary jurisdiction of the prelates, but only to supply for their
impotence,” “

Oct. 6, 1790. (Same date). In the last instructions of the S.
Congregation there occurs the following point :—*“Our instructions are
uniform, especially those of 1754, 1782 and 1788. From these you will
understand that the principle of the 8. Congregation is never to invade
the rights and jurisdictions of the Ordinary hishops, but only to supply
when the prelates are impeded from exercising them. This impediment,
moreover, must not come from the missionaries, but from princes of
the country; or else from the impotence of the bishops, who have no
means to supply for such a vast population in such vast areas.”

March 2, 1792. Propaganda refers to a letter of the S. Congrega-
tion to the Nuncio of Portugal “which caused you [the V. A. of Malabar]
some bitterness and perplexity owing to the strange interpretation put
upon it by the Bishop of Cochin and the Governor of Cranganore.” The
true meaning of our letter was this :—If missionaries are in countries
where the Portugnese bishops enjoy free jurisdiction and are peacefully
governing their dioceses, (as is the case with all that lic under the
dominion of the Queen of Portugal, or of princes who admit the jurisdic-
tion of the Portuguese bishops) it is clear that they [the missionaries]
have only the powers which the diocesan grants to them—and it is of
these that our letter speaks. But it is quite otherwise in places where,
although there are Portuguese bishops, they are unable to exercise their
jurisdiction because prevented by princes ; for instance in Malabar, where
neither the Dutch nor the Gentiles allow them [to exercise jurisdiction].
In such cases, who should provide for souls if not the Roman Pontiff, the
universal pastor, through the agency of his missionaries ?

“Such is the interpretation of our letter. Many times has the
S. Congregation complained to the Court of Portugal against the
impediments raised by the Tortuguese bishops against the exercise of
jurisdiction by the missionaries—a thing which takes place not only in
Malabar, but in China and Pondicherry, and wherever else there are
Vicars-Apostolic. The Apostolic constitutions issued against Vicars-
Vara who used to be sent into the districts of the Vicariates-Apostolic,
show that the Holy See has always been constant in upholding its own
independent authority. The distinction [made above] agrees well with
thedecrees and instructions of the 8. Congregation to the Vicars-Apostolic
of Malabar and of the Mogul, wherein it is said that the Vicars-Apostolic
should exercise jurisdiction only in those places where the diocesan
bishops cannot exercise it. The distinction also agrees with the facts.
Tor in Bombay, when the English wished to restore the jurisdiction of
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Goa, the S. Congregation was under no misapprehension, but ordered
the Vicar-Apostolic to withdraw and cease from all jurisdiction,

“By means of these principles and maxims you will be able to decide
any controversy that may ever arise—including the present one, wiz.,
the acceptance of Anjenjo. If the Dutch, the King of Travancore and
the other princes of Malabar will not on any account allow the Christians
to depend on the Portuguese bishops, do not be put out by their high
talk [i.c., the denunciations of the Portuguese bishops] but go on
governing the Christians entrusted to you by those who have the
dominion in those parts [4.e.,the princes, etc.] Nay more, try and make
the Bishop of Cochin and the Governor of Cranganore understand how
unjust and scandalous their opposition is, secing it is out of their power
to minister to those Christians. Rather than see them assisted by
missionaries of Propaganda, they will rather let them perish !”

JUDGMENT ON THE CASE.

Having thus completed our list of documents bearing on the
jurisdiction question down to the division of the churches in 1794 with
subsequent adjustments, it scems convenient at this place to pause for
the purpose of a general survey, in order to draw some conclusions as
to the behaviour of the Vicars-Apostolic during the various crises
through which they had to pass. The result will be to dispel many
illusions and misrepresentations which enjoy so wide a currency as to
have become practically “traditional.”

(1) The keynote of the whole history from 1715 $o 1791--the
determining factor, we had better call it—was the policy of the English
Government. )

(2) This policy was not determined by ecclesiastical considerations,
nor yet by ecclesiastical “intrigues” either on the part of the Carmelites
or on the part of the Portuguese. Kven if (or where) attempts were
made to influence Government on cither side, these did not substantiallv
affect the policy of Government. '

(3) The Government policy was dictated solely by civil or practical
considerations under the comprehensive term of “political security” or
“public sentiment” and this in two lines (¢) To safeguard the Com-
monwealth from foreign influences and the disaffection or disloyalty
liakle to arise from such influences. (b) To preserve the tranquillity of
the inhabitants, or resture it when disturbed by ecclesiastical causes,

(4) Beyond mere outward civilities or ‘‘ amenities ”’ there was
never much love lost between the English and the Portuguese. Besides
the mere fact of trade rivalry, frictions were constantly arising from
the very first. Bitter feelings were engendered on both sides durfng the
transfer of the island of Bombay. The Portuguese made the cession
with the greatest reluctance. and tried to reduce to a minimum the
amount of land conceded, while the English tried to raise it to the
maximum. At the actual cession the Viceroy foisted upon the English
an agreement, drafted by himsell at Goa. which was never submitted
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to the English Court, and when known afterwards was repudiated by
the English king as unjust. After the cession there was a regular
series of disagreements about land, customs, imports and exports, control
of the crecks, and over befriending each the other’s enemies. Each side
felt justified from its own stand-point in opposing the other, and it was
only considerations of expediency that prevented the two from coming
to blows. Under the circumstances. nothing was more natural than that
the English should come to regard the Portuguese clergy as a nuisance
in the island, a source of disaffection and distrust; or that the Govern-
ment should be ready to seize on anv suitable occasion for expelling
them from the island.

() There is no discoverable evidence that the Carmelite Vicar-
Apostolic, Fre Maurice of S. Theresa, either suggested or encouraged this
expulsion by the Government. The matter was under discussion between
Bombay and London as early as 1714, and only took shape in 1717,
Fre Maurice, who had never had anything to do with Bombay, was in
Karwar and Verapoly ail the time from 1712 to 1717. 1t was only on
his coming to Bombay towards the end of 1717 that the designs of
Government were privately put before him. when the plan (based on a
policy already pursued at Madras much earlier) wasalready fully matured
under instructions from the Court. The Government delayed execution
solely becanse they did not wish suddenly to deprive